

## BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW JUNE 10, 2022

### **AGENDA TABLE OF CONTENTS**

### **AGENDA**

### **ADMINISTRATIVE ITEMS**

 I.A.1. APRIL 10, 2022, MEETING MINUTES
 pg 0001

 I.A.2. MAY 23, 2022, SPECIAL MEETING MINUTES
 pg 0010

### **BRIEFING ITEMS**

- II.A.1. CONTESTED CASE UPDATES
- II.A.2. NON-ENFORCEMENT CASE UPDATES
- II.A.3. CONTESTED CASES NOT ASSIGNED TO A HEARING EXAMINER

#### **ACTION ITEMS**

III.a. BER 2016-07 SM pg 0017
An appeal in the matter of amendment application AM3, Signal Peak Energy LLC's
Bull Mountain Coal Mine #1 Permit No. C1993017, BER 2016-07 SM

### **NEW CONTESTED CASE**

IV. a. BER 2022-03 HR pg 0157
In the Matter of Luke Ployhar, for Review of Determination made by the Department of Environmental Quality on the Application for Exploration License #00860, BER 2022-03 HR.



## BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW MEETING MINUTES

**APRIL 8, 2022** 

#### **Call to Order**

Chairperson Ruffatto called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

#### **Attendance**

#### **Board Members Present**

By Zoom: Chairman Steven Ruffatto; Board Members Joseph Smith, David Lehnherr, Jon Reiten, David Simpson, and Julia Altemus

Roll was called and a quorum was present.

#### **Board Attorney Present**

Katherine Orr

### **DEQ Personnel Present**

Board Liaison: James Fehr

Board Secretary: Sandy Moisey Scherer

DEQ Legal: Kirsten Bowers, Nicholas Whitaker, Catherine Armstrong, Aaron Pettis, Sarah Christopherson, Angela

Colamaria, Kurt Moser, Loryn Johnson, Ed Hayes, Lee McKenna, Jeremiah Langston, Sarah Clerget

Public Policy: Rebecca Harbage, Moira Davin

Water Quality: Amy Steinmetz, Myla Kelly, Margarite Juarez Thomas

Enforcement: Chad Anderson, Susan Bawden Air, Energy & Mining: Bob Smith, Emily Lodman

#### **Other Parties Present**

Laurie Crutcher, Crutcher Court Reporting

Aislinn Brown, Caitlin Buzzas, Patrick Risken, Jeffrey Doud, Elena Hagen - Montana DOJ Agency Legal Services Bureau

Vicki Marquis (Holland and Hart) – Teck Coal

Sarah Bordelon (Holland and Hart) - Western Energy Company and Signal Peak Energy

Sam Yemington (Holland and Hart)

Robert Cameron (Jackson Murdo and Grant)

Derf Johnson, MEIC

Shiloh Hernandez (Earth Justice) – MEIC

Anne Hedges, MEIC

Tonya Fish, EPA

Aaron Bolton, Montana Public Radio

**Andy James** 

Donna Martin

Jason Gildea

Ray Stout

Stephen Pfeffer

**Duane Murray** 

#### I. ADMINISTRATIVE MATERIALS

### A. Review and Approve Minutes

### A.1. The Board will vote on adopting the February 25, 2022, Meeting Minutes

Board member Smith MOVED to approve the February 25, 2022, meeting minutes. Board member Alternus SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

There was no board discussion or public comment.

### II. BRIEFING ITEMS

### A. CONTESTED CASE UPDATES

Chairman Ruffatto noted that there was one change on the agenda regarding a District Court case (DV 2019-34 Rosebud Mine). The Montana Supreme Court said that the appeals are not timely. The Board will be filing an appeal when appropriate.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED that Hearing Examiner appointments be made and confirmed for the following cases:

BER 2019-05 OC - Patrick Riskin
BER 2019-06 WQ - Madison Mattioli
BER 2019-08 through 21 OC - Caitlin Buzzas
BER 2019-05 OC - Patrick Riskin
BER 2020-01 SUB - Aislinn Brown
BER 2021-06 WQ - Caitlin Buzzas
BER 2021-07 WQ - Aislinn Brown

Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously

### **ACTION ITEMS**

### III.

III.a. In the Matter of: Petitions of Teck Coal Limited and the Board of County Commissioners of Lincoln County, Montana, for Review of ARM 17.30.632(7)(A) Pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. Section 75-5-203 – Stringency Review of Rule Pertaining to Selenium Standard for Lake Koocanusa, BER 2021-04 and 08 WQ.

Chairman Ruffatto commented that this proposed FOFCOL was to implement decisions that made at the Board meeting on February 25th. Two issues were less definitive at the last meeting – one, whether the board was to conclude that new rulemaking is required; and two, whether the record contains sufficient evidence. There was a motion made at the last meeting, but it was not specific. DEQ issued a notice that answered one of the outstanding questions, which was whether DEQ was going to proceed with new rulemaking. DEQ has not initiated new rulemaking but another process.

The Board engaged in discussion regarding the proposed FOFCOL, with Board member Lehnherr stating that he felt that a FOFCOL is unnecessary and asked why the Chairman wrote the FOFCOL instead of ALS. Chairman Ruffatto explained why he felt that the FOFCOL was necessary and why he wrote it. The Board engaged in additional discussion.

The Board engaged in further discussion. Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to add language that "Teck and Lincoln County each have standing to bring the petitions." Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 4-2, with Board members Lehnherr and Reiten dissenting.

The Board engaged in discussion regarding a request to ask DEQ to begin the rulemaking process, for the record. Board member Altemus MOVED to add language "Because the Board's rulemaking failed to comply with Section 75-5-203, MCA, in order to have a valid and enforceable lake water column standard, new rulemaking must be initiated." Board member Simpson SECONDED.

Chairman Ruffatto asked legal counsel for the parties for comment, and the Board engaged in further discussion. Ms. Bowers stated that in the initial publication of the rule, the public did have opportunity to comment and that the rule did contain a statement that the rule was not more stringent than Federal regulations. This is the reason the Board did not make the findings. Basing a determination that the rulemaking is defective on the fact that the public was not given notice of the Board's stringency determination is not factually correct as DEQ received comments from the public regarding stringency. Ms. Marquis stated that she agreed with Chairman Ruffatto's statement that the initiation of rulemaking needed to comply with the stringency statute, and it did not.

The motion PASSED 4-2, with Board members Lehnherr and Reiten dissenting.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to adopt the proposed decision document as amended as the final decision document of the Board. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 4-2, with Board members Lehnherr and Reiten dissenting.

III.b. In the matter of the notice of appeal by Duane Murray regarding the notice of violations and administrative compliance and penalty order (Docket No. SUB-18-01; ES#36-93-L1-78; FID 2568), BER 2020-01 OC.

The Board heard arguments from Mr. Murray and Mr. Pettis. The Board discussed the proposed FOFCOL and noted that in Paragraph 5, the case cited does not stand for the proposition stated .

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to strike Paragraph 5. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to strike the last sentence and "DEQ determined that" from Paragraphs 22 and 29. Board member Lehnherr SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-0.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to rewrite the penalty provision to provide that if it is confirmed that the disconnect as required by DEQ has occurred, the penalty assessed to Mr. Murray will be waived. Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to adopt the full FOFCOL as the Board amended be the decision of the Board. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

III.c. An appeal in the matter of amendment application AM3, Signal Peak Energy LLC's Bull Mountain Coal Mine #1 Permit No. C1993017, BER 2016-07 SM.

The Board heard oral argument from the parties on the exceptions to the proposed FOFCOL (including the binding effect of the AM4 decision).

The Board engaged in discussion. Board member Simpson asked Mr. Hernandez about the one hundred gallon/minute calculation used by MEIC and how many acres the mine comprised. Mr. Hernandez addressed the question regarding acreage and stated that the AM3 mine expansion added over 7,000 acres. The Board discussed exceptions to the proposed FOFCOL.

The Board utilized the outline for its deliberations, attached to these minutes. References in these minutes to various exceptions refer to the attached outline.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED that the Board accept MEIC Exception a., that the judicial deference afforded agencies is not applicable to Board review of DEQ decisions (see MEIC v. DEQ 2005 MT 96), but the Board "may utilize" DEQ's "experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge. . . in the evaluation of evidence" 2-4-612(7), MCA; that the proposed FOFCOL language on pages 38-39 referring to judicial deference be deleted; and that the proposed FOFCOL appropriately utilizes DEQ's "experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge... in the evaluation of evidence" but does not afford judicial type deference to DEQ. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED that the Board reject MEIC Exception b.; that ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) is the controlling regulation with respect to alternative water supplies for mitigation of water supplies adversely impacted by mining; and that even if ARM 17.24.405(6) was applicable the result would not be different. Board member Smith SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

Chairman Ruffatto allowed oral argument regarding MEIC's Exception c. Board members asked questions of legal counsel representing the three parties.

Board member Simpson MOVED to reject MEIC's Exception c.; that ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) requires the mine permit application include a description of alternative water supplies that [more likely than not] could be developed as a water replacement source not that the application include a description of alternative water supplies that could have [a mere possibility] of being developed as a replacement source; and that the proposed FOFCOL clearly applies a "preponderance of the evidence" [more likely than not] standard of proof, the appropriate standard, not an "impossible" standard. Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

Chairman Ruffatto allowed oral argument regarding MEIC's Exception d.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED that the Board is not bound by the District Court decision in MEIC v. MDEQ (DV 19-34/Rosebud Mine AM4); and that the Board is bound by the Montana Supreme Court decision in MEIC v. DEQ 2005 MT 96 and that the controlling regulation ARM 17.24.425(7) which establishes that the burden of proof is on the party seeking to reverse the DEQ decision appealed from. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

Board member Simpson MOVED that even if the burden of proof is placed on DEQ and Signal Peak the Findings of Fact demonstrate that they carried the burden of proof. Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED 5-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

The Board members discussed MEIC's Exception e, that the water quantity analysis is unsupported. Board member Simpson MOVED to reject MEIC Exception e. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

Board member Simpson MOVED to reject MEIC Exceptions f and g. Board member Smith SECONDED. The motion PASSED 5-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

Board member Reiten MOVED to reject MEIC's Exception h. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 5-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED that a proposed final FOFCOL be prepared by ALS working with the Board Chair for submission to the Board for its review and approval; that the proposed final FOFCOL reflect that the Board has considered all of the exceptions filed by the parties; that the proposed final FOFCOL reflect the motions passed by the Board in this meeting; and to the extent appropriate the Board deliberations in this meeting; that the proposed final FOFCOL may include points in the parties' briefs even though not specifically addressed in the deliberations; and that the proposed final FOFCOL correct obvious inadvertent errors and typos contained in the proposed FOFCOL prepared by the Hearing Examiner. Board member Simpson SECONDED.

Board member Simpson asked that the Board provide a redline draft of the FOFCOL, showing all changes and deletions.

Chairman Ruffatto ACCEPTED the amended request.

Board member Lehnherr asked if the revised proposed FOFCOL could be presented to the attorneys of the three parties involved in case there are language issues or other problems that may need to be addressed. Chairman Ruffatto said he was open to the three attorneys offering comment on the revised FOFCOL, but the document would not be open to briefing and formal arguments.

The motion PASSED unanimously.

Board member Simpson asked for a special board meeting to finish this matter instead of waiting until the next meeting in June. Board members Altemus and Lehnherr concurred.

Chairman Ruffatto agreed and said that a special meeting will be scheduled soon.

### IV. NEW CONTESTED CASE

IV.a. In the Matter of: Request for Hearing by Harry Richards, Lincoln County, MT, Case No. BER 2022-02 HW.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to assign the case in entirety to Rob Cameron as the Hearing Examiner. Board member Lehnherr SECONDED the motion. The motion PASSED unanimously.

### V. BOARD COUNSEL UPDATE

No Board Counsel update was provided.

### VI. GENERAL PUBLIC COMMENT

Angie Colamaria inquired regarding the status of the informal process document and when a timeline for that comment period or opportunity will begin. Chairman Ruffatto stated that Board Attorney Orr sent him a draft of the document, but he has not completed his review. He said he hoped to have this document available for the next Board meeting.

No public comment was given.

### VII. ADJOURNMENT

Board member Simpson MOVED to adjourn the meeting; Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously. The meeting adjourned at 4:43 PM.

Board of Environmental Review April 8, 2022, minutes approved:

<u>/s/</u>
STEVEN RUFFATTO
CHAIRMAN
BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW
DATE

### Signal Peak Energy – BER 2016-07 – Deliberation Outline

### 1. MEIC Exceptions

- a. Deference to DEQ: MEIC Exc. p. 2; DEQ Resp. pp. 2-3; SPE Resp. pp. none
- b. Failure to address "reclamation" claim: MEIC Exc. pp. 4-15 et seq.; DEQ Resp. pp. 14-16; SPE Resp. pp. 11-12, 19-24
- c. "Impossible" standard of proof: MEIC Exc. pp. 5-15 et seq.; DEQ Resp. p. 4; SPE Resp. pp. 11,17-18
- d. Burden of Proof: MEIC Exc. pp. 6-14; DEQ Resp. pp. 3-5; SPE Resp. pp. 1-5, 11-19; MEIC Supp. pp. 2-4; DEQ Supp. pp. 1-5; SPE Supp. pp. 1-5
- e. Water quantity analysis unsupported: MEIC Exc. pp. 14-17; DEQ Resp. pp. 23-35; SPE Resp. pp. 29-32,44-48
- f. Water quality analysis unsupported: MEIC Exc. pp. 17-20; DEQ Resp. pp. 5-8, 35-36; SPE Resp. pp. 49-51
- g. Lack of bonding for water treatment: MEIC Exc. pp. 19-20; DEQ Resp. pp. 7-8; SPE Resp. p. 23
- h. Legal availability analysis unsupported: MEIC Exc. pp. 20-23; DEQ Resp. pp. 8-13; SPE Resp. p. 52
- Failure to address proposed findings generally: MEIC Exc. pp. 23-25;
   DEQ Resp. pp. 16-19; SPE Resp. pp. 25-27
- j. Failure to address SPE's design standards violations: MEIC Exc. pp. 25-26; DEQ Resp. pp. 19-23; SPE Resp. pp. 27-29

- k. Failure to address 2013 100gpm replacement water needs estimate: MEIC Exc. pp. 26-28; DEQ Resp. pp. 23-26; SPE Resp. pp. 29-33, 44-46
- I. Failure to address DEQ's admission that CHIA water assessment mistaken: MEIC Exc. pp. 16-17, 28-29; DEQ Resp. pp. 26-30; SPE Resp. pp. 29-33
- m. Finding 54 unsupported Rosebud v. Bull Mountain Mine: MEIC Exc. p. 29; DEQ Resp. none; SPE Resp. p. 34
- n. Findings 77-82, 92 and 95 unsupported see i, j, k, and I above: MEIC Exc. pp. 29-30; DEQ Resp. pp. 16-30; SPE Resp. pp. 34-42
- o. Finding 97 unsupported "likely many miles" v. "may be several miles": MEIC Exc. pp. 30-31; DEQ Resp. pp. 36-37; SPE Resp. pp. 42-43
- p. Finding 97 unsupported continuity of formation: MEIC Exc. pp. 31-32; DEQ Resp. pp. 36-37; SPE Resp. pp. 42-43
- q. Finding 99 unsupported the extent of DUA: MEIC Exc. p. 32; DEQ Resp. pp. 24-32; SPE Resp. p. 43
- r. Finding 114 unsupported evidence of water quality impacts: MEIC Exc. pp. 32-33; DEQ Resp. pp. 5-7, 19-23, 35-36; SPE Resp. pp. 43-44
- s. Finding 123 unsupported water quantity needs: MEIC Exc. pp. 33-34; DEQ Resp. pp. 23-35; SPE Resp. pp. 44-48
- t. Finding 130 unsupported water rights evaluation: MEIC Exc. p. 34; DEQ Resp. pp. 8-13; SPE Resp. pp. 48-49
- u. Finding 143 unsupported water treatment: MEIC Exc. p. 34-35; DEQ Resp. pp. 5-7; SPE Resp. pp. 49-51

v. Finding 145 unsupported – legal barriers: MEIC Exc. p. 35; DEQ Resp. pp. 8-13; SPE Resp. p. 52

### 2. <u>DEQ Exceptions</u>

- a. MEIC's exempt well permits argument: DEQ Exc. pp. 2-4, 6-9; MEIC Resp. pp. 2-5
- b. DEQ's response to MEIC's exempt well argument: DEQ Exc. pp. 4, 9-14; MEIC Resp. pp. 5-6
- c. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22 burden of proof: DEQ Exc. pp. 4-6, 14-16; MEIC Resp. pp. 2, 7-8; SPE Exc. pp. 3-4
- d. Opposition to MEIC standing: DEQ Exc. pp.6, 16-17; MEIC Resp. pp. 8 fn. 3

### 3. SPE's Exceptions

- a. Hearing Examiner appointment: SPE Exc. pp. 4, 5-8; MEIC Resp. pp. 8-10
- b. Uncertainty regarding volume of replacement water: SPE Exc. pp. 8-9; MEIC Resp. pp. 11-13
- c. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22 burden of proof: SPE Exc. pp. 10-11; MEIC Resp. pp. 2, 7-8, 13-14
- d. Conclusion of Law 23 clarification of claims addressed: SPE Exc. pp. 11-14; MEIC Resp. pp.2, 13

## BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW MEETING MINUTES

### MAY 23, 2022

### Call to Order

Chairman Ruffatto called the meeting to order at 9:00 a.m.

#### **Attendance**

### **Board Members Present**

By ZOOM: Chairman Steven Ruffatto; Vice Chair Stacy Aguirre; Board Members Joseph Smith, David Lehnherr, Jon Reiten, David Simpson, and Julia Altemus

A quorum of the Board was present

### **Board Attorney(s) Present**

Michael Russell, Attorney General's Office, Department of Justice

Board Secretary: Sandy Moisey Scherer

Court Reporter: Laurie Crutcher, Crutcher Court Reporting

#### **DEQ Personnel Present**

Board Liaison: James Fehr, Deputy Director Board Secretary: Sandy Moisey Scherer

DEQ Legal: Jeremiah Langston, Sarah Christopherson, Loryn Johnson

Air, Energy & Mining: Martin VanOort

Public Policy: Moira Davin

### **Other Parties Present**

Laurie Crutcher, Laurie Crutcher Court Reporting
Sarah Bordelon, Sam Yemington, Vicki Marquis – Holland and Hart/Westmoreland Resources
Shiloh Hernandez – Earthjustice/MEIC
Derf Johnson - MEIC

Chairman Ruffatto introduced Michael Russell, the new attorney for the Board of Environmental Review. Mr. Russell gave a brief description of his qualifications and background. Chairman Ruffatto thanked Katherine Orr of ALS for her service to the Board over the last year and a half.

### I. ACTION ITEM

1. An appeal in the matter of amendment application AM3, Signal Peak Energy LLC's Bull Mountain Coal Mine #1 Permit No. C1993017, BER 2016-07 SM.

Board member Lehnherr prefaced his involvement in the meeting by stating that he would be dissenting with many motions being voted on but wanted to advise the Board, to be sensitive to everyone's time. Chairman Ruffatto thanked Board member Lehnherr for this information.

Mr. Hernandez commented about Board member Reiten's statement regarding knowledge of replacement water in the Bull Mountains. Mr. Hernandez stated that Board member Reiten's comment regarding familiarity with the Bull Mountains and water in this area was outside of the record, and that he wished to place an objection. MEIC desires to preserve any objection it may have.

Chairman Ruffatto thanked Mr. Hernandez for his comment.

The Board resumed their deliberations of the proposed FOFCOL, beginning with MEIC Exception i. See deliberation outline attached hereto. Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception j, Board member Simpson MOVED to reject this exception. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception k, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception as the FOFCOL addresses the amount of water in the aquifer and the 100 gallon/minute discussion numerous times. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception I, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception as the CHIA was not in error when read in its totality. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception m, Chairman Ruffatto asked if the three parties would stipulate to change that the finding of fact was for the Rosebud Mine and not for the Bull Mountain Mine. All parties agreed to accept the change in wording from Rosebud Mine to Bull Mountain Mine.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept the exception upon the stipulation of all parties to this change in wording from the Rosebud Mine to Bull Mountain Mine without reviewing the entire record. Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

For MEIC Exception n, Board member Simpson MOVED to reject this exception. Chairman Ruffatto SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception o, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception p, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception q, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception r, Board member Reiten MOVED to reject this exception. Chairman Ruffatto SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception s, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception t, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception u, Vice Chair Aguirre MOVED to reject this exception. Chairman Ruffatto SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For MEIC Exception v, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

Board member Simpson commented that the Board should discuss whether it would be appropriate for the Board to establish that for exceptions to FOFCOL to be considered by the Board, that specific relief be requested. Chairman Ruffatto said that this was something the Board should discuss in a subsequent meeting, to see if this is legally supportable. Chairman Ruffatto asked the Board Attorney to put this item on an agenda.

The Board then discussed DEQ's Exceptions.

For DEQ's Exception a, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception as it does not need to be addressed. Board member Lehnherr SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

For DEQ's Exception b, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept conceptually this Exception, but use language put together by the Board Attorney. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For DEQ's Exception c, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception as it relates to COL paragraphs 21 and 22. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

For DEQ's Exception d, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept this exception. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

The Board then discussed SPE's Exceptions.

For SPE's Exception a, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept this exception. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For SPE's Exception b, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception. Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

For SPE's Exception c, Chairman Ruffatto split this in two: one, to reject SPE's exception and two, the addition of a sentence.

For the first piece of SPE's Exception c, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to reject this exception to the extent it relates to the burden of proof. Board member Reiten SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously.

For the second piece of SPE's Exception c, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept SPE's additional sentence. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For SPE's Exception d, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept this exception. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

The Board then began discussion of the FOFCOL mark-up. Chairman Ruffatto stated, in reflecting on Mr. Hernandez's earlier objection regarding information outside the record, Mr. Hernandez's objection is well taken. Chairman Ruffatto MOVED that the objection Mr. Hernandez raised be upheld, and that

any evidence that is not included in the FOF be excluded from consideration. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Simpson dissenting.

The Board began discussion of the FOFCOL mark-up and Chairman Ruffatto gave counsel for the three parties opportunity to address any language that misstated what the Board has determined or if there would be better language. Mr. Langston noted that on page 434, the citation was incorrect. The correct citation should be Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-253(3)(d), not 82-4-227(3)(a). Chairman Ruffatto asked the Board Attorney to make a record of this suggested correction for the next version of the FOFCOL.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept the first two sections, Introduction and Procedural History, subject to additional changes based on this meeting and the next meeting. Board member Lehnherr SECONDED, and the motion passed unanimously.

For the Legal Standard section (pages 432 through 434), it was noted on page 434 that there was an error in that the word "quality" was used instead of "quantity". Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept the Legal Standard portion, subject to the citation correction. Board member Reiten SECONDED, and the motion passed unanimously.

Mr. Yemington commented that there were two primary acronyms, one being DUB or DUA. SPE would support a consolidation or consistency between DUB or DUA for the same geologic resource. Mr. Hernandez said that MEIC had no objection to the clarification of the acronym. Chairman Ruffatto asked the Board Attorney to review this proposed change and report at the next board meeting. The Board will decide at the meeting whether to make the proposed change.

Mr. Langston offered a clarification that in the CHIA, the reference is to DUB. SPE used DUA and that is where the divergent usage comes from. Chairman Ruffatto appreciated the clarification. Board member Simpson said that there may be a rationale for keeping the language as is and changes may not be necessary. Mr. Hernandez said that much of this is a matter of semantics, but MEIC is not waiving their argument that the FOFCOL confuses the scope of the geologic unit with the extent of the aquifer. Chairman Ruffatto said that any changes should be only correction of mistakes, rather than changes to the FOFCOL. He asked the Board Attorney to review and report his recommendation at the next meeting.

For the FOFCOL, paragraphs 1-14, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept these paragraphs subject to minor errors that have been corrected. Board member Lehnherr SECONDED. Upon further discussion by the Board, Chairman Ruffatto WITHDREW his motion, and Board member Lehnherr WITHDREW his second.

Vice Chair Aguirre MOVED to approve the findings of fact section with note to the change in No. 54, which changes the reference from Rosebud Mine to Bull Mountain, and making a note that any other changes are obvious typographical errors. Board member Simpson SECONDED.

Mr. Hernandez noted that the name of the mine should be Bull Mountains, plural. Chairman Ruffatto asked DEQ and SPE if they opposed this change. Mr. Langston said that DEQ did not oppose the change, and Mr. Yemington said that SPE did not oppose the change.

Vice Chair Aguirre AMENDED her motion to include the correction to Bull Mountains. Board member Simpson SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For the Discussion section pages 463 – 466, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept these pages. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED, and the motion PASSED unanimously.

For pages 466 – 475, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept that portion of the discussion. Board member Altemus SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For pages 476 – 481, Vice Chair Aguirre MOVED to approve the exception discussion section in the mark-up version that the Board is looking at in its entirety. Chairman Ruffatto SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

For the COL section, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept COL 1 - 20. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED, and the motion PASSED unanimously.

Paragraphs 21, 22 and 23 were skipped as these paragraphs are being revised with information from today's meeting, and the Board will consider these paragraphs at the next Board meeting.

For COL paragraph 24, Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept COL 24, understanding that the number will change due to the split of paragraph 23. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to accept the Order section subject to change to reflect that DEQ did not oppose MEIC's standing. Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED. The motion PASSED 6-1, with Board member Lehnherr dissenting.

### II. ADJOURNMENT

Chairman Ruffatto MOVED to adjourn the meeting; Vice Chair Aguirre SECONDED. The motion PASSED unanimously. The meeting adjourned at 10:58 AM.

Board of Environmental Review May 23, 2022, minutes approved:

STEVEN RUFFATO	
CHAIRMAN	
BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW	
DATE	

### Signal Peak Energy – BER 2016-07 – Deliberation Outline

### 1. MEIC Exceptions

- a. Deference to DEQ: MEIC Exc. p. 2; DEQ Resp. pp. 2-3; SPE Resp. pp. none
- b. Failure to address "reclamation" claim: MEIC Exc. pp. 4-15 et seq.; DEQ Resp. pp. 14-16; SPE Resp. pp. 11-12, 19-24
- c. "Impossible" standard of proof: MEIC Exc. pp. 5-15 et seq.; DEQ Resp. p. 4; SPE Resp. pp. 11,17-18
- d. Burden of Proof: MEIC Exc. pp. 6-14; DEQ Resp. pp. 3-5; SPE Resp. pp. 1-5, 11-19; MEIC Supp. pp. 2-4; DEQ Supp. pp. 1-5; SPE Supp. pp. 1-5
- e. Water quantity analysis unsupported: MEIC Exc. pp. 14-17; DEQ Resp. pp. 23-35; SPE Resp. pp. 29-32,44-48
- f. Water quality analysis unsupported: MEIC Exc. pp. 17-20; DEQ Resp. pp. 5-8, 35-36; SPE Resp. pp. 49-51
- g. Lack of bonding for water treatment: MEIC Exc. pp. 19-20; DEQ Resp. pp. 7-8; SPE Resp. p. 23
- h. Legal availability analysis unsupported: MEIC Exc. pp. 20-23; DEQ Resp. pp. 8-13; SPE Resp. p. 52
- i. Failure to address proposed findings generally: MEIC Exc. pp. 23-25; DEQ Resp. pp. 16-19; SPE Resp. pp. 25-27
- Failure to address SPE's design standards violations: MEIC Exc. pp. 25-26; DEQ Resp. pp. 19-23;
   SPE Resp. pp. 27-29
- k. Failure to address 2013 100gpm replacement water needs estimate: MEIC Exc. pp. 26-28; DEQ Resp. pp. 23-26; SPE Resp. pp. 29-33, 44-46
- I. Failure to address DEQ's admission that CHIA water assessment mistaken: MEIC Exc. pp. 16-17, 28-29; DEQ Resp. pp. 26-30; SPE Resp. pp. 29-33
- m. Finding 54 unsupported Rosebud v. Bull Mountain Mine: MEIC Exc. p. 29; DEQ Resp. none; SPE
   Resp. p. 34
- n. Findings 77-82, 92 and 95 unsupported see i, j, k, and l above: MEIC Exc. pp. 29-30; DEQ Resp. pp. 16-30; SPE Resp. pp. 34-42
- o. Finding 97 unsupported "likely many miles" v. "may be several miles": MEIC Exc. pp. 30-31; DEQ Resp. pp. 36-37; SPE Resp. pp. 42-43
- p. Finding 97 unsupported continuity of formation: MEIC Exc. pp. 31-32; DEQ Resp. pp. 36-37; SPE Resp. pp. 42-43

- q. Finding 99 unsupported the extent of DUA: MEIC Exc. p. 32; DEQ Resp. pp. 24-32; SPE Resp. p. 43
- r. Finding 114 unsupported evidence of water quality impacts: MEIC Exc. pp. 32-33; DEQ Resp. pp. 5-7, 19-23, 35-36; SPE Resp. pp. 43-44
- s. Finding 123 unsupported water quantity needs: MEIC Exc. pp. 33-34; DEQ Resp. pp. 23-35; SPE Resp. pp. 44-48
- t. Finding 130 unsupported water rights evaluation: MEIC Exc. p. 34; DEQ Resp. pp. 8-13; SPE Resp. pp. 48-49
- Finding 143 unsupported water treatment: MEIC Exc. p. 34-35; DEQ Resp. pp. 5-7; SPE Resp. pp. 49-51
- v. Finding 145 unsupported legal barriers: MEIC Exc. p. 35; DEQ Resp. pp. 8-13; SPE Resp. p. 52

#### 2. DEQ Exceptions

- a. MEIC's exempt well permits argument: DEQ Exc. pp. 2-4, 6-9; MEIC Resp. pp. 2-5
- b. DEQ's response to MEIC's exempt well argument: DEQ Exc. pp. 4, 9-14; MEIC Resp. pp. 5-6
- c. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22 burden of proof: DEQ Exc. pp. 4-6, 14-16; MEIC Resp. pp. 2, 7-8; SPE Exc. pp. 3-4
- d. Opposition to MEIC standing: DEQ Exc. pp.6, 16-17; MEIC Resp. pp. 8 fn. 3

### 3. SPE's Exceptions

- a. Hearing Examiner appointment: SPE Exc. pp. 4, 5-8; MEIC Resp. pp. 8-10
- b. Uncertainty regarding volume of replacement water: SPE Exc. pp. 8-9; MEIC Resp. pp. 11-13
- c. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22 burden of proof: SPE Exc. pp. 10-11; MEIC Resp. pp. 2, 7-8, 13-14
- d. Conclusion of Law 23 clarification of claims addressed: SPE Exc. pp. 11-14; MEIC Resp. pp.2, 13

# BEFORE THE BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

IN THE MATTER OF: APPEAL AMENDMENT APPLICATION AM3, SIGNAL PEAK ENERGY LLC'S BULL MOUNTAINS MINE NO. 1, PERMIT NO. C1993017

**CASE NO. BER 2016-07 SM** 

-DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER

## **CONTENTS**

<b>INTR</b>	ODU	JCTION	3
PROC	CEDU	JRAL HISTORY	3
LEGA	AL ST	ΓANDARD	7
		S OF FACT	
I.	BA	CKGROUND AND PROCESS	<del>8</del> 9
	a.	Prior Permitting and Appeal	11
	b.	Current Appeal history	18
II.	CO	NTESTED CASE PROCEEDING	20
	a.	Standing	20
	b.	Deep Underburden Aquifer Water Quantity And Quality	<del>. 22</del> 1
	c.	Legal and Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer	<u>. 365</u>
DISC	USSI	ION	<del>. 37</del> 6
I.	LE	GAL FRAMEWORK and BURDEN of PROOF	. 3 <mark>7</mark> 6
	a.	Standing	<u>37</u> 40
	b.	Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer	. 4 <u>0</u> 3
	i	i. Quality of <mark>w</mark> uter	. 4 <u>1</u> 3
	i	ii. Quantity of Water	. 4 <u>3</u> 5
<u>II.</u>	LE	GAL AVAILABILITY OF THE DEEP UNDERBURDEN AQUIFER	. 4 <u>5</u> 8
<u>III</u>	I.TH	E PARTIES' EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEARING EXAMINER'S	
	PR	OPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW	<u> 47</u>
	<u>a.</u>	MEIC's Exceptions	<u> 47</u>
	<u>b.</u>	DEQ's Exceptions	<u>57</u>
	c.	Signal Peak's Exceptions	<u> 59</u>
CONG	CLU	SIONS OF LAW	<del>50</del> 61
		ENDED DECISIONORDER	

### **INTRODUCTION**

This case has three parties: (1) the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ" or "the Department"); (2) the Petitioner, Montana Environmental Information Center ("MEIC" or "Petitioner"); and (3) the Respondent-Intervenors Signal Peak Energy, LLC ("Signal Peak" or "SPE").

This case concerns MEIC's appeal of DEQ's decision to approve a new amendment ("AM3") under SPE's Bull Mountains Mine No. 1 permit C1993017 ("the permit").

### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 5, 2012, Signal Peak sought approval for amendment to its mining and reclamation plan from the DEQ. Signal Peak sought to increase the amount of coal to its permitted area for its Bull Mountains No. 1 Mine. On September 13, 2013, DEQ notified SPE that the application was technically acceptable and on October 18, 2013, issued its approval of the permit and required a reclamation bond of \$11,194,411. Ord. on SJ at 3 (Nov. 13, 2019).

On November 18, 2013, MEIC, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206(1) and (2), as well as, Mont. Admin. R. 17.24.425(1), filed a notice of appeal and request for hearing before the Montana Board of Environmental Review ("BER" or "Board"). The Board appointed a hearing examiner for procedural purposes but retained substantive jurisdiction of the matter. In April and May of 2014, the

parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment and agreed that the matter could be decided on motions. The Board heard oral argument on the motions on July 31, 2015.

The Board ultimately granted summary judgment to MEIC on January 14, 2016. The Board remanded the matter to DEQ for proceedings consistent with the Consent Decree and Order ("Consent Decree") filed on January 11, 2016. The Consent Decree expressly stated the Department's determination on the revised application "will be subject to a new challenge and review" under Montana Strip and Underground Mine Reclamation Act and Montana Administrative Procedure Act. Ord. on SJ at 3-4.

On remand, DEQ considered additional information, assessed the probable cumulative impacts of all anticipated coal mining on the hydrologic balance of the cumulative impact area, updated Appendix 314-5 to the Probable Hydrologic Consequences ("2016 PHC"), determined the application to be acceptable, notified the public regarding its acceptability determination, and received and responded to public comments, including comments from MEIC.

Based on its new written findings and public comment on the new permit, the Department issued its AM3 Permit written findings, Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment ("CHIA"), responses to public comments, and a revised reclamation bond calculation of \$11,194,411 on July 12, 2016. Prior to this date,

no mining had occurred within the permit amendment area, and thus, at that time there were no existing impacts from subsidence. Ord. on SJ at 4.

On August 11, 2016, MEIC timely appealed the new permit to the Board pursuant to the Consent Decree (a "new challenge and review"). In its Notice of Appeal ("NOA"), MEIC stated that DEQ violated the law in approving the application in the following ways:

- 1. Signal Peak's application and the Department's CHIA "do not affirmatively demonstrate that there is sufficient high quality water [sic] available to replace spring and stream reaches that may be dewatered due to subsidence-related impacts." (NOA  $\P$  5)
- 2. Signal Peak's reclamation plan does not provide "specific hydrologic reclamation plans for spring and stream reaches until specific water resources are impacted by longwall mining activities." (NOA ¶ 6)
- 3. The bonding amount determined by the Department is improper because it "omits funding for multiple measures that the reclamation plan . . . identifies." (NOA  $\P$  7)

On February 1, 2019, MEIC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, and DEQ and SPE each filed Motions for Partial Summary Judgment. The Motions were all fully briefed in April 2019. Former hearing examiner Sarah Clerget scheduled the motions for oral argument in June 2019; it was later cancelled after a motion by MEIC pointing out that the jurisdiction originally conferred to the hearing examiner was for procedural purposes only. The matter was then brought before the BER as an action item at its May 2019 meeting. At its May meeting, the Board voted unanimously to "refer to our counsel, acting as hearing examiner, the pending summary judgment motions in the matter of Signal Peak Energy, Bull

Mountains Coal Mine No. 1, for the preparation of a proposed decision in accordance with MAPA, which then would be brought back to the Board for further proceedings." Bd. Mtg. Tr. 37:21-38:3; 56:9-19 (May 31, 2019). Oral Argument was then reset and Hearing Examiner Clerget issued an Order on the parties pending motions in November 2019.

In her Order, Hearing Examiner Clerget dismissed Petitioner's reclamation bonding claims on summary judgment. Ord. on SJ at 15-17, ¶ 2, 29-30, ¶ 1-4.

Following that decision, the parties again sought clarification on Ms. Clerget's jurisdiction. The matter was then brought before the BER as an action item at its December 2019 meeting, wherein the Board clarified that it intended to transfer its authority to the hearing examiner. The parties then proceeded with pretrial filings and on August 18, 2020, through August 21, 2020, former Hearing Examiner Clerget conducted a four-day virtual evidentiary hearing on the "central issue" of the physical and legal availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer ("DUA") to serve as a source of replacement water for beneficial uses in the vicinity of the Mine (i.e., seasonal livestock watering and domestic uses) lost or diminished by AM3. Tr. 4:5-9, 960:8-22; Ord. on SJ at 17, ¶ 3.\frac{1}{2}

During the hearing, former Hearing Examiner Clerget reserved ruling on the Motions for Judgment on Partial Findings. Tr. 396:23 through 403:18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Board acknowledges that DUA and Deep Underburden ("DUB") are not technically equivalent terms, as the DUB refers to a geologic unit, and the DUA refers to the hydrologic function of that geologic unit.

The parties filed their Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on December 18, 2020. On January 21, 2021, Hearing Examiner Andrew Cziok took responsibility for this matter as a hearing officer of this contested case. On March 31, 2021, Caitlin Buzzas assumed responsibility as the presiding Hearing Examiner. Hearing Examiner Buzzas issued Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on July 30, 2021.

DEQ submitted its Exceptions on Points of Law to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("DEQ's Exceptions") on September 3, 2021.

MEIC submitted its Exceptions to Hearing Examiner's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("MEIC's Exceptions") on September 15, 2021.

SPE submitted its Exceptions to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("SPE's Exceptions") on September 15, 2021.

DEQ submitted its Response to MEIC's Exceptions on October 27, 2021.

MEIC submitted its Response to SPE's Exceptions on November 5, 2021.

SPE submitted its Response to MEIC's Exceptions on November 5, 2021.

On April 8, 2022, the Board heard oral arguments from the parties and began deliberations regarding the parties' Exceptions. On May 23, 2022, the Board continued its deliberations, and on June 10, 2022, the Board concluded its deliberations and approved these Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order.

### LEGAL STANDARD

The Montana Administrative Procedure Act (MAPA), Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-101, et. seq., and the Montana Strip and Underground Mine Reclamation Act (MSUMRA), Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-201, et. seq., govern this contested case.

The Department reviews an application for a mine permit revision as prescribed by the MSUMRA and its implementing rules to determine whether the proposed operation is lawful. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-201, et seq. A mine permit applicant must affirmatively demonstrate compliance with MSUMRA and its implementing rules. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227(1). Additionally, Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-253(3)(d), requires the operator of a mine to replace water supplies immediately and then on a more permanent basis "in like quantity, quality, and duration."

Montana Administrative Rule ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) and Mont. Code

Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(n) state that a mine permit application must include "a

description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could

be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted
in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be suitable for the approved
postmining land uses." To approve a mine permit application DEQ must 1)

confirm in writing that the proposed alternative water supplies could be developed
to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted by mining
activities in "like\_quantity, quality, and duration" and 2) consider whether the
proposed replacement water could be obtained, legally and otherwise. Mont. Code

Ann. § 82-4-2<u>53</u>27(3)(<u>da</u>); Admin. R. Mont. 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii); Ord. on SJ at 20, 27.

As the party asserting the claim at issue, MEIC has the burden of presenting the evidence necessary to establish the facts essential to a determination that the Departments decision violated the law. MEIC, 2005 MT 96, ¶ 16. The "facts essential" must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* ¶ 22. In this contested case MEIC has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law. *Id.* Ord. on SJ at 14.

### **FINDINGS OF FACT**

Having reviewed the evidence submitted, the Hearing Officer made the following factual findings, which the Board has adopted without change (except for correcting obvious typographical errors):

### I. BACKGROUND AND PROCESS

1. The Bull Mountains Mine No. 1 (the "Bull Mountains Mine"), which is the only active underground coal mine in Montana, is located in Musselshell and

Yellowstone counties, approximately 15 miles southeast of Roundup, Montana. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-1; Ord. on SJ at 8, ¶ 2.

- 2. AM3, which is depicted in Figure 3-2 of the Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment ("CHIA") (DEQ Ex. 5 at 13-4) and in Figure 1 of the Written Findings (DEQ Ex. 4 at 2), is located at the hydrological divide between the Yellowstone River Basin and the Musselshell River Basin. DEQ Ex. 5 at 4-1; DEQ Ex. 4 at 2; Ord. on SJ at 8, ¶ 3.
- 3. The Bull Mountains Mine No. 1 was first permitted in 1993 to a company called Meridian Minerals. Ord. on SJ at 8.
- 4. DEQ then transferred the permit from Meridian Minerals to numerous entities after 1993. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2.
- 5. In 2008 Signal Peak sought to obtain Meridian Minerals' permit, and DEQ approved transfer of Meridian Minerals' permit to SPE. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2.
- 6. SPE operates the Bull Mountains Mine under Surface Mine Permit C1993017 (the "Permit"), first issued by DEQ in 1993. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2; Ord. on SJ at 3 and 8, ¶ 1.
- 7. The Mine targets the Mammoth coal seam, an approximately 8-foot to 12-foot-thick coal seam underlying the Mine. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.4, Figure 4-4, Figure 9-8; Tr. 468:14-25, 469:1-24.

- 8. Strata above the Mammoth coal seam is referred to as the overburden, while strata below the Mammoth coal seam is referred to as the underburden. Tr. 469:22-25, 470:1-2.
- 9. The underground Bull Mountains Mine is located within lithologies depicted in Figure 4-4 of the AM3 CHIA, which is a stratigraphic column showing the "type of geologic material which occur beneath the surface of the earth" in the vicinity of the Bull Mountains Mine, including multiple coal layers, one of which is the Mammoth coal. DEQ Ex. 5 at 13-10; Tr. 468:14-470:20.
- 10. The overburden and the underburden consist of layers of rock including clinker, sandstone, silty sandstone, coal, siltstone, and claystone.

  Typically, these layers are thin and alternate between the various lithologies. DEQ Ex. 5 at 4-2, 13-10, Figure 4-4; Tr. 469:3-470:17.
- 11. The Mine conducts longwall mining, an underground mining method that removes the entire Mammoth coal seam in advancing panels, allowing overburden rocks to "flex downward, fracture (creating a fractured zone) and collapse or cave into the void (forming a caved zone)," causing the overburden above the removed coal seam to subside. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2, 9-8; Ord. on SJ at 9, ¶ 6.
- 12. Each longwall panel consists of a block of coal approximately 1,250 feet in width and 15,000 feet to 23,000 feet in length. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-8.

- 13. As approved, AM3 will expand the mine from five longwall panels to fourteen longwall panels. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-1.
- 14. As of July 2016, five of the fourteen permitted longwall panels approximately 36% of the permitted coal reserves had been mined and the overburden subsided. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.4.2.

### a. Prior Permitting and Appeal

- 15. The Order on the Parties' Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment at pages 3-4, the procedural history of pre-remand matters heretofore decided by the Board which culminated in In re Signal Peak Energy, BER-2013-07 SM, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, at 56 (Jan. 14, 2016), and the associated January 11, 2016 Consent Decree (FOFCOL and Orders collectively referred to as "Bull Mountains Mine Part I") are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.
- 16. Bull Mountains Mine Part I found a potential for material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit boundary resulting from the migration of gob water and granted summary judgment in favor of Petitioner, vacated AM3, and ordered SPE and the Department to reinitiate the application and review process.

  Bull Mountains Mine Part I at 87-88; DEQ Ex. 4 at 5; Tr. 414:16-415:19; 426:1-3; Ord. on SJ at 3.

- 17. In *Bull Mountains I*, Petitioner did not challenge AM3 based on alleged uncertainties in the legal and physical availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer. Tr. 415:4-19; 11/18/2013 Notice of Appeal; *Bull Mountains I* at 2.
- 18. On January 14, 2016, the Board finding potential for material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit boundary resulting from the long-term migration of gob water granted summary judgment in favor of Petitioner, vacated AM3, and ordered Signal Peak and the Department reinitiate the application and review process. *Bull Mountains I* at 87-88; DEQ Ex. 4 at 7; Tr. 414:16-25, 415:1-19, 426:1-3; MSJ Order at 3.
- 19. In vacating AM3, the Board noted uncertainties regarding the physical and legal availability of the DUA enunciated in Appendix 3M of Signal Peak's 2013 Groundwater Model. *Bull Mountains I* at 12-13, FOF ¶ 32; Tr. 433:21-25, 434:1-20, 537:5-6; MEIC Ex. 17 at Appendix 3M.
- 20. Pursuant to *Bull Mountains Mine Part I*, the Department reopened the AM3 application and reinitiated the AM3 acceptability review process. DEQ Ex. 4, at 1, 5-6; *Bull Mountains Mine Part I* at 87-88; January 11, 2016 Consent Decree at 3-4, ¶ 1.
- 21. A timeline of the AM3 application review and approval process on remand is detailed in the Department's Written Findings. DEQ Ex. 4 at 6-8.

- 22. After remand from the Board in 2016, Signal Peak submitted (and the Department considered) additional information, including the 2016 Comprehensive Evaluation of Probable Hydrologic Consequences ("2016 PHC"), the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report, the 2016 Groundwater Model Report, and improved and refined monitoring data. DEQ Ex. 4 at 7; SPE Ex. 2; Ord. on SJ at 4; Tr. 416:11-22, 428:9-25, 429:1; 443:18-25, 444:1-18, 544:14-24.
- 23. The Department relied on multiple sources of information to support their decision to approve AM3 in 2016, including permit documents and other information compiled by DEQ. Tr. 543:2-13, 544:14-24.
- 24. Permit documents the Department relied on to make its findings related to the 2016 AM3 approval include, but are not limited to: (1) Appendix 314-5, the 2016 PHC (DEQ Ex. 9); (2) Appendix 314-6, the 2016 Groundwater Model Report (DEQ Ex. 10); (3) Appendix 314-7, the Deeper Underburden Model Report (DEQ Ex. 11); (4) Appendix 313-2, the Spring Mitigation Plan (DEQ Ex. 7); (5) Appendix 313-3, the Stream Reclamation Plan (DEQ Ex. 8); and (6) Permit Section 304 baseline data on hydrologic resources and geology. DEQ Ex. 4 at 7; Ord. on SJ at 3-4; Tr. 428:9-429:7; Tr. 488:20-489:10, 543:2-13.
- 25. Additional information the Department relied on to make its findings related to the 2016 AM3 approval included, without limitation: monitoring data from the Bull Mountains Mine annual hydrology reports, sources cited in the CHIA

including MBMG reports and DNRC and MBMG databases, and guidance on combined appropriations from DNRC. Tr. 467:9-12, 479:1-15, 482:4-19, 492:13-493:3, 494:7-19, 496:3-6, 497:8-22, 533:10-21. 538:20-539:1, 543:2-13, 544:14-19, DEQ Ex. 5, 11-1 through 11-2; DEQ Ex. 21.

- 26. Some of these sources that the Department relied on to make its findings related to the *2016* AM3 approval contained new or additional information that was not contained within sources that the Department relied on to make its findings related to the *2013* AM3 approval. Such new or additional information is contained within the 2016 PHC (DEQ Ex. 9), the 2016 Groundwater Model Report (DEQ Ex. 10), the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report (DEQ Ex. 11), and additional monitoring data. DEQ Ex. 4 at 5; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-15; Ord. on SJ at 3-4; Tr. 416:11-22, 428:9-429:1, 443:18-444:18, 544:14-24.
- 27. The 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report and the 2016 Groundwater Model Report are "mathematical representation[s] of groundwater movement" and "useful tool[s] for evaluating various aspects of groundwater, including water quantity and water quality issues." Tr. 410:2-13.
- 28. "[G]roundwater modeling is a mathematical representation of groundwater movement beneath the earth," and is "a useful tool for evaluating various aspects of groundwater, including water quantity and water quality issues." Tr. 410:2-13.

- 29. The Department used the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report "to provide an understanding of the geologic and hydrologic characteristics of the deep underburden, as well as the ability to store and transmit water . . . [and] to confirm that impacts from mining in the deep underburden were expected to be extremely minimal." Tr. 436:16-23; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-25.
- 30. Neither Signal Peak nor the Department conducted hypothetical simulations of the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model. Tr. 868:24-25, 869:1-3.
- 31. The 2016 Groundwater Model Report "simulates the overburden, Mammoth coal, and underburden, primarily focusing on impacts to groundwater levels in the Mammoth coal, lower portions of the overburden . . . and the upper portion of the underburden" resulting from mining. Tr. at 432:16- 433:12; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-15; DEQ Ex. 9 at 314-5-3, 314-5-58; DEQ Ex. 10, at 314-6-1, 314-6-28.
- 32. On May 24, 2016, the Department completed its review and determined the revised AM3 application acceptable. SPE Ex. 8; DEQ Ex. 4 at 5.
- 33. As approved, AM3 will add 7,161 acres to the permit area, expand the underground mine plan, and add approximately 176 million tons of coal to the permitted life-of-mine reserves. DEQ Ex. 4 at 1; DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-1; Ord. on SJ at 8-9, ¶ 5.

- 34. Following the Department's acceptability determination, Petitioner filed objections to the AM3 application, in part, based on alleged uncertainties in the physical (i.e., quality and quantity) and legal availability of the Deep Underburden (DUB) and the adequacy of reclamation bonding. SPE Ex. 9 at 2-3; DEQ Ex. 1; DEQ Ex. 2; DEQ Ex. 3; Ord. on SJ at 10-12, ¶¶ 11-14.
- 35. Petitioner's Objections (DEQ Ex. 1) included the comments of Mark A. Hutson, P.G. (DEQ Ex. 2), which as pertinent herein, raised concerns that it was "uncertain" whether SPE would have the ability to apply for and receive an exempt well permit from the Montana Department of Natural Resources ("DNRC"). DEQ Ex. 2 at 2.
- 36. Additionally, Petitioner's Objections contained a letter from the Western Environmental Law Center, which discussed the uncertainty of replacement water quantity and quality based on the *2013* AM3 application materials. DEQ Ex. 3 at 11-12, 24-35; Ord. on SJ at 10, ¶ 12. This letter from the Western Environmental Law Center predated the 2016 AM3 application. DEQ Ex. 3 at 1.
- 37. The Department considered and responded to Petitioner's objections and concluded that any springs potentially impacted by subsidence and requiring mitigation could be replaced by exempt wells because the springs' flow rates do

not exceed the exempt well 35 gallon per minute pumping limit. DEQ Ex. 6 at 5-6, ¶ 8; DEQ Ex. 21; Tr. 537:19-539:1, 542:2-7.

- 38. Based on information contained in the revised AM3 application and other information compiled by the Department, the Department prepared Written Findings including a Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment or "CHIA". DEQ Ex. 4; DEQ Ex. 5; Tr. 442:20-443:5.
- 39. The CHIA part of the Department's Written Findings evaluated "the cumulative impacts of existing, previous, anticipated mining on the hydrologic balance in the cumulative impact area around the mine," and "determine[d] for the purpose of the permit decision if the proposed operation is designed to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance." Tr. 442:2-19, 407:5-15; DEO Ex. 5 at 2-10, 10-4.
- 40. The CHIA concluded that AM3 is designed to "minimize disturbance of the hydrologic balance on and off the mine plan area and to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area." DEQ Ex. 5 at 2.1; Tr. 442:13-19.
- 41. For the reasons stated in the CHIA and Written Findings, the Department approved AM3 in July 2016. DEQ Ex. 4 at [1], 17; DEQ Ex. 6, Appendix III; DEQ Ex. 5; Tr. 417:5-418:4, 441:17-443:4

### b. Current Appeal **Hhistory**

- 42. On August 11, 2016, Petitioner challenged the Department's approval of AM3 and requested a contested case hearing before the Board pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 82- 4-206(1)-(2) and ARM 17.24.425(1). SPE Ex. 9.
- 43. Petitioner's Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing did not renew its original AM3 objections regarding the potential for material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit boundary (whether resulting from the migration of gob water or otherwise). *See generally* SPE Ex. 9.
- 44. The Board assigned the contested case proceeding to the Hearing Examiner, and, on September 30, 2016, the Hearing Examiner granted SPE's Motion to Intervene. Ord. on SJ at 3; January 17, 2017 Order on Motion to Intervene at 1.
- 45. Petitioner's reclamation bonding claim was dismissed for lack of evidence and failure to exhaust administrative remedies on summary judgment.

  Ord. on SJ at 15-17, 29-30 (citing *Seal v. Woodrows Pharmacy*, 1999 MT 247, ¶

  36; *Newville v. State Dept. of Family Service*, 267 Mont. 237, 257 (1994); *Durbin v. Ross*, 276 Mont. 463, 477 (1996); BER 2016-03 SM, Board Order, June 6, 2019, ¶¶ 15-17; BER 2016-03 SM, Order on Motion in Limine, March 15, 2018 at 5, 7-8).

- 46. Evidence and testimony was received on Petitioner's remaining claims following partial summary judgment: (a) that SPE's application and the Department's CHIA "do not affirmatively demonstrate that there is sufficient high quality water available to replace spring and stream reaches that may be dewatered due to subsidence-related impacts" and (b) that SPE's reclamation plan does not provide "specific hydrologic reclamation plans for spring and stream reaches until specific water resources are impacted by longwall mining activities." SPE Ex. 9 at 1-3, ¶¶ 1-6; Tr. 416:23-417:4; Ord. on SJ at 5, 12, ¶¶ 14-15.
- 47. The Hearing Examiner conducted a four-day virtual evidentiary hearing from August 18, 2020 to August 21, 2020 on the "central issue" of the physical and legal availability of replacement water. Tr. 4:5-9, 960:8-22; Ord. on SJ at 17.
- 48. Petitioner presented testimony from three witnesses at hearing: Mr. James Jensen (standing), Mr. Mark Hutson (qualified expert in geology, hydrogeology, and fluvial sedimentology), and Mr. Martin Van Oort (fact witness for exhibit authentication and relevance of 30(b)(6) deposition transcript). Tr. 11:18-19, 33:22, 89:22, 96:2-13, 365:15-24.
- 49. The Department presented testimony from one witness at hearing: Mr. Martin Van Oort (qualified expert in geology, surface and groundwater hydrology, and groundwater modeling). Tr. at 405:16-19, 412:21-25, 413:1-4.

- 50. Signal Peak presented testimony from two witnesses at hearing: Mr. Judd Stark (qualified expert in coal mining, coal mine permitting, permit compliance, environmental monitoring, and reclamation) and Dr. Michael Nicklin (qualified expert in surface water and groundwater hydrology and groundwater modeling). Tr. 731:10-21, 808:11-18.
- 51. After the close of Petitioner's case-in-chief, the Department and Signal Peak moved for Judgement on Partial Findings (i.e., directed verdict) on Petitioner's claims. Tr. 396:23 through 403:18.
- 52. The Hearing Examiner reserved ruling on the Motions for Judgment on Partial Findings. Tr. 396:23 through 403:18.

#### II. CONTESTED CASE PROCEEDING

#### a. Standing

- 53. Petitioner relies on Mr. Jensen for associational standing. Tr. 11:18-19, 33:22.
- 54. Mr. Jensen lives in Helena, Montana, approximately 300 miles from the Rosebud-Bull Mountains Mine. Tr. 34:1-7, 63:23-25, 64:1.
- 55. Mr. Jensen has lived in Helena, Montana since 1985. Tr. 34:1-7, 36:1-3.
- 56. Mr. Jensen was employed as Petitioner's Executive Director. Tr. 34:1-7.

- 57. As Executive Director, Mr. Jensen has authorized Petitioner's litigation against coal companies and their federal and state regulators, including this litigation against Signal Peak and the Department. Tr. 46:1-25, 47:1-10.
- 58. Mr. Jensen understands Petitioner must establish associational standing to maintain each litigation against coal companies and their federal and state regulators. Tr. 47:17-21.
- 59. Mr. Jensen filed a standing declaration on behalf of Petitioner in this matter on January 25, 2019. *See generally* SPE Ex. 17; Tr. 65:20-25.
- 60. Mr. Jensen has a deep connection to the Bull Mountains and has been visiting them regularly for the last 35 years "[a]t least once every two years." Tr. 34:13 to 35:9; Tr. 37:18-17.
- 61. Mr. Jensen did not dispute that there are no public lands above the Mine. Tr. 65:1-4.
- 62. Mr. Jensen has never visited the Mine's underground workings or surface facilities. Tr. 52:5-13.
- 63. Mr. Jensen does not own or lease (and has never owned or leased) real property in the vicinity of the Mine. Tr. 64:21-25.
- 64. Mr. Jensen has not appropriated (and has never appropriated) surface water or groundwater rights in the vicinity of the Mine. Tr. 65:5-11.

# b. Deep Underburden Aquifer Water Quantity Aand Quality

- 65. "The main hydrologic issue regarding subsidence at [the Mine] is the potential for loss or diminution of the quantity of groundwater and surface water, and impacts to wells, springs, ponds, and stream reaches as a result of subsidence-related fracturing of overburden shales and sandstones." Ord. on SJ at 9, 17-21; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-8; Tr. 432:2-9.
- 66. The thirty-one springs identified in Table 314-3-1 provide water used for livestock watering. SPE Ex. 27 at Table 314-3-1; DEQ Ex. 7, at 313-2-2.
- 67. Table 314-3-1 lists 31 "springs potentially requiring mitigation following mining impacts." SPE Ex. 27 at Table 314-3-1; Tr. 509:23-510:23, 747:18- 748:19, 804:17-805:3.
- 68. The thirty-one springs identified in Table 314-3-1 "have substantial and reliable flow/discharge or consistent/reliable pond levels and may be impacted by mining." DEQ Ex. 7 at 313-2-1; SPE Ex. 27 at 314-3-1.
- 69. The Department concluded in the CHIA, thirty-three "springs . . . demonstrated regular seasonal or annual flow conditions with median flow rates greater than 0.5 gpm (Table 7-1 and Figure 6-3). Many of these springs provide a reliable source of water to support livestock . . . ." DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-4; *see* Tr. 448:1-16, 449:3-12 (discussing Table 7-1 and Figure 6-3 from the CHIA).

- 70. A network of eleven stations monitor "stream" water quantity and quality. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7.1.2.1, 7.1.3.1.
- 71. Most stream reaches are dry, except below spring issue points. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7.1.2.1.
- 72. The Spring Mitigation Plan requires Signal Peak to mitigate "all springs that have a history of beneficial use or are necessary to support postmine land uses, not just those listed in Table 314-3.1." DEQ Ex. 7 at 313-2-2.
- 73. Signal Peak reports monitoring results to the Department on a semi-annual and annual basis. Tr. 721:14-722:1, 755:19-756:21; *see e.g.* SPE Ex. 36.
- 74. No springs identified in the CHIA that may be impacted by mining have median flow rates over 35 gallons per minute. MEIC Ex. 15, Table 314-3-1; DEQ Ex. 5 at 12-16, Table 7-1; Tr. 542:2-7.
- 75. As of July 2016, 9 springs had been undermined: 17415, 17115, 17145, 17165, 17185, 17315, 17515, 17255, and 17275. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-9.
- 76. As of July 2016, 5 of the 31 springs listed in Table 314-3-1 (approximately 16%) had been undermined. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.4.2; DEQ Ex. 9 at 57, ¶ 5.1.1; at 59, ¶ 5.2.1; SPE Ex. 27 at 314-3-1, Table 314-3-1.
- 77. The CHIA evaluated the undermined springs in detail and concluded: "As described in [CHIA] Section 9.2.4.2, impacts due to subsidence include diminution of spring flows at spring 17145, and increases in SC at spring 17275.

[SPE] has begun to implement remedial mitigation measures at spring 17145, and continues to monitor water quality and quantity to assess whether recently identified impacts are temporary in nature, or will require more permanent solutions." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-12; DEQ Ex. 9 at bates 187-222; Tr. 502:14-506:24, 889:1-24.

- 78. The CHIA concluded that Spring 17145 (Bull Spring) evidenced a diminution of flow potentially attributable to subsidence, and the Department required mitigation at this spring. The Department's CHIA stated "This physical evidence, in conjunction with unexpected diminution of flows from Bull Spring suggests that Bull Spring may have been impacted by undermining. In accordance with permit obligations defined in Appendix 314-3, Spring Impact Detection and Mitigation, [SPE] initiated interim mitigation procedures to address the potential flow depletions. Continued monitoring of Bull Spring, and execution of the Interim Mitigation Plan proposed by [SPE] will inform whether permanent mitigation procedures will be necessary." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-10; DEQ Ex. 9 at 314-5-40 and 314-5-58; Tr. 506:25-507:5, 651:2-12, 814:9-816:21.
- 79. As of the time of the AM3 approval in 2016, the Department had not required temporary or permanent mitigation at springs 17275, 17415, 17165, or 17185. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-10; Tr. 506:25-507:5.

- 80. Temporary mitigation measures proposed for Spring 17145 (Bull Spring) prior to approval of AM3 included utilizing a nearby pond and hauling water. SPE Ex. 30; Tr. 164:6-18, 427:6-13, 828:13-829:5.
- 81. The temporary mitigation measures implemented for Spring 17145 (Bull Spring) did not require replacement water from the DUA. Tr. 427:14-17.
- 82. Other than the temporary mitigation measures implemented for Spring 17145 (Bull Spring), sourcing replacement water (from the DUB or otherwise) had not been required at the time of the AM3 approval in 2016. Tr. 427:14-17.
- 83. "Stream monitoring consists of the collection of water quality parameters and flow measurements at eleven established surface water monitoring stations within and outside of the permit area." DEQ Ex. 5 at 6-1.
- 84. "In most years, streambeds are dry, except below spring issue points." DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-3.
- 85. AM3 identifies the maximum extent of flowing stream reaches below springs that may be impacted by subsidence and may require mitigation. DEQ Ex. 8 at attached Figure 313-3-1.
- 86. Stream reach water quality shows "high variability in sampling results" and is generally higher in dissolved parameters in the summer when the ground is not frozen, and lower in dissolved solids in the winter. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-5 through 7-6; Tr. 493:11-494:6.

- 87. The Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan "describes the measures which will be taken to maintain and restore the function of streams during and after mining." DEQ Ex. 8, Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan at 313-3-1; Tr. 438:22-440:13.
- 88. These include "reestablishing stream flow, repairing fractures, and correcting changes to channel gradient to avoid excessive erosion." DEQ Ex. 8 at 313-3-8; Tr. 439:16- 440:8.
- 89. The Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan contemplated replacing flowing stream segments below springs using excess water from spring mitigation. DEQ Ex. 8 at 313-3-9; Tr. 373:14-374:3, 440:9-13, 598:13-20, 600:4-21.
- 90. The CHIA described this stream channel repair stating, "Subsidence associated with the northern end of longwall Panel 4 in March 2014 resulted in a change in topography which would have impounded the flow of the 17-drainage. In response to this subsidence, and with concurrence of DEQ, SPE reconstructed the 17-drainage channel downstream from the end of longwall Panel 4 to restore the natural drainage connectivity and ensure passage of stream flows to maintain the hydrologic balance." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-8.

- 91. The monitoring schedule of each monitoring station is reviewed on an annual basis in consideration of observations during the prior water year and anticipated future impacts. SPE Ex. 28 at 4,  $\P$  2.2.
- 92. Inherent uncertainty exists regarding the effects of subsidence on springs and stream reaches; subsided springs and stream reaches may evidence a range of negative and positive qualitative and quantitative changes, such changes may be temporary or permanent, and such changes may or may not be attributable to mining. DEQ Ex. 7 at 6; DEQ Ex. 8 at 3.0; DEQ Ex. 9 at 74-75, ¶ 6.5.1; Tr. 181:7 through 190:24, 711:16:22, 825:22-25, 826:1-25.
- 93. Factors relevant to whether springs and stream reaches will be impacted by subsidence include (1) depth of mining from the ground surface; (2) thickness and type of strata between the springs and stream reaches and mined strata; (3) nature of subsidence; (4) percentage of watershed contributing to water resource; (5) land slope and topography; (6) local geologic anomalies associated with water resource; (7) the yield of the water resource, and (8) the proximately of the spring or stream reach to the subsidence. DEQ Ex. 9 at 74-75, ¶ 6.5.1; Tr. 511:2-25, 512:1-12.
- 94. Spring monitoring data evidences considerable natural variability in spring discharge (and the resultant downgradient stream reaches), and "[t]he exact

length of each perennial and intermittent reach is directly related to the amount of precipitation the local watershed has received." DEQ Ex. 8 at 2.0.

- 95. Owing to the "inherent difficulties" and "complexities" of spring and stream reach impact assessment, it is "impracticable to meaningfully project the likelihood, or probability," that a given spring or stream reach will be impacted by subsidence and require mitigation. DEQ Ex. 9 at 74, ¶ 6.5.1.
- 96. Notwithstanding, because springs and stream reaches are not directly disturbed by longwall mining operations, anticipated impacts "are much more limited" and "much less" pronounced than other mining methods. Tr. 437:16-25, 438:1-9, 439:3-24, 500:24-25, 501:1-25, 502:1-17.
- 97. The deep underburden consists of an outcropping of rocks belonging to the Tongue River member of the Fort Union Formation. MEIC Ex. 21 at 3.2.5. These outcroppings are observed in Fattig, Halfbreed, Razor, and Pompeys Pillar Creek drainages. DEQ Ex. 11 at p.3. This suggests that these massive sandstones represent large fluvial channels that are linear and continuous throughout the Bull Mountains area. MEIC Ex. 21 at 3.2.5; DEQ Ex. 11 at p.3. These sandstone formations are likely many miles wide and reflect a high sinuosity or continuous meandering of the paleostream. MEIC Ex. 21 at 3.2.5.
- 98. The DUA aquifer is a "confined" (i.e., pressurized) aquifer in the "massive" and "relatively deep sandstones" of the deep underburden

approximately 355-405 feet below the surface of the Mine. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-24; DEQ Ex. 11 at 1-4.

- 99. The DUA extends over a broad area throughout the Bull Mountains area, approximate dimensions are about 14 miles wide and 22 miles long trending along the axis of the Bull Mountains syncline. DEQ Ex. 9 at 52, ¶ 3.6.2.2.
- 100. In 2009, Signal Peak installed the Office Supply Well ("OSW"), a public water supply well completed in the DUB. SPE Ex. 24 at 1.
- 101. The OSW, a public water supply well completed in the DUB with an average pumping rate of 6 gallons per minute, was permitted by the State of Montana in 2009. DEQ Ex. 9 at 51-52, ¶ 3.6.2.1; SPE Ex. 24 at 1, ¶ 1.0, at 1-5, ¶ 2.0.
- 102. On June 5, 2009, Signal Peak conducted a 24-hour OSW pump test ("OSW Pump Test") to assess the hydraulic conductivity, transmissivity, and storativity of the DUB. SPE Ex. 24 at 2-3; Tr. 852:17-853:17.
- 103. Signal Peak reported the results of the OSW Pump Test (including lithologic logs, pump and recovery test results, water quality results, and monitoring well logs) in the Office Well Completion and Pump Test Report. SPE Ex. 24 at 1.
- 104. The OSW Pump Test Report projected a 3-foot drawdown in the nearest private well (approximately 4,200 feet from the OSW) if the OSW was

continuously pumped at a rate of six gallons per minute for twenty years. SPE Ex. 24 at 3.

- 105. Signal Peak installed DUB monitoring wells BMP-121, BMP-128, and BMP-129. SPE Ex. 24 at 1, ¶ 1.0; at 5-6, ¶ 3.0; Tr. 845:9-25, 846:1-20.
- 106. Since conducting the OSW Pump Test in July 2009, DUB monitoring well "BMP-121 has shown no water level effects from mining or pumping at the OSW." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-25, Figure 9-40 at 13-69; DEQ Ex. 9 at 314- 5-41; SPE Ex. 36 at 13; Tr. 237:3-240:14.
- 107. Since conducting the OSW Pump Test in July 2009, the OSW pump rate has averaged four gallons per minute. Tr. 913:2-6.
- 108. DUB monitoring wells BMP-128 and BMP-129 installed in 2014 exhibited "excellent capacity" and stability. SPE Ex. 36 at 10-15,  $\P$  3.5.3; Tr. 909:13-19.
- 109. Neither SPE nor the Department conducted hypothetical simulations of drawdown from replacement wells using the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model prior to the 2016 approval of AM3. Tr. 565:18-21, 566:5-23, 868:24-869:3.
- 110. Signal Peak subsequently developed the 2016 PHC, which assessed the probable hydrologic consequences of AM3. DEQ Ex. 9 at 18, ¶ 1.1, Tr. 428:9-18.

- 111. The 2016 PHC considered available information, including the OSW Pump Test Report, DUB well discharge rates, DUB well logs, and DUB domestic wells, to assess the hydraulic conductivity of the deep underburden. *See generally* DEQ Ex. 9; Tr. 909:8-19.
- 112. The 2016 PHC evaluated spring discharge rates in the vicinity of the Mine. DEQ Ex. 9 at 9, ¶ 3.4.5, Figure 16-1, Figure 16-2.
- 113. The 2016 PHC concluded that spring flow rates in the vicinity of the Mine are "highly variable over time" and "[a] majority of the springs [...] exhibited no flow from 2003 to 2015 or occasional flow, i.e. not enough to develop a meaningful hydrograph." DEQ Ex. 9 at 39, ¶ 3.4.5.
- 114. The 2016 PHC concluded that "[t]here is presently no evidence of surface water quality impacts associated with mining." DEQ Ex. 9 at 59, ¶ 5.2.1; Tr. 814:9-25, 815:1-25, 816:1-21, 866:23-25, 867:1-3.
- 115. The 2016 PHC assessed the deep underburden and DUA. DEQ Ex. 9 at 38, ¶ 3.3.4, at 51, ¶ 3.6.2, at 52, ¶ 3.6.2.2, at 78, ¶ 6.5.4.
- 116. The 2016 PHC considered and relied upon, in part, the 2009 Office Supply Well ("OSW") Pump Test Report and the underlying 24-hour OSW pump test ("OSW Pump Test") to assess the deep underburden and DUA. DEQ Ex. 9 at 38, ¶ 3.3.4, at 51, ¶ 3.6.2.1, at 58, ¶ 5.1.5.

- 117. The 2016 PHC evaluated the DUB's existing and designated groundwater uses. DEQ Ex. 9 at 93, Table 4C.
- 118. The 2016 PHC concluded that the DUB is an existing source of groundwater for purposes of private wells, public water supply wells, and livestock and wildlife watering. DEQ Ex. 9 at 93, Table 4C.
- 119. The Department considered available information, including the 2015 Deeper Underburden Groundwater Model Report, OSW Pump Test Report, MBMG Reports, drilling/well logs in the permit, and MBMG and DNRC records of wells and water rights in the DUB to assess the water bearing properties of the deep underburden. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 436:16-23; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 477:2-10, 479:11-480:21, 482:4-485:8, 489:5-491:4, 519:17-520:10, 521:5-9, 543:2-13.
- 120. Petitioner presented testimony from Mr. Hutson (qualified expert in geology, hydrogeology, and fluvial sedimentology) on the issue of DUB water quantity. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 96:2-13.
- 121. Mr. Hutson testified that the Department's conclusion that the DUB is a possible source of replacement water is flawed because the Department did not quantify the amount of water in the DUB or (2) quantify the anticipated impact on existing users if replacement water is sourced from the DUB. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 103:1-104:16.

- 122. Mr. Hutson testified that a "sandy layer" or "sandy zone" exists in the DUB, but questioned the continuity of the sands. Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 277:14-279:7, 293:1-295:11, 306:2-307:6; Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 200:13-201:24, Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 940:9-23.
- 123. Mr. Hutson did not quantify or otherwise calculate the anticipated replacement water need resulting from AM3. Tr. 139:22-140:2, 207:5-8, 270:22-24.
- 124. Mr. Hutson based his opinion of the nature of continuity of the deeper underburden sands on general knowledge of the fluvial systems and the Fort Union Formation, and on literature review. Hrg. Tr. Day 2, 276:2-25, 277:1-6, 279:11-20.
- 125. Mr. Hutson agreed that the DUB "might produce enough water for mitigation purposes," explaining "I think it could. It's a possibility." Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 278:23-279:10.
- 126. Water quality impacts to the DUB as a result of AM3 are not anticipated due to the hydraulic separation between the DUB and the upper underburden and Mammoth coal. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 9-25.
- 127. DUB baseline water quality is Class II and more consistent than other hydrostratigraphic units in the vicinity of the Mine. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7.2.5.

- 128. Historic and current surface and groundwater uses in the vicinity of the Mine include public water supply, private water supply, livestock, wildlife, irrigation, and industrial uses. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.0.
- 129. Groundwater wells are primarily completed in the underburden, while springs are primary sourced from the overburden. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.0, 8.5.
- 130. The Department identified and evaluated the surface water rights within the AM3 surface water Cumulative Impact Area. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 8-1, Figure 8-2 at 13-24, Table 8-2 at 12-40; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 449:13-450:15.
- 131. Signal Peak owns nearly half of the surface water rights within the AM3 surface water Cumulative Impact Area. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.5, Figure 8-2.
- 132. The majority of surface water rights within the Cumulative Impact Area are for livestock use. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at Table 8-2 at 12-40; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 450:7-15.
- 133. DUB baseline arsenic concentrations (representative of natural conditions) range from non-detect to 0.0679 mg/L. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-15, 7.2.5, 9-25, 9.2.6.5; 9.2.6.7.1, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 4 at 761:25, 762:1-17.
- 134. The maximum value of arsenic detected in the DUB (0.0679 mg/L) exceeds the CHIA's guidelines for livestock watering (0.01 mg/L). DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 7-15, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:11-18; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 764:10-21.

- 135. "Arsenic occurs naturally at concentrations which can exceed human health standards in groundwater in the Fort Union Formation." DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 9-29, 8-1; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:19-23.
- 136. Domestic wells completed in the DUA likely contain natural levels of arsenic over the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.2.
- 137. The OSW a permitted public water supply well sourced from the DUA has never exceeded the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.6.5.
- 138. "The OSW, also completed in the deeper underburden, has shown no exceedances of the arsenic HHS and is permitted as a public water supply." DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 9-25.
- 139. Mr. Hutson did not dispute that the OSW has never exceeded the human health standard for arsenic. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 226:6-11.
- 140. DUB baseline sodium concentrations (representative of natural conditions) range from 297 mg/L to 469 mg/L. DEQ Ex. 5 at Table 7-11.
- 141. DUB baseline median sodium concentration (356 mg/L) exceeds the CHIA's recommended guidance for livestock watering (300 mg/L). DEQ Ex. 5 at Table 7-11; Tr. 548:13-25, 549:1-10.
- 142. The CHIA's recommended guidelines for livestock watering "are not enforceable standards but are used by DEQ for guidance in evaluating suitability of

pre and postmine water quality for livestock use." DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 2-4, 2-7; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 548:23-549:3.

- 143. Mr. Hutson did not know whether commercially available treatment systems exist for sodium. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 217:15-22 *compare to* Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 874:1-10 (Dr. Nicklin noting that treatment systems are available for sodium).
- 144. Mr. Hutson is not an expert in water treatment and did not present testimony on water treatment, including the viability or availability of water treatment methods such as reverse osmosis treatment systems. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 215:10-20.
- 145. The Department identified no legal barriers precluding the the DUA as a source of replacement water. DEQ Ex. 6, Appendix III to Written Findings, Public Comment Response at 5-6, ¶ 8; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 542:14-17.
  - c. Legal and Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer
- 146. AM3 identifies the DUB as a possible source of replacement water for springs adversely and permanently impacted by subsidence. DEQ Ex. 7, Spring Mitigation Plan at 313-2-3 through 313-2-5; MSJ Order at 9, ¶ 8.
- 147. Based on the well logs, the approximate thickness of the DUB ranges from 45 feet to 80 feet. DEQ Ex. 11, DUB Report at 2; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 844:5-9.

- 148. The DUB is "the first substantive water-bearing unit underlying the Mammoth coal" in the vicinity of the Bull Mountains. DEQ Ex. 11, DUB Report at 1, Figure 314-7-4; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 516:9-20.
- 149. The maximum flow rate of any particular DUB well (if required for permanent replacement water mitigation needs) is not anticipated to exceed 14.2 gallons per minute. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 12-16, Table 7-1; SPE Ex. 27, Spring Impact Detection and Mitigation at Table 314-3-1; MEIC Ex. 15 Table 314-3-1; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 856:8-22.
- 150. The Department concluded the likely amount of replacement water required for each potential mitigation site informs whether the DUB can legally serve as a source of replacement water. Tr. 543:14-20.

## **DISCUSSION**

#### I. LEGAL FRAMEWORK and BURDEN of PROOF

The Board's role in the contested case proceeding is to receive evidence from the parties and enter findings of fact based on the preponderance of the evidence presented and conclusions of law based on those findings. Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612. The Department reviews an application for a mine permit revision as prescribed by MSUMRA and its implementing rules to determine whether the proposed operation is lawful. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-201, et seq. A mine permit applicant must affirmatively demonstrate compliance with MSMURA and its

implementing rules. Mont. Code. Ann. § 82-4-227(1). A mine permit application must include "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities." Admin. R. Mont. 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii); Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(n). Additionally, the operator of a mine is required to replace water supplies immediately and then on a more permanent basis "in like quantity, quality, and duration." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-253(3)(d).

The relevant analysis and the agency action at issue is contained within the four corners of the Written Findings and CHIA. In re Signal Peak Energy (Bull Mountains Mine No. 1), BER 2013-07-SM, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (Jan. 14, 2016) at 56, ¶ 66; 80-81, ¶ 124. The Board may utilize the agency's experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge in the evaluation of evidence. Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(7). As outlined in the Order Denying Request to Reclaim jurisdiction, the Board pursuant to its authority under MAPA, transferred jurisdiction to the hearing examiner. Therefore, the hearing examiner steps into the shoes of the Board and has jurisdiction to hear and make findings of fact and retain "broad discretion to assess and assign the relative weight and credibility of conflicting evidence presented." Smith v. TYAD, Inc., 2007 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 348, \*46-47 (citing *Tefft v. State*, 271 Mont. 82, 94, 894 P.2d 317, 325-26 (1995)).

The law has established the burden of proof as follows:

"[A]s the party asserting the claim at issue, MEIC had the burden of presenting the evidence necessary to establish the facts essential to a determination that the Departments decision violated the law." MEIC, 2005 MT 96, ¶ 16. The "facts essential" must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. ¶ 22. In this contested case hearing, therefore, MEIC has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law. Id.

Board Ord. COL ¶ 5 (June 6, 2019). Based on the law and as established in the prior hearing examiner's Order on Summary Judgment, the burden of proof lies with MEIC to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the AM3 permit to Signal Peak violated the law.

#### a. Standing

Under Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206(1) the Petitioner must have an interest that may be adversely affected by the Department's challenged decision to initiate and maintain a contested case. "An organization may assert standing either as an entity or by the associational standing of its members." New Hope Lutheran Ministry v. faith Lutheran Church of Great Falls, Inc. 2014 MT 69, ¶ 27, 374 Mont. 229, 23, 328 P.3d 586, 593. Petitioner asserts associational standing based on the purported standing of its member and Executive Director Mr. Jensen. Tr. 11:18-19. 33:22.

To establish standing, a plaintiff must show (1) an "injury in fact," which is concrete and particularized, as well as actual or imminent; (2) the injury is caused by the defendant's conduct, such that it can be fairly traced to the challenged DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER action; and (3) a favorable decision will likely redress the injury. *Lujan v*.

Defenders of Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555, 112 S. Ct. 2130 (1992); Clark Fork-Pend

Oreille Coal v. DEQ, 1997 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 804, at \*7 (Feb. 19, 1997);

Conservation Cong. V. United States Forest Serv., 2019 WL 4464037, at \*5 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 18, 2019). Associations have standing if (1) at least one of their members has standing; (2) the interests of the lawsuit are germane to the purpose

\_of the organization; and (3) the members' individual participation is not required.

Park Ctny. Envtl. Council v. DEQ, 2020 MT 303, 402 Mont. 168, 477 P.3d 288.

Montana Courts have generally allowed Plaintiffs standing where the injury is tied to an environmental impact. In *Heffernan v. Missoula City Council* the Montana Supreme Court held that neighbors' and the neighborhood associations' statements of specific personal and legal interest were sufficient to establish standing with regard to their challenge to a new subdivision. 2011 MT 91, 360 Mont, 207, 255 P.3d 80. Among other things, the neighbors' specific interests included that the wildlife in the neighborhood was an important value and that the development of a subdivision would erode property values and create soil issues and light pollution. *Id.* Therefore, standing was shown based on the injury of these environmental factors amongst other factors.

In Clark Fork-Pend Oreille Coal v. DEQ, the Court gave standing to Plaintiffs based on their "regular use" and enjoyment of the Blackfoot River for "recreational purposes." 1997 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 804, at \*7 (Feb. 19, 1997). The Court stated that: "Plaintiffs allege they regularly use and enjoy the Blackfoot River for recreational purposes. The procedural requirements of the MMRA (Metal Mine Reclamation Act) provide protection of the uses supported by the waters of the Blackfoot River. These elements are sufficient to grant standing." *Id*.

Here, Mr. Jensen is a member of MEIC, an organization that has interests in the environmental protection of the Bull Mountains. Tr. 34:5-7 and 37:8-11. Mr. Jensen has a deep connection to the Bull Mountains. Tr. 34:13 to 35:9. He has been visiting the Bull Mountains since the 1980's and intends to continue to visit the Bull Mountains regularly. *Id.*; and Tr. 37:21 to 38:12. Mr. Jensen regularly visits portions of the Bull Mountains that are being undermined by Signal Peak. Tr. 35:24-35. Mr. Jensen testified that the mining has caused "considerable subsidence" in the Bull Mountains. Tr. at 39:20 to 40:4 and Tr. at 80:18. The impacts of mining affect Mr. Jensen's use and enjoyment of the Bull Mountains. Mr. Jensen stated "he feels threatened" by the cracks caused by the mining. He worries about breaking an ankle and he "would never ride a horse up in that country." Tr. at 39:20 to 40:2. If the Board were to halt mining in the Bull Mountains, Mr. Jensen's concerns would be relieved at least in part. Tr. at 40:19 to 41:12.

MEIC has shown that Mr. Jensen has standing because, as he testified, his use and enjoyment of the Bull Mountains has been negatively impacted by the Mine. Mr. Jensen's "regular use" and enjoyment of the Bull Mountains for "recreational purposes" is sufficient to establish standing. Additionally, MEIC has standing because Mr. Jensen is a member of MEIC and protecting the Bull Mountains is germane to MEIC's goals of environmental protection.

# b. Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer

The central issue in this matter is the availability of replacement water in terms of its quality, quantity, and legal availability. Montana Administrative Rules requires that an application for an underground coal mining permit take into account replacement water. Specifically, the application must include, "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be suitable for the approved postmining land uses" ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii).

Therefore, during the permitting process, Signal Peak was required to affirmatively demonstrate that there were alternative water supplies not to be disturbed by mining that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by AM3. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227(1). Another way to state this is that MEIC was required to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that DEQ violated the rules by identifying a replacement water source that could <u>not</u> be used to replace springs and stream reaches that may be dewatered by AM3. Ord. on SJ 1-15, 29; ARM 11.24.304(1)(f)(iii).

# i. Quality of Wwater

MEIC argues that the arsenic and sodium levels in the deep underburden aquifer make the quality of the water a reason why it could preclude its use as

replacement water. Ord. on SJ at 28. MEIC further claims that Signal Peak and the Department's failure to provide for the treatment of this water as part of a reclamation plan render the plan violative of MSUMRA requirements. *Id*.

Water quality impacts to the DUB as a result of AM3 are not anticipated due to the hydraulic separation between the DUB and the upper underburden and Mammoth coal. DEQ Ex. 5, at 7-15 and 9-25, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:11-18; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 764:10-21; Hrg. Tr. 548:13-25, 549:1-10. Historic and current surface and groundwater uses in the vicinity of the Mine include public water supply, private water supply, livestock, wildlife, irrigation, and industrial uses. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.0. While the Department stated that water quality impacts were not anticipated, arsenic and sodium is present in the DUB. For livestock, both the maximum value of arsenic and the median baseline of sodium concentrate detected in the DUB exceed the CHIA's guidelines for livestock watering. DEQ Ex. 5, at 7-15 and 9-25, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:11-18; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 764:10-21; Hrg. Tr. 548:13-25, 549:1-10. Regarding water for human consumption, domestic wells completed in the DUA likely contain natural levels of arsenic over the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.2. However, the OSW – a permitted public water supply well sourced from the DUA – has never exceeded the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.6.5.

While it is shown that arsenic and sodium are present, it was not shown that this precludes the water in the underburden from being used as a replacement source. Signal Peak and DEQ dispute the fact that arsenic and sodium levels in the underburden will be above the requisite levels and state that even if they are elevated, a simple commercially-available filtration system would solve the problem. Ord. on SJ at 28-29.

Mr. Hutson stated that he is not an expert in water treatment and did not present testimony on water treatment, including the viability or availability of water treatment methods such as reverse osmosis treatment systems. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 215:10-20. Mr. Hutson did not know whether commercially available treatment systems exist for sodium. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 217:15-22. Mr. Hutson also did not dispute that the OSW has never exceeded the human heath standard for arsenic. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 226:6-111. From the facts presented in testimony and in the record, MEIC did not show by a preponderance of the evidence that the amounts of arsenic and sodium impact the quality of the water to the degree that it prevents it from being used as replacement water.

# ii. Quantity of Water

There is also uncertainty regarding the quantity of replacement water in the DUB. First, will it be needed? If so, how much will be needed? Are there barriers that would make getting the water impossible? Ord. on SJ at 22. Since these factors

are uncertain the Department has answered these questions in terms of cumulative hydrologic probabilities, as MSUMRA and the rules contemplate, stating that: (1) replacement water will likely not be needed; (2) if replacement water is needed, it likely will not be more than 35 gpm or 10 acre-feet/year; and (3) there are likely no barriers that would prevent the replacement water from being used. Ord. on SJ at 22. MEIC, in turn, argues that replacement water will almost certainly be needed, and it could be needed in excess of 100 gpm. *Id*.

Mr. Hutson testified that the Department's conclusion that the DUB is a possible source of replacement water is flawed because the Department did not (1) quantify the amount of water in the DUB or (2) quantify the anticipated impact on existing users if replacement water is sourced from the DUB. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 103:1-104:16. Mr. Hutson agreed that the DUB "might produce enough water for mitigation purposes," explaining "I think it could. It's a possibility." Hrg. Tr. Day 2 at 278:23-279:10.

While it would certainly be helpful to know the quantity of the water with some certainty, the law determines the permitting requirements that the Department must follow. The applicable administrative rule requires an application for an underground coal mining permit to include "a description of alternative water supplies, not to disturbed by mining that *could* be developed to replace water supplies..." ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) (emphasis added).

The Department considered available information, including the 2015 Deeper Underburden Groundwater Model Report, OSW Pump Test Report, MBMG Reports, drilling/well logs in the permit, and MBMG and DNRC records of wells and water rights in the DUB to assess the water bearing properties of the deep underburden. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 436:16-23; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 477:2-10, 479:11-480:21, 482:4-485:8, 489:5-491:4, 519:17-520:10, 521:5-9, 543:2-13. The Department found that the maximum flow rate of any particular DUB well (if required for permanent replacement water mitigation needs) is not anticipated to exceed 14.2 gallons per minute. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 12-16, Table 7-1; SPE Ex. 27, Spring Impact Detection and Mitigation at Table 314-3-1; MEIC Ex. 15 Table 314-3-1; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 856:8-22. The Department concluded that "the deep underburden is extensive" and "it has the characteristics to serve existing and viable designated use, and to also provide mitigation water that may ultimately be needed in accordance with the mitigation measures defined in the permit." DEQ Ex. 9, PHC at 315-5-62; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 817:2-19.

While the quantity of water in the underburden is unknown, there was no evidence presented to show this violated the law. The Department is required by the administrative rules to describe "alternative water supplies" that "<u>could</u> be developed to replace water supplies" ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) (emphasis added). However, no evidence was shown to conclude that the "description of alternative

water supplies" required an exact or specific quantity. Nor was it shown that the quantity was -such that the water could not be used at all, making it unavailable.

# II. LEGAL AVAILABILITY OF THE DEEP UNDERBURDEN AQUIFER

MEIC argues that the Department failed to affirmatively demonstrate that there is sufficient water which is legally available in the deep underburden aquifer to replace impacted water resources above the mine. DEQ Prop. FOFCOL at 61. DEQ's analysis of legal availability of replacement water is based on guidance from the DNRC that Signal Peak could use exempt wells to replace any impacted springs. Tr. at 541:2 to 542:2. However, MEIC argues that the provision in the DNRC guidance document applies to housing developments and not coal mines permitted under Mont. Code Ann. Title 82. MEIC Prop. FOFCOL at ¶ 74-81. The other parties did not discuss this provision specifically, hHowever, it was not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that there is a legal barrier that precludes the deep underburden aquifer from use.

AM3 identified the DUB as a possible source of replacement water for springs that are adversely and permanently impacted by subsidence. Ord. on SJ at 9, ¶ 8; DEQ Ex. 7, Spring Mitigation Plan at 313-2-3 through 313-2-5. Pumping water from the DUB, if necessary, will be done on a case-by-case basis and if multiple springs are impacted, they would be mitigated using multiple wells spaced

widely throughout the area. This could easily supply low flow rates that springs have. Hrg. Tr. Day 3 at 536:1-13. The Department concluded the likely amount of replacement water required for each potential mitigation site informs whether the DUB can legally serve as a source of replacement water. Tr. 543:14-20. The Department has the plans, tests, and reports to mitigate the impact on surface and underground water as shown in the Spring Mitigation Plan, The Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan, the 2016 PHC, and the OSW Pump Test and Report.

Additionally, The Department identified no legal barriers precluding the DUA as a source of replacement water. DEQ Ex. 6, Appendix III to Written Findings, Public Comment Response at 5-6, ¶ 8; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 542:14-17. In fact, the ability of the DUB to "furnish alternative water supplies for shallow wells and springs adversely affected by mining" has been recognized for many decades. MEIC Ex. 19, Thompson Report at 43; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 484:18-485:16. Further, Mr. Hutson did not testify to any legal barriers precluding the DUB as a source of replacement water. Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 542:8-13. Specific and actualized legal barriers were not shown by a preponderance of the evidence. Therefore, MEIC did not meet its burden of proof to show that water sources in the DUB are legally unavailable.

III. THE PARTIES' EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEARING EXAMINER'S-PROPOSED-FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

# a. MEIC's Exceptions

Although not specifically enumerated in its briefing, MEIC's Exceptions are addressed by the Board as follows:

## i. Deference to DEQ

MEIC argues that *Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. v. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality*, 2005 MT 96 holds that DEQ is not entitled to the deference afforded agencies upon judicial review. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 2. The Board agrees with MEIC. Compare Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-704(2) with § 2-4-612(7). Nonetheless, the Board "may utilize" DEQ's "experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge.... in the evaluation of evidence." Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(7). The Board, and the proposed FOFCOL, appropriately utilize DEQ's "experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge.... in the evaluation of evidence" but do not afford DEQ judicial-type deference in contested cases under its consideration.

#### ii. Failure to Address "Reclamation"

MEIC argues that ARM 17.24.405(6)(a) (the "Reclamation Regulation") controls, not ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) (the "Mitigation Regulation"). MEIC Exceptions, at p. 4. According to MEIC, the Reclamation Regulation imposes a more likely than not standard of proof, while the Mitigation Regulation imposes a "mere possibility" standard of proof. Id. The Board concludes that the Mitigation Regulation controls because the central issue in this matter is the availability of replacement water in terms of its quality, quantity, and legal availability. This is the

express purview of the Mitigation Regulation, as opposed to the Reclamation Regulation, which specifically pertains to efforts directed at restoring the land affected by mining activities, i.e. "work conducted on lands." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-203(44). However, as discussed in the next paragraph, it does not matter which regulation controls in this case for purposes of MEIC's argument.

# iii. "Impossible" Standard of Proof

MEIC argues that the proposed FOFCOL imposes an "impossible" standard of proof. This argument is founded on the proposition that the word "could" in the Mitigation Regulation means that the alternative water sources identified in the permit application must have only a "mere possibility" of being developed as replacement water sources. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 4-15. Whether the Reclamation Regulation or the Mitigation Regulation controls, the Board concludes that the identified alternative water sources, combined, must more likely than not be capable of being developed as alternative water sources sufficient to provide the necessary replacement water. Given the purpose of MSUMRA, it would be illogical to conclude that the Mitigation Regulation implies a "mere possibility" standard of proof. Thus, MEIC's argument fails. It must be noted, however, that because multiple alternative water sources are identified, no one water source needs to meet the "more likely than not" standard.

In this case, the permit application identified four sources of replacement water – the mine pool, overburden aquifers, rainfall and snowmelt, and the DUA.

FOF 146; MSJ Order, at 9. In this case the parties focused on the DUA. The findings of fact show that the DUA is likely capable of alone providing the necessary replacement water needs. FOFs 74, 98 – 119, 126 – 145. In addition, the other sources may be available and at least one of the other identified sources has already been used to supply replacement water. FOFs 69, 80, 129. It is clear from a reading of the Proposed FOFCOL as a whole that the Hearings Examiner applied a preponderance of the evidence standard of proof. Proposed FOFCOL, *generally*, and at pp. 8, 39, 40, 44, 45, 48, 49, 51—54. MEIC's attempt to pull language out of context to show otherwise is not persuasive.

#### iv. Burden of Proof

While the exceptions in this case were being briefed, the District Court of Rosebud County reversed the Board in a case involving MSUMRA and held that DEQ and the mining permittee had the burden of proof on appeal to the Board of a permit issuance. *Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. V. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality*, No. DV-19-34 (Mont. 16th Judicial Dist. Ct., Oct. 28, 2021). That case has been appealed to the Montana Supreme Court. *See* Mont. Sup. Ct. Order of March 30, 2022 in *Mont. Envt'l. Info. Ctr. & Sierra Club v. Western Energy Co.*, DA 22-0067. At this time, the Board is bound to follow the precedent of *Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. v. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality*, 2005 MT 96, which held that the party appealing to the Board from a DEQ decision carries the burden of proof. *Id.*, ¶ 16. The Board is also bound to follow the MSUMRA regulation that places the burden of proof on the appealing

party. ARM 17.24.425(7)<sup>2</sup>. The Board is not bound to follow the Montana 16th Judicial District Court's October 28, 2021 decision in Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. V. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality, No. DV-19-34. See Murray v. Motl, 2015 MT 216, ¶ 16.

However, because this case was not decided on a directed verdict after MEIC's case in chief but was tried to its conclusion, based upon Findings of Fact 65—1540 and Conclusions of Law 224 and 232, if the burden of proof were reversed, the result would be the same. Conclusion of Law 264 has been added, and the Order section has been drafted to reflect this conclusion.

#### **Water Quantity Analysis** v.

MEIC argues that the water quantity analysis in the proposed FOFCOL is unsupported because DEQ failed to quantify the total replacement water needs or quantity of the water in the DUA available to meet those needs. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 17-20. However, several of the Hearing Examiner's Findings of Fact indicate otherwise. See FOFs 22, 24, 119, 123, and 149. This includes but is not limited to the 2016 PHC's conclusion that "the deep underburden is extensive" and "has the characteristics to serve existing and viable designated use, and to also provide mitigation water that may ultimately be needed in accordance with the mitigation measures defined in the permit." Id. This is in stark contrast to the fact that MEIC's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Subsection (7) states that "[t]he burden of proof at such hearing is on the party seeking to reverse the decision of the board." (Emphasis added). Subsection (7) as written cannot be correct. A party cannot seek to reverse the Board's decision, in front of the Board, prior to the Board even making a decision. Because "[t]he law never requires impossibilities," § 1-3-222, MCA, it is apparent that this subsection's reference to the "board" can be attributed to a scrivener's error and should instead reference the "department," i.e. DEQ.

DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND OR

own expert made no water quantity determination or calculation of the anticipated need for replacement water, and he even admitted that the DUA "might produce enough water..." *See* FOFs 123 and 125. Considering these facts, MEIC's Exception in this regard is, itself, unsupported.

# vi. Water Quality Analysis

MEIC further argues that it was erroneous to conclude that the water contained in the DUA is of sufficient quality due to the levels of sodium and arsenic present.

MEIC's Exceptions, at pp. 17-20. The Hearing Examiner addressed this concern, ultimately determining (based on FOFs 134—144) that the water in the DUA was not shown to be of insufficient quality considering the availability of effective water treatment systems. MEIC points to no facts in the record to persuade the Board otherwise.

# vii. Lack of Bonding for Water Treatment

MEIC does argue that it is improper to consider water treatment options because such treatment was not included in the required bonding. MEIC's Exceptions, at pp. 19-20. However, the Hearing Examiner already disposed of this issue on summary judgment (*see* MSJ Order, at p. 29), and MEIC provides no compelling reason for the Board to revisit the same.

# viii. Legal Availability Analysis

MEIC also challenges the Hearing Examiner's determination that it failed to demonstrate a legal barrier that would preclude the use of the DUA as unsupported.

MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 20-23. To the contrary, the basis of this determination is set forth in FOFs 37, and 145—150. Indeed, even if replacement water is necessary, the preponderance of evidence indicates that the quantity required from any particular well likely would not exceed 14.2 gpm. FOF 149. Exempt permits for such wells are legally available. *Clark Fork Coalition v. Tubbs*, 2016 MT 229, ¶¶ 12-13; Mont. Code Ann. § 85-2-306(3)(a)(iii). MEIC again fails to persuade the Board that insufficient basis exists for the Hearing Examiner's conclusion.

## ix. General Failure to Address Proposed Findings

MEIC also argues that the Hearing Examiner's Proposed FOFCOL erroneously failed to individually address each of MEIC's proposed findings of fact.

MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 23-25. However, the Hearing Examiner was under no such obligation, and requiring the Hearing Examiner or the Board to do so would impose an undue burden. See State ex re. Montana Wilderness Ass'n v. Board of Natural Resources & Conservation, 200 Mont. 11, 39-40 (1982). The Board therefore rejects this Exception.

## x. Failure to Address Design Standards Violations

MEIC asserts that the Hearing Examiner erred in failing to resolve its claims concerning DEQ and SPE's alleged violations of spring monitoring and impact detection requirements. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 25-26. MEIC notably failed to preserve this argument for the present appeal, the same is not relevant to the subject matter at issue herein, and the Hearing Examiner likewise rejected this argument.

The Board rejects this Exception accordingly.

## xi. Failure to Address 2013 100 GPM Replacement Water Needs Estimate

MEIC next argues that the Hearing Examiner failed to address the 100 gpm replacement water estimate in the 2013 groundwater model contained in SPE's prior permit application. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 26-28. As noted in subsection v. above (Water Quantity Analysis), the Proposed FOFCOL adequately addressed the issue of the available water quantity and relied on substantial evidence in support. *See* FOFs 22, 24, 119, 123, and 149. Moreover, the specific 100 gpm figure was in fact addressed in the Hearing Examiner's discussion of this issue. *See* Proposed FOFCOL, at p. 46. The Board rejects MEIC's Exception in this regard.

# xii. Failure to Address DEQ's Admission That Water Assessment Was Mistaken

MEIC also asserts that the Hearing Examiner erred in failing to address DEQ's purported admission that its analysis in the CHIA was mistaken. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 16-17, 28-29. In particular, MEIC points to the CHIA's assessment that the DUA had sufficient water quantity for "any mitigation wells which may become necessary in the future[,]" apparently concluding that DEQ's expert witness's subsequent testimony that this in fact referred to any *probable* mitigation wells as opposed to any *possible* mitigation wells amounted to an admitted mistake on DEQ's part. *Id.* The Board is not persuaded by this essentially semantic argument, as the applicable authorities contemplate a determination of the "*probable* hydrologic

consequences" of the proposed operation. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(m) and ARM 17.24.314(3) (emphasis added). The Board rejects this Exception accordingly.

## xiii. Finding of Fact 54 Unsupported

MEIC next asserts that FOF 54 is unsupported because it refers to the "Rosebud Mine" instead to the mine at issue herein – the "Bull Mountains Mine." MEIC Exceptions, at p. 29. In light of this apparent typographical error, the parties have since stipulated that FOF 54 may be revised to reflect the correct mine, the "Bull Mountains Mine," without requiring the Board to review the entire record before doing so. The Board accepts this Exception in this regard, and FOF 54 has been revised consistent therewith.

## xiv. Findings of Fact 77-82, 92, and 95 Unsupported

MEIC also asserts that FOFs 77-82, 92, and 95 are not supported by substantial evidence and/or are procedurally improper. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 29. For the reasons addressed in response to MEIC's Exceptions ix.—xii. above, the Board rejects this Exception.

#### Finding of Fact 97 Unsupported – "Likely Many XV. Miles" vs. "May Be Several Miles"

MEIC claims that FOF 97 is not supported by substantial evidence because its determination that the referenced fluvial sandstone channels in the DUB "are likely many miles wide" conflicts with the language of the cited evidence stating that those channels "may be several miles wide." MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 30-31. After reviewing the applicable references, the Board finds that FOF 97 is supported by the

evidence. This Exception is therefore rejected.

## Finding of Fact 97 Unsupported – Continuity of **Formation**

MEIC also argues that FOF 97 is not supported by substantial evidence because its determination that the referenced sandstone formation is not "continuous" as stated. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 31-32. Again, after reviewing the applicable references, the Board finds that FOF 97 is supported by the evidence. This Exception is likewise rejected.

## xvii. Finding of Fact 99 Unsupported

MEIC next asserts that FOF 99 is not supported by substantial evidence because its finding regarding the extent of the DUA conflicts with certain expert testimony presented at the hearing. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 32. However, upon review of the relevant evidence, the Board concludes that this Exception essentially raises another semantic argument and finds that substantial evidence supports FOF 99. This Exception is therefore rejected.

## xviii. Finding of Fact 114 Unsupported

MEIC argues that FOF 114 is improper and unsupported by substantial evidence because it does not acknowledge the alleged design standard violations raised in Exception x. and because the CHIA supposedly rejected the 2016 PHC's analysis. MEIC Exceptions, at p. p. 32-33. After review of the language quoted in FOF 114, coupled with the reasons stated in subsection x. above, it is clear that FOF 114 is accurate and supported by the evidence. The Board rejects this Exception DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER

accordingly.

## xix. Finding of Fact 123 Unsupported

MEIC claims that FOF 123 is also unsupported on the basis that the evidence shows that Mr. Hutson relied on Dr. Nicklin's calculation of replacement water needs. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 33-34. MEIC all the while acknowledges that "Mr. Hutson did not *independently* quantify replacement water needs[.]" *Id.*, at p. 33 (emphasis in original). This, along with the reasons set forth in subsections x. and xi. above, demonstrates that this Exception is without merit. The Board therefore rejects the same.

## xx. Finding of Fact 130 Unsupported

MEIC argues next that FOF 130 is unsupported by substantial evidence

because, while the evidence demonstrates that DEQ identified surface water rights,

the evidence does not indicate that DEQ actually evaluated those rights. MEIC

Exceptions, at p. 34. The Board finds that substantial evidence supports FOF 130 and rejects this Exception accordingly.

# xxi. Finding of Fact 143 Unsupported

MEIC also claims that FOF 143 is unsupported by substantial evidence because it in part relied on Dr. Nicklin's inexpert testimony regarding the availability of water treatment systems for sodium. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 34-35. However, the Hearing Examiner accepted and relied on this testimony, and the Board is not convinced of any error in this regard. The Board therefore rejects this Exception.

## xxii. Finding of Fact 145 Unsupported

Lastly, MEIC argues that FOF 145 is unsupported by substantial evidence based on its claim that DEQ's legal availability analysis for replacement water was flawed. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 35. This amounts to a repeat of MEIC's argument addressed in Exception viii. discussed above. For the same reasons set forth therein, the Board rejects this Exception.

## **b.** DEQ's Exceptions

## i. MEIC's Exempt Well Permits Argument

DEQ's first Exception asserts that MEIC's exempt well permits argument should not have been considered by the Hearing Examiner because it was untimely raised. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 2-4. However, this issue is moot in light of the Hearing Examiner's consideration and rejection of this argument, and the Board need not address the same. The Board accordingly rejects this Exception.

# ii. DEQ's Response to MEIC's Exempt Well Argument

DEQ next argues that the Hearing Examiner erred in finding that DEQ and SPE did not specifically discuss a provision in DNRC guidance cited by MEIC in support of its legal availability argument. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 4, 9-14. DEQ goes on to request that the Board remove the last two sentences of the first paragraph of the "Legal Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer" section on page 48 of the Proposed FOFCOL and that the Board adopt DEQ's Proposed Conclusion of Law No. 13. DEQ Exceptions, at p. 14. Upon review of DEQ's Response to MEIC's

Proposed FOFCOL and DEQ's Proposed FOFCOL, it is apparent that DEQ did indeed address the DNRC guidance provision at issue. The Board therefore accepts DEQ's Exception to the extent it correctly states that the parties did in fact address the subject DNRC guidance provision. However, the Board is not persuaded that DEQ's requested relief is necessary and will instead omit from its Order the language stating that the other parties did not address said provision.

## iii. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22

DEQ also asserts that Conclusions of Law 21 and 22, which pertain to the burden of proof herein, should be deleted and replaced with DEQ's Proposed Conclusions of Law Nos. 3 and 4. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 4-6, 14-16. The Board has already concluded that DEQ and SPE prevail on this issue regardless of which party has the burden of proof. Moreover, these Conclusions of Law, which were proposed by the Hearing Examiner after considering the evidence, likewise support this result. The Board therefore rejects DEQ's Exception on this basis.

## iv. Opposition to MEIC's Standing

DEQ's last Exception addresses language contained in the last paragraph of page 54 of the Proposed FOFCOL suggesting that DEQ had opposed MEIC's standing in this matter. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 16-17. Upon review of the relevant documents, it is apparent that DEQ did not in fact challenge MEIC's standing herein, and MEIC presented no argument to the contrary. The Board accordingly accepts this Exception and will omit the subject language from its Order.

## c. Signal Peak's Exceptions

## i. Hearing Examiner Appointment

SPE's first Exception raises a procedural concern with respect to the appointment of the current Hearing Examiner, Caitlin Buzzas. SPE Exceptions, at pp. 4, 5-8. SPE essentially argues that, because the Board did not specifically appoint Ms. Buzzas as Hearing Examiner, and she instead assumed this role by simply replacing a prior Hearing Examiner from Agency Legal Services ("ALS"), the particularity requirement set forth in Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-611(1) was not clearly satisfied. *Id.* In other words, SPE is concerned that ALS, not the Board, appointed Ms. Buzzas, and that ALS did so without demonstrating compliance with Section 2-4-611(1)'s provision stating that "[a] hearing examiner must be assigned with due regard to the expertise required for the particular matter." Id., at pp. 5-6. SPE thus requests the Board to include certain proposed language as a matter of caution in the event of judicial review of this matter. *Id.*, at pp. 7-8. The Board will include the requested language in the Conclusions of Law section below as a matter of caution only.

## ii. Uncertainty Regarding Volume of Replacement Water

SPE's next Exception requests the modification of the first sentence of the last paragraph on page 47 of the Proposed FOFCOL to clarify that the exact amount of water in the DUB is not known and cannot be known. SPE Exceptions, at pp. 8-9.

Upon review of the language at issue, the Board finds no ambiguity or lack of clarity

when read in full context. When read in full context, the sentence merely means that the precise amount of water in the underburden is unknown. The Board therefore rejects this Exception.

#### iii. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22

SPE also argues that Conclusions of Law 21 and 22 should be modified to distinguish a party's burden of proof as a permitting applicant as opposed to a party's burden of proof, and it suggests the inclusion of specific language. SPE Exceptions, at pp. 10-11. Having already concluded that DEQ and SPE prevail on the issue of the existence of replacement water regardless of which party has the burden of proof, the Board rejects SPE's Exception to the extent that it relates to the burden of proof. However, the Board finds that SPE's Exception is well-taken to the extent that it requests the inclusion of an additional sentence concerning DEQ's confirmation that SPE satisfied its obligation to demonstrate the existence of replacement water, and that sentence will be added to Conclusion of Law 22 below.

## iv. Conclusion of Law 23

Lastly, SPE asserts that Conclusion of Law 23 should be replaced with two separate conclusions to avoid conflating MEIC's claim regarding SPE's replacement obligation and its separate claim regarding SPE's reclamation obligation. The Board finds that this Exception is well-taken and should be accepted. Conclusion of Law 23 will be replaced with the two separate conclusions of law proposed by SPE as Conclusions of Law 24 and 25.

## **CONCLUSIONS OF LAW**

From the foregoing findings of fact, the Board makes the following conclusions of law:

- 1. The Department reviews an application for a mine permit revision as prescribed by the Montana Strip and Underground Mine Reclamation Act ("MSUMRA") and its implementing rules to determine whether the proposed operation is lawful. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-201, et seq.; DEQ Ex. 5 at 1.0, 2.0.
- 2. DEQ may not approve the AM3 Amendment unless the applicant affirmatively demonstrate compliance with MSUMRA and its implementing rules. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-227(1).
- 3. MSUMRA and its implementing rules require a permittee replace water uses permanently contaminated, diminished, or interrupted by the Mine "in like quality, quantity, and duration." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-253(3)(d); Ord. on SJ at 19.
- 4. Accordingly, a mine permit application must include, among other things, "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be sustainable for the approved postmining land uses." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(n); Admin. R. Mont. 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii); Ord. on SJ at 18-19.

- 5. The contested case provisions of the Montana Administrative Procedure Act ("MAPA") and its implementing rules govern hearings before the Board. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-206(2); 2-4-101, *et seq*.
- 6. The relevant analysis and the agency action at issue is that contained within the four corners of the Written Findings and CHIA. *In re Signal Peak Energy* (*Bull Mountains Mine No. 1*), BER 2013-07-SM, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (Jan. 14, 2016) at 56, ¶ 66; 80-81, ¶124.
- 6.7. On October 9, 2020, the Board confirmed its intent to appoint Agency Legal Services ("ALS") as the Hearing Examiner for this matter. When the individual who presided over the contested case hearing left ALS, this contested case was assigned to another attorney within ALS, and then, subsequently to Hearing Examiner Buzzas, who reviewed the record and prepared the Proposed FOFCOL. Although the assignment to Hearing Examiner Buzzas occurred without Board action, the Board finds that her assignment made subject to the Board's appointment of ALS as the Hearing Examiner for this contested case, satisfied the requirements of Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-611 because the Board finds that Ms. Buzzas had the requisite experience to complete the remaining tasks for this contested case at the time of her assignment.
- 7.8. In their role as the finder of fact, the Presiding Hearing Examiner retains "broad discretion to assess and assign the relative weight and credibility of conflicting evidence presented." Smith v. TYAD, Inc., 2007 Mont. Dist. LEXIS

348, \*46-47 (citing Tefft v. State, 271 Mont. 82, 94, 894 P.2d 317, 325-26 (1995)).

8.9. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the common law and statutory rules of evidence govern a contested case proceeding. Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(2).

9.10. In a contested case, "as the party asserting the claim at issue, MEIC had the burden of proof in presenting the evidence necessary to establish the facts essential to a determination that the Department's decision violated the law."

MEIC, 2005 MT 96, ¶ 16.

10.11. The "facts essential" must be proved by a preponderance of theevidence. *Id.* ¶ 22. MEIC thus has the burden of proving by a preponderance of

the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law. *Id*.

11.12. MEIC's standing has been challenged in this case, and thus must prove it has standing.

12.13. A person with an interest that is or may be adversely affected may request a hearing before the Board on the approval of an application to revise a mine permit. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206.

13.14. Petitioner must have an interest that may be adversely affected by the Department's challenged decision to initiate and maintain a contested case. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206(1).

14.15. "An organization may assert standing either as an entity or by the associational standing of its members." *New Hope Lutheran Ministry v. Faith Lutheran Church of Great Falls, Inc.*, 2014 MT 69, ¶ 27, 374 Mont. 229, 236, 328 P.3d 586, 593.

15.16. Petitioner asserts associational standing based on the purported standing of its member and Executive Director Mr. Jensen. Tr. 11:18-19. 33:22.

16.17. "An association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members, even without a showing of injury to the association itself, when: (1) at least one member would have standing to sue in his or her own right; (2) the interests the association seeks to protect are germane to its purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the individual participation of each

allegedly injured party in the lawsuit." *Cmty. Ass'n for N. Shore Conservation, Inc. v. Flathead Cty.*, 2019 MT 147, ¶ 20, 396 Mont. 194, 207, 445 P.3d 1195, 1203, *reh'g denied* (Aug. 20, 2019) (citing *Heffernan v. Missoula City Council*, 2011 MT 91, ¶ 28, 360 Mont. 207, 255 P.3d 80).

17.18. MEIC has met its burden in regard to the standing of Mr. Jensen. FOF ¶ 53-64.

18.19. Next, MEIC must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law by concluding that the DUB was a possible source of replacement water. Board Ord. COL ¶ 5 (June 6, 2019).

19.20. MSURMA and its implementing rules contemplate uncertainty; accordingly, certainty that the proposed alterative water supplies could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted by mining activities is not required. Ord. on SJ at 21 ("The best that can be hoped for with respect to a future hydrologic impact is to know, from the science – the available data combined with the best predictions by the best predictors – what is reasonably likely or potentially probable.").

20.21. Montana Administrative Rules require that an application for an underground coal mining permit take into account replacement water.

Specifically, the application must include, "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could be developed to replace water

supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be suitable for the approved postmining land uses" ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii).

21.22. Signal Peak was required to affirmatively demonstrate that there were alternative water supplies not to be disturbed by mining that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by AM3. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227 (1). DEQ confirmed that Signal Peak satisfied this obligation by investigation into the geologic and hydrologic properties of the deep underburden aquifer as compared to the anticipated probable replacement. FOF ¶ 65-150.

22.23. Signal Peak affirmatively demonstrated that there are water supplies that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted as contemplated by Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227 (1). FOF ¶¶ 65-1504.

24. MEIC has failed to meet its burden by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ violated the law in approving the AM3 permit amendment.

Because MEIC's sole expert witness questioned but proffered no evidence or opinion rebutting Signal Peak's and DEQ's conclusion that the deep underburden aquifer could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by AM3 and conceded that the deep underburden aquifer could be used for that purpose, MEIC has

failed to meet its burden to prove its claim by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ violated the law in approving the AM3 permit amendment by failing to require provision for adequate replacement water. FOF ¶ 122-125, 139, 143-144.

23.25. Because MEIC failed to present credible evidence challenging the sufficiency of Signal Peak's reclamation plans, MEIC has failed to meet its burden to prove its claim by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ violated the law in approving the AM3 permit amendment by failing to require adequate reclamation plans. FOF ¶ 70, 72, 73, 83-96, 120.

24.26. Alternatively, if it were DEQ and Signal Peak's burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ did not violate the law in approving the AM3 permit amendment, they have met that burden. FOF ¶¶ 65-1510.

#### **ORDER**

- Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
   MEIC failed to meet their burden of proof to show that DEQ's action in approving the AM3 permit amendment violated the law.
- 2. Alternatively, Signal Peak has affirmatively demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's approval of the AM3 permit did not violate the law.

Therefore, IT IS ORDERED

- a. That Signal Peak and DEQ's Motion for Directed Verdict is DENIED as to standing of MEIC's appeal and GRANTED as to the legal and physical availability of the deep underburden aquifer;
- b. That, alternatively, if the burden of proof were deemed to be that of DEQ and/or Signal Peak, such burden has been satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence;
- c. That judgment is entered in favor of DEQ and Signal Peak, MEIC's appeal is DISMISSED, and DEQ's approval of the AM3 Permit is AFFIRMED.
- d. That the Board hereby provides notice to the Parties that they may be entitled to judicial review of this Order, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-702 and that pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-702, proceedings for review must be instituted by filing a petition in District Court within 30 days after service of this final agency decision of the Board.

DATED this _	day of	, 2022.
--------------	--------	---------

/s/ Steven Ruffatto

STEVEN RUFFATTO Board Chair Board of Environmental Review

# BEFORE THE BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

IN THE MATTER OF: APPEAL AMENDMENT APPLICATION AM3, SIGNAL PEAK ENERGY LLC'S BULL MOUNTAINS MINE NO. 1, PERMIT NO. C1993017 **CASE NO. BER 2016-07 SM** 

DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER

# **CONTENTS**

INTRODUCTION	3
PROCEDURAL HISTORY	3
LEGAL STANDARD	7
FINDINGS OF FACT	
I. BACKGROUND AND PROCESS	9
a. Prior Permitting and Appeal	11
b. Current Appeal history	18
II. CONTESTED CASE PROCEEDING	20
a. Standing	20
b. Deep Underburden Aquifer Water Quantity And Quality	21
c. Legal and Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer	35
DISCUSSION	
I. LEGAL FRAMEWORK and BURDEN of PROOF	36
a. Standing	37
b. Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer	40
i. Quality of water	41
ii. Quantity of Water	43
II. LEGAL AVAILABILITY OF THE DEEP UNDERBURDEN AQUIFER	45
III. THE PARTIES' EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEARING EXAMINER'S PROPO	OSED
FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW	47
a. MEIC's Exceptions	47
b. DEQ's Exceptions	57
c. Signal Peak's Exceptions	59
CONCLUSIONS OF LAW	61
ORDER	67

#### **INTRODUCTION**

This case has three parties: (1) the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ" or "the Department"); (2) the Petitioner, Montana Environmental Information Center ("MEIC" or "Petitioner"); and (3) the Respondent-Intervenors Signal Peak Energy, LLC ("Signal Peak" or "SPE").

This case concerns MEIC's appeal of DEQ's decision to approve a new amendment ("AM3") under SPE's Bull Mountains Mine No. 1 permit C1993017 ("the permit").

#### PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On October 5, 2012, Signal Peak sought approval for amendment to its mining and reclamation plan from the DEQ. Signal Peak sought to increase the amount of coal to its permitted area for its Bull Mountains No. 1 Mine. On September 13, 2013, DEQ notified SPE that the application was technically acceptable and on October 18, 2013, issued its approval of the permit and required a reclamation bond of \$11,194,411. Ord. on SJ at 3 (Nov. 13, 2019).

On November 18, 2013, MEIC, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206(1) and (2), as well as, Mont. Admin. R. 17.24.425(1), filed a notice of appeal and request for hearing before the Montana Board of Environmental Review ("BER" or "Board"). The Board appointed a hearing examiner for procedural purposes but retained substantive jurisdiction of the matter. In April and May of 2014, the

parties filed cross-motions for summary judgment and agreed that the matter could be decided on motions. The Board heard oral argument on the motions on July 31, 2015.

The Board ultimately granted summary judgment to MEIC on January 14, 2016. The Board remanded the matter to DEQ for proceedings consistent with the Consent Decree and Order ("Consent Decree") filed on January 11, 2016. The Consent Decree expressly stated the Department's determination on the revised application "will be subject to a new challenge and review" under Montana Strip and Underground Mine Reclamation Act and Montana Administrative Procedure Act. Ord. on SJ at 3-4.

On remand, DEQ considered additional information, assessed the probable cumulative impacts of all anticipated coal mining on the hydrologic balance of the cumulative impact area, updated Appendix 314-5 to the Probable Hydrologic Consequences ("2016 PHC"), determined the application to be acceptable, notified the public regarding its acceptability determination, and received and responded to public comments, including comments from MEIC.

Based on its new written findings and public comment on the new permit, the Department issued its AM3 Permit written findings, Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment ("CHIA"), responses to public comments, and a revised reclamation bond calculation of \$11,194,411 on July 12, 2016. Prior to this date,

no mining had occurred within the permit amendment area, and thus, at that time there were no existing impacts from subsidence. Ord. on SJ at 4.

On August 11, 2016, MEIC timely appealed the new permit to the Board pursuant to the Consent Decree (a "new challenge and review"). In its Notice of Appeal ("NOA"), MEIC stated that DEQ violated the law in approving the application in the following ways:

- 1. Signal Peak's application and the Department's CHIA "do not affirmatively demonstrate that there is sufficient high quality water [sic] available to replace spring and stream reaches that may be dewatered due to subsidence-related impacts." (NOA ¶ 5)
- 2. Signal Peak's reclamation plan does not provide "specific hydrologic reclamation plans for spring and stream reaches until specific water resources are impacted by longwall mining activities." (NOA ¶ 6)
- 3. The bonding amount determined by the Department is improper because it "omits funding for multiple measures that the reclamation plan . . . identifies." (NOA  $\P$  7)

On February 1, 2019, MEIC filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, and DEQ and SPE each filed Motions for Partial Summary Judgment. The Motions were all fully briefed in April 2019. Former hearing examiner Sarah Clerget scheduled the motions for oral argument in June 2019; it was later cancelled after a motion by MEIC pointing out that the jurisdiction originally conferred to the hearing examiner was for procedural purposes only. The matter was then brought before the BER as an action item at its May 2019 meeting. At its May meeting, the Board voted unanimously to "refer to our counsel, acting as hearing examiner, the pending summary judgment motions in the matter of Signal Peak Energy, Bull

Mountains Coal Mine No. 1, for the preparation of a proposed decision in accordance with MAPA, which then would be brought back to the Board for further proceedings." Bd. Mtg. Tr. 37:21-38:3; 56:9-19 (May 31, 2019). Oral Argument was then reset and Hearing Examiner Clerget issued an Order on the parties pending motions in November 2019.

In her Order, Hearing Examiner Clerget dismissed Petitioner's reclamation bonding claims on summary judgment. Ord. on SJ at 15-17, ¶ 2, 29-30, ¶ 1-4.

Following that decision, the parties again sought clarification on Ms. Clerget's jurisdiction. The matter was then brought before the BER as an action item at its December 2019 meeting, wherein the Board clarified that it intended to transfer its authority to the hearing examiner. The parties then proceeded with pretrial filings and on August 18, 2020, through August 21, 2020, former Hearing Examiner Clerget conducted a four-day virtual evidentiary hearing on the "central issue" of the physical and legal availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer ("DUA")¹ to serve as a source of replacement water for beneficial uses in the vicinity of the Mine (i.e., seasonal livestock watering and domestic uses) lost or diminished by AM3. Tr. 4:5-9, 960:8-22; Ord. on SJ at 17, ¶ 3.

During the hearing, former Hearing Examiner Clerget reserved ruling on the Motions for Judgment on Partial Findings. Tr. 396:23 through 403:18.

DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND OF

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The Board acknowledges that DUA and Deep Underburden ("DUB") are not technically equivalent terms, as the DUB refers to a geologic unit, and the DUA refers to the hydrologic function of that geologic unit.

The parties filed their Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on December 18, 2020. On January 21, 2021, Hearing Examiner Andrew Cziok took responsibility for this matter as a hearing officer of this contested case. On March 31, 2021, Caitlin Buzzas assumed responsibility as the presiding Hearing Examiner. Hearing Examiner Buzzas issued Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law on July 30, 2021.

DEQ submitted its Exceptions on Points of Law to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("DEQ's Exceptions") on September 3, 2021.MEIC submitted its Exceptions to Hearing Examiner's Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("MEIC's Exceptions") on September 15, 2021.SPE submitted its Exceptions to Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law ("SPE's Exceptions") on September 15, 2021. DEQ submitted its Response to MEIC's Exceptions on October 27, 2021. MEIC submitted its Response to SPE's Exceptions on November 5, 2021.SPE submitted its Response to MEIC's Exceptions on November 5, 2021.

On April 8, 2022, the Board heard oral arguments from the parties and began deliberations regarding the parties' Exceptions. On May 23, 2022, the Board continued its deliberations, and on June 10, 2022, the Board concluded its deliberations and approved these Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order.

## **LEGAL STANDARD**

The Montana Administrative Procedure Act (MAPA), Mont. Code Ann. § 2-DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER 4-101, et. seq., and the Montana Strip and Underground Mine Reclamation Act (MSUMRA), Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-201, et. seq., govern this contested case.

The Department reviews an application for a mine permit revision as prescribed by the MSUMRA and its implementing rules to determine whether the proposed operation is lawful. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-201, et seq. A mine permit applicant must affirmatively demonstrate compliance with MSUMRA and its implementing rules. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227(1). Additionally, Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-253(3)(d), requires the operator of a mine to replace water supplies immediately and then on a more permanent basis "in like quantity, quality, and duration."

Montana Administrative Rule ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) and Mont. Code
Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(n) state that a mine permit application must include "a
description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could
be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted
in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be suitable for the approved
postmining land uses." To approve a mine permit application DEQ must 1) confirm
in writing that the proposed alternative water supplies could be developed to replace
water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted by mining activities in
"like quantity, quality, and duration" and 2) consider whether the proposed
replacement water could be obtained, legally and otherwise. Mont. Code Ann. § 824-253(3)(d); Admin. R. Mont. 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii); Ord. on SJ at 20, 27.

As the party asserting the claim at issue, MEIC has the burden of presenting the evidence necessary to establish the facts essential to a determination that the Departments decision violated the law. MEIC, 2005 MT 96, ¶ 16. The "facts essential" must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. *Id.* ¶ 22. In this contested case MEIC has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law. *Id.* Ord. on SJ at 14.

## **FINDINGS OF FACT**

Having reviewed the evidence submitted, the Hearing Officer made the following factual findings, which the Board has adopted without change (except for correcting obvious typographical errors):

#### I. BACKGROUND AND PROCESS

- 1. The Bull Mountains Mine No. 1 (the "Bull Mountains Mine"), which is the only active underground coal mine in Montana, is located in Musselshell and Yellowstone counties, approximately 15 miles southeast of Roundup, Montana.

  DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-1; Ord. on SJ at 8, ¶ 2.
- 2. AM3, which is depicted in Figure 3-2 of the Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment ("CHIA") (DEQ Ex. 5 at 13-4) and in Figure 1 of the Written Findings (DEQ Ex. 4 at 2), is located at the hydrological divide between the Yellowstone River Basin and the Musselshell River Basin. DEQ Ex. 5 at 4-1; DEQ Ex. 4 at 2; Ord. on SJ at 8, ¶ 3.

- 3. The Bull Mountains Mine No. 1 was first permitted in 1993 to a company called Meridian Minerals. Ord. on SJ at 8.
- 4. DEQ then transferred the permit from Meridian Minerals to numerous entities after 1993. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2.
- 5. In 2008 Signal Peak sought to obtain Meridian Minerals' permit, and DEQ approved transfer of Meridian Minerals' permit to SPE. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2.
- 6. SPE operates the Bull Mountains Mine under Surface Mine Permit C1993017 (the "Permit"), first issued by DEQ in 1993. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2; Ord. on SJ at 3 and 8, ¶ 1.
- 7. The Mine targets the Mammoth coal seam, an approximately 8-foot to 12-foot-thick coal seam underlying the Mine. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.4, Figure 4-4, Figure 9-8; Tr. 468:14-25, 469:1-24.
- 8. Strata above the Mammoth coal seam is referred to as the overburden, while strata below the Mammoth coal seam is referred to as the underburden. Tr. 469:22-25, 470:1-2.
- 9. The underground Bull Mountains Mine is located within lithologies depicted in Figure 4-4 of the AM3 CHIA, which is a stratigraphic column showing the "type of geologic material which occur beneath the surface of the earth" in the vicinity of the Bull Mountains Mine, including multiple coal layers, one of which is the Mammoth coal. DEQ Ex. 5 at 13-10; Tr. 468:14-470:20.
  - 10. The overburden and the underburden consist of layers of rock

    DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND OR

including clinker, sandstone, silty sandstone, coal, siltstone, and claystone.

Typically, these layers are thin and alternate between the various lithologies. DEQ

Ex. 5 at 4-2, 13-10, Figure 4-4; Tr. 469:3-470:17.

- 11. The Mine conducts longwall mining, an underground mining method that removes the entire Mammoth coal seam in advancing panels, allowing overburden rocks to "flex downward, fracture (creating a fractured zone) and collapse or cave into the void (forming a caved zone)," causing the overburden above the removed coal seam to subside. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-2, 9-8; Ord. on SJ at 9, ¶ 6.
- 12. Each longwall panel consists of a block of coal approximately 1,250 feet in width and 15,000 feet to 23,000 feet in length. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-8.
- 13. As approved, AM3 will expand the mine from five longwall panels to fourteen longwall panels. DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-1.
- 14. As of July 2016, five of the fourteen permitted longwall panels approximately 36% of the permitted coal reserves had been mined and the overburden subsided. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.4.2.

# a. Prior Permitting and Appeal

15. The Order on the Parties' Cross-Motions for Summary Judgment at pages 3-4, the procedural history of pre-remand matters heretofore decided by the Board which culminated in In re Signal Peak Energy, BER-2013-07 SM, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order, at 56 (Jan. 14, 2016), and the associated

January 11, 2016 Consent Decree (FOFCOL and Orders collectively referred to as "Bull Mountains Mine Part I") are incorporated by reference as if fully set forth herein.

- 16. Bull Mountains Mine Part I found a potential for material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit boundary resulting from the migration of gob water and granted summary judgment in favor of Petitioner, vacated AM3, and ordered SPE and the Department to reinitiate the application and review process.

  Bull Mountains Mine Part I at 87-88; DEQ Ex. 4 at 5; Tr. 414:16-415:19; 426:1-3; Ord. on SJ at 3.
- 17. In *Bull Mountains I*, Petitioner did not challenge AM3 based on alleged uncertainties in the legal and physical availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer. Tr. 415:4-19; 11/18/2013 Notice of Appeal; *Bull Mountains I* at 2.
- 18. On January 14, 2016, the Board finding potential for material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit boundary resulting from the long-term migration of gob water granted summary judgment in favor of Petitioner, vacated AM3, and ordered Signal Peak and the Department reinitiate the application and review process. *Bull Mountains I* at 87-88; DEQ Ex. 4 at 7; Tr. 414:16-25, 415:1-19, 426:1-3; MSJ Order at 3.
- 19. In vacating AM3, the Board noted uncertainties regarding the physical and legal availability of the DUA enunciated in Appendix 3M of Signal Peak's 2013 Groundwater Model. *Bull Mountains I* at 12-13, FOF ¶ 32; Tr. 433:21-25,

- 434:1-20, 537:5-6; MEIC Ex. 17 at Appendix 3M.
- 20. Pursuant to *Bull Mountains Mine Part I*, the Department reopened the AM3 application and reinitiated the AM3 acceptability review process. DEQ Ex. 4, at 1, 5-6; *Bull Mountains Mine Part I* at 87-88; January 11, 2016 Consent Decree at 3-4,  $\P$  1.
- 21. A timeline of the AM3 application review and approval process on remand is detailed in the Department's Written Findings. DEQ Ex. 4 at 6-8.
- 22. After remand from the Board in 2016, Signal Peak submitted (and the Department considered) additional information, including the 2016 Comprehensive Evaluation of Probable Hydrologic Consequences ("2016 PHC"), the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report, the 2016 Groundwater Model Report, and improved and refined monitoring data. DEQ Ex. 4 at 7; SPE Ex. 2; Ord. on SJ at 4; Tr. 416:11-22, 428:9-25, 429:1; 443:18-25, 444:1-18, 544:14-24.
- 23. The Department relied on multiple sources of information to support their decision to approve AM3 in 2016, including permit documents and other information compiled by DEQ. Tr. 543:2-13, 544:14-24.
- 24. Permit documents the Department relied on to make its findings related to the 2016 AM3 approval include, but are not limited to: (1) Appendix 314-5, the 2016 PHC (DEQ Ex. 9); (2) Appendix 314-6, the 2016 Groundwater Model Report (DEQ Ex. 10); (3) Appendix 314-7, the Deeper Underburden Model Report (DEQ Ex. 11); (4) Appendix 313-2, the Spring Mitigation Plan (DEQ Ex.

- 7); (5) Appendix 313-3, the Stream Reclamation Plan (DEQ Ex. 8); and (6) Permit Section 304 baseline data on hydrologic resources and geology. DEQ Ex. 4 at 7; Ord. on SJ at 3-4; Tr. 428:9-429:7; Tr. 488:20-489:10, 543:2-13.
- 25. Additional information the Department relied on to make its findings related to the 2016 AM3 approval included, without limitation: monitoring data from the Bull Mountains Mine annual hydrology reports, sources cited in the CHIA including MBMG reports and DNRC and MBMG databases, and guidance on combined appropriations from DNRC. Tr. 467:9-12, 479:1-15, 482:4-19, 492:13-493:3, 494:7-19, 496:3-6, 497:8-22, 533:10-21. 538:20-539:1, 543:2-13, 544:14-19, DEQ Ex. 5, 11-1 through 11-2; DEQ Ex. 21.
- 26. Some of these sources that the Department relied on to make its findings related to the *2016* AM3 approval contained new or additional information that was not contained within sources that the Department relied on to make its findings related to the *2013* AM3 approval. Such new or additional information is contained within the 2016 PHC (DEQ Ex. 9), the 2016 Groundwater Model Report (DEQ Ex. 10), the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report (DEQ Ex. 11), and additional monitoring data. DEQ Ex. 4 at 5; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-15; Ord. on SJ at 3-4; Tr. 416:11-22, 428:9-429:1, 443:18-444:18, 544:14-24.
- 27. The 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report and the 2016 Groundwater Model Report are "mathematical representation[s] of groundwater movement" and "useful tool[s] for evaluating various aspects of

groundwater, including water quantity and water quality issues." Tr. 410:2-13.

- 28. "[G]roundwater modeling is a mathematical representation of groundwater movement beneath the earth," and is "a useful tool for evaluating various aspects of groundwater, including water quantity and water quality issues." Tr. 410:2-13.
- 29. The Department used the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model Report "to provide an understanding of the geologic and hydrologic characteristics of the deep underburden, as well as the ability to store and transmit water . . . [and] to confirm that impacts from mining in the deep underburden were expected to be extremely minimal." Tr. 436:16-23; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-25.
- 30. Neither Signal Peak nor the Department conducted hypothetical simulations of the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model. Tr. 868:24-25, 869:1-3.
- 31. The 2016 Groundwater Model Report "simulates the overburden, Mammoth coal, and underburden, primarily focusing on impacts to groundwater levels in the Mammoth coal, lower portions of the overburden . . . and the upper portion of the underburden" resulting from mining. Tr. at 432:16- 433:12; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-15; DEQ Ex. 9 at 314-5-3, 314-5-58; DEQ Ex. 10, at 314-6-1, 314-6-28.
- 32. On May 24, 2016, the Department completed its review and determined the revised AM3 application acceptable. SPE Ex. 8; DEQ Ex. 4 at 5.
  - 33. As approved, AM3 will add 7,161 acres to the permit area, expand the DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER

underground mine plan, and add approximately 176 million tons of coal to the permitted life-of-mine reserves. DEQ Ex. 4 at 1; DEQ Ex. 5 at 3-1; Ord. on SJ at 8-9, ¶ 5.

- 34. Following the Department's acceptability determination, Petitioner filed objections to the AM3 application, in part, based on alleged uncertainties in the physical (i.e., quality and quantity) and legal availability of the Deep Underburden (DUB) and the adequacy of reclamation bonding. SPE Ex. 9 at 2-3; DEQ Ex. 1; DEQ Ex. 2; DEQ Ex. 3; Ord. on SJ at 10-12, ¶¶ 11-14.
- 35. Petitioner's Objections (DEQ Ex. 1) included the comments of Mark A. Hutson, P.G. (DEQ Ex. 2), which as pertinent herein, raised concerns that it was "uncertain" whether SPE would have the ability to apply for and receive an exempt well permit from the Montana Department of Natural Resources ("DNRC"). DEQ Ex. 2 at 2.
- 36. Additionally, Petitioner's Objections contained a letter from the Western Environmental Law Center, which discussed the uncertainty of replacement water quantity and quality based on the *2013* AM3 application materials. DEQ Ex. 3 at 11-12, 24-35; Ord. on SJ at 10, ¶ 12. This letter from the Western Environmental Law Center predated the 2016 AM3 application. DEQ Ex. 3 at 1.
- 37. The Department considered and responded to Petitioner's objections and concluded that any springs potentially impacted by subsidence and requiring

mitigation could be replaced by exempt wells because the springs' flow rates do not exceed the exempt well 35 gallon per minute pumping limit. DEQ Ex. 6 at 5-6, ¶ 8; DEQ Ex. 21; Tr. 537:19-539:1, 542:2-7.

- 38. Based on information contained in the revised AM3 application and other information compiled by the Department, the Department prepared Written Findings including a Cumulative Hydrologic Impact Assessment or "CHIA". DEQ Ex. 4; DEQ Ex. 5; Tr. 442:20-443:5.
- 39. The CHIA part of the Department's Written Findings evaluated "the cumulative impacts of existing, previous, anticipated mining on the hydrologic balance in the cumulative impact area around the mine," and "determine[d] for the purpose of the permit decision if the proposed operation is designed to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance." Tr. 442:2-19, 407:5-15; DEQ Ex. 5 at 2-10, 10-4.
- 40. The CHIA concluded that AM3 is designed to "minimize disturbance of the hydrologic balance on and off the mine plan area and to prevent material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit area." DEQ Ex. 5 at 2.1; Tr. 442:13-19.
- 41. For the reasons stated in the CHIA and Written Findings, the Department approved AM3 in July 2016. DEQ Ex. 4 at [1], 17; DEQ Ex. 6, Appendix III; DEQ Ex. 5; Tr. 417:5-418:4, 441:17-443:4.

## b. Current Appeal History

- 42. On August 11, 2016, Petitioner challenged the Department's approval of AM3 and requested a contested case hearing before the Board pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 82- 4-206(1)-(2) and ARM 17.24.425(1). SPE Ex. 9.
- 43. Petitioner's Notice of Appeal and Request for Hearing did not renew its original AM3 objections regarding the potential for material damage to the hydrologic balance outside the permit boundary (whether resulting from the migration of gob water or otherwise). *See generally* SPE Ex. 9.
- 44. The Board assigned the contested case proceeding to the Hearing Examiner, and, on September 30, 2016, the Hearing Examiner granted SPE's Motion to Intervene. Ord. on SJ at 3; January 17, 2017 Order on Motion to Intervene at 1.
- 45. Petitioner's reclamation bonding claim was dismissed for lack of evidence and failure to exhaust administrative remedies on summary judgment.

  Ord. on SJ at 15-17, 29-30 (citing *Seal v. Woodrows Pharmacy*, 1999 MT 247, ¶

  36; *Newville v. State Dept. of Family Service*, 267 Mont. 237, 257 (1994); *Durbin v. Ross*, 276 Mont. 463, 477 (1996); BER 2016-03 SM, Board Order, June 6, 2019, ¶¶ 15-17; BER 2016-03 SM, Order on Motion in Limine, March 15, 2018 at 5, 7-8).
- 46. Evidence and testimony was received on Petitioner's remaining claims following partial summary judgment: (a) that SPE's application and the

Department's CHIA "do not affirmatively demonstrate that there is sufficient high quality water available to replace spring and stream reaches that may be dewatered due to subsidence-related impacts" and (b) that SPE's reclamation plan does not provide "specific hydrologic reclamation plans for spring and stream reaches until specific water resources are impacted by longwall mining activities." SPE Ex. 9 at 1-3, ¶¶ 1-6; Tr. 416:23-417:4; Ord. on SJ at 5, 12, ¶¶ 14-15.

- 47. The Hearing Examiner conducted a four-day virtual evidentiary hearing from August 18, 2020 to August 21, 2020 on the "central issue" of the physical and legal availability of replacement water. Tr. 4:5-9, 960:8-22; Ord. on SJ at 17.
- 48. Petitioner presented testimony from three witnesses at hearing: Mr. James Jensen (standing), Mr. Mark Hutson (qualified expert in geology, hydrogeology, and fluvial sedimentology), and Mr. Martin Van Oort (fact witness for exhibit authentication and relevance of 30(b)(6) deposition transcript). Tr. 11:18-19, 33:22, 89:22, 96:2-13, 365:15-24.
- 49. The Department presented testimony from one witness at hearing: Mr. Martin Van Oort (qualified expert in geology, surface and groundwater hydrology, and groundwater modeling). Tr. at 405:16-19, 412:21-25, 413:1-4.
- 50. Signal Peak presented testimony from two witnesses at hearing: Mr. Judd Stark (qualified expert in coal mining, coal mine permitting, permit compliance, environmental monitoring, and reclamation) and Dr. Michael Nicklin (qualified

expert in surface water and groundwater hydrology and groundwater modeling). Tr. 731:10-21, 808:11-18.

- 51. After the close of Petitioner's case-in-chief, the Department and Signal Peak moved for Judgement on Partial Findings (i.e., directed verdict) on Petitioner's claims. Tr. 396:23 through 403:18.
- 52. The Hearing Examiner reserved ruling on the Motions for Judgment on Partial Findings. Tr. 396:23 through 403:18.

### II. CONTESTED CASE PROCEEDING

## a. Standing

- 53. Petitioner relies on Mr. Jensen for associational standing. Tr. 11:18-19, 33:22.
- 54. Mr. Jensen lives in Helena, Montana, approximately 300 miles from the Bull Mountains Mine. Tr. 34:1-7, 63:23-25, 64:1.
- 55. Mr. Jensen has lived in Helena, Montana since 1985. Tr. 34:1-7, 36:1-3.
- 56. Mr. Jensen was employed as Petitioner's Executive Director. Tr. 34:1-7.
- 57. As Executive Director, Mr. Jensen has authorized Petitioner's litigation against coal companies and their federal and state regulators, including this litigation against Signal Peak and the Department. Tr. 46:1-25, 47:1-10.
- 58. Mr. Jensen understands Petitioner must establish associational standing to maintain each litigation against coal companies and their federal and DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND OF

state regulators. Tr. 47:17-21.

- 59. Mr. Jensen filed a standing declaration on behalf of Petitioner in this matter on January 25, 2019. *See generally* SPE Ex. 17; Tr. 65:20-25.
- 60. Mr. Jensen has a deep connection to the Bull Mountains and has been visiting them regularly for the last 35 years "[a]t least once every two years." Tr. 34:13 to 35:9; Tr. 37:18-17.
- 61. Mr. Jensen did not dispute that there are no public lands above the Mine. Tr. 65:1-4.
- 62. Mr. Jensen has never visited the Mine's underground workings or surface facilities. Tr. 52:5-13.
- 63. Mr. Jensen does not own or lease (and has never owned or leased) real property in the vicinity of the Mine. Tr. 64:21-25.
- 64. Mr. Jensen has not appropriated (and has never appropriated) surface water or groundwater rights in the vicinity of the Mine. Tr. 65:5-11.

## b. Deep Underburden Aquifer Water Quantity and Quality

- 65. "The main hydrologic issue regarding subsidence at [the Mine] is the potential for loss or diminution of the quantity of groundwater and surface water, and impacts to wells, springs, ponds, and stream reaches as a result of subsidence-related fracturing of overburden shales and sandstones." Ord. on SJ at 9, 17-21; DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-8; Tr. 432:2-9.
  - 66. The thirty-one springs identified in Table 314-3-1 provide water used

for livestock watering. SPE Ex. 27 at Table 314-3-1; DEQ Ex. 7, at 313-2-2.

- 67. Table 314-3-1 lists 31 "springs potentially requiring mitigation following mining impacts." SPE Ex. 27 at Table 314-3-1; Tr. 509:23-510:23, 747:18- 748:19, 804:17-805:3.
- 68. The thirty-one springs identified in Table 314-3-1 "have substantial and reliable flow/discharge or consistent/reliable pond levels and may be impacted by mining." DEQ Ex. 7 at 313-2-1; SPE Ex. 27 at 314-3-1.
- 69. The Department concluded in the CHIA, thirty-three "springs . . . demonstrated regular seasonal or annual flow conditions with median flow rates greater than 0.5 gpm (Table 7-1 and Figure 6-3). Many of these springs provide a reliable source of water to support livestock . . . ." DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-4; *see* Tr. 448:1-16, 449:3-12 (discussing Table 7-1 and Figure 6-3 from the CHIA).
- 70. A network of eleven stations monitor "stream" water quantity and quality. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7.1.2.1, 7.1.3.1.
- 71. Most stream reaches are dry, except below spring issue points. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7.1.2.1.
- 72. The Spring Mitigation Plan requires Signal Peak to mitigate "all springs that have a history of beneficial use or are necessary to support postmine land uses, not just those listed in Table 314-3.1." DEQ Ex. 7 at 313-2-2.
- 73. Signal Peak reports monitoring results to the Department on a semi-annual and annual basis. Tr. 721:14-722:1, 755:19-756:21; *see e.g.* SPE Ex. 36.

- 74. No springs identified in the CHIA that may be impacted by mining have median flow rates over 35 gallons per minute. MEIC Ex. 15, Table 314-3-1; DEQ Ex. 5 at 12-16, Table 7-1; Tr. 542:2-7.
- 75. As of July 2016, 9 springs had been undermined: 17415, 17115, 17145, 17165, 17185, 17315, 17515, 17255, and 17275. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-9.
- 76. As of July 2016, 5 of the 31 springs listed in Table 314-3-1 (approximately 16%) had been undermined. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.4.2; DEQ Ex. 9 at 57, ¶ 5.1.1; at 59, ¶ 5.2.1; SPE Ex. 27 at 314-3-1, Table 314-3-1.
- 77. The CHIA evaluated the undermined springs in detail and concluded: "As described in [CHIA] Section 9.2.4.2, impacts due to subsidence include diminution of spring flows at spring 17145, and increases in SC at spring 17275. [SPE] has begun to implement remedial mitigation measures at spring 17145, and continues to monitor water quality and quantity to assess whether recently identified impacts are temporary in nature, or will require more permanent solutions." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-12; DEQ Ex. 9 at bates 187-222; Tr. 502:14-506:24, 889:1-24.
- 78. The CHIA concluded that Spring 17145 (Bull Spring) evidenced a diminution of flow potentially attributable to subsidence, and the Department required mitigation at this spring. The Department's CHIA stated "This physical evidence, in conjunction with unexpected diminution of flows from Bull Spring suggests that Bull Spring may have been impacted by undermining. In accordance

with permit obligations defined in Appendix 314-3, Spring Impact Detection and Mitigation, [SPE] initiated interim mitigation procedures to address the potential flow depletions. Continued monitoring of Bull Spring, and execution of the Interim Mitigation Plan proposed by [SPE] will inform whether permanent mitigation procedures will be necessary." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-10; DEQ Ex. 9 at 314- 5-40 and 314-5-58; Tr. 506:25-507:5, 651:2-12, 814:9-816:21.

- 79. As of the time of the AM3 approval in 2016, the Department had not required temporary or permanent mitigation at springs 17275, 17415, 17165, or 17185. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-10; Tr. 506:25-507:5.
- 80. Temporary mitigation measures proposed for Spring 17145 (Bull Spring) prior to approval of AM3 included utilizing a nearby pond and hauling water. SPE Ex. 30; Tr. 164:6-18, 427:6-13, 828:13-829:5.
- 81. The temporary mitigation measures implemented for Spring 17145 (Bull Spring) did not require replacement water from the DUA. Tr. 427:14-17.
- 82. Other than the temporary mitigation measures implemented for Spring 17145 (Bull Spring), sourcing replacement water (from the DUB or otherwise) had not been required at the time of the AM3 approval in 2016. Tr. 427:14-17.
- 83. "Stream monitoring consists of the collection of water quality parameters and flow measurements at eleven established surface water monitoring stations within and outside of the permit area." DEQ Ex. 5 at 6-1.
  - 84. "In most years, streambeds are dry, except below spring issue points."

DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-3.

- 85. AM3 identifies the maximum extent of flowing stream reaches below springs that may be impacted by subsidence and may require mitigation. DEQ Ex. 8 at attached Figure 313-3-1.
- 86. Stream reach water quality shows "high variability in sampling results" and is generally higher in dissolved parameters in the summer when the ground is not frozen, and lower in dissolved solids in the winter. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-5 through 7-6; Tr. 493:11-494:6.
- 87. The Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan "describes the measures which will be taken to maintain and restore the function of streams during and after mining." DEQ Ex. 8, Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan at 313-3-1; Tr. 438:22-440:13.
- 88. These include "reestablishing stream flow, repairing fractures, and correcting changes to channel gradient to avoid excessive erosion." DEQ Ex. 8 at 313-3-8; Tr. 439:16- 440:8.
- 89. The Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan contemplated replacing flowing stream segments below springs using excess water from spring mitigation. DEQ Ex. 8 at 313-3-9; Tr. 373:14-374:3, 440:9-13, 598:13-20, 600:4-21.
- 90. The CHIA described this stream channel repair stating, "Subsidence associated with the northern end of longwall Panel 4 in March 2014 resulted in a

change in topography which would have impounded the flow of the 17-drainage. In response to this subsidence, and with concurrence of DEQ, SPE reconstructed the 17-drainage channel downstream from the end of longwall Panel 4 to restore the natural drainage connectivity and ensure passage of stream flows to maintain the hydrologic balance." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-8.

- 91. The monitoring schedule of each monitoring station is reviewed on an annual basis in consideration of observations during the prior water year and anticipated future impacts. SPE Ex. 28 at 4,  $\P$  2.2.
- 92. Inherent uncertainty exists regarding the effects of subsidence on springs and stream reaches; subsided springs and stream reaches may evidence a range of negative and positive qualitative and quantitative changes, such changes may be temporary or permanent, and such changes may or may not be attributable to mining. DEQ Ex. 7 at 6; DEQ Ex. 8 at 3.0; DEQ Ex. 9 at 74-75, ¶ 6.5.1; Tr. 181:7 through 190:24, 711:16:22, 825:22-25, 826:1-25.
- 93. Factors relevant to whether springs and stream reaches will be impacted by subsidence include (1) depth of mining from the ground surface; (2) thickness and type of strata between the springs and stream reaches and mined strata; (3) nature of subsidence; (4) percentage of watershed contributing to water resource; (5) land slope and topography; (6) local geologic anomalies associated with water resource; (7) the yield of the water resource, and (8) the proximately of the spring or stream reach to the subsidence. DEQ Ex. 9 at 74-75, ¶ 6.5.1; Tr.

511:2-25, 512:1-12.

- 94. Spring monitoring data evidences considerable natural variability in spring discharge (and the resultant downgradient stream reaches), and "[t]he exact length of each perennial and intermittent reach is directly related to the amount of precipitation the local watershed has received." DEQ Ex. 8 at 2.0.
- 95. Owing to the "inherent difficulties" and "complexities" of spring and stream reach impact assessment, it is "impracticable to meaningfully project the likelihood, or probability," that a given spring or stream reach will be impacted by subsidence and require mitigation. DEQ Ex. 9 at 74, ¶ 6.5.1.
- 96. Notwithstanding, because springs and stream reaches are not directly disturbed by longwall mining operations, anticipated impacts "are much more limited" and "much less" pronounced than other mining methods. Tr. 437:16-25, 438:1-9, 439:3-24, 500:24-25, 501:1-25, 502:1-17.
- 97. The deep underburden consists of an outcropping of rocks belonging to the Tongue River member of the Fort Union Formation. MEIC Ex. 21 at 3.2.5. These outcroppings are observed in Fattig, Halfbreed, Razor, and Pompeys Pillar Creek drainages. DEQ Ex. 11 at p.3. This suggests that these massive sandstones represent large fluvial channels that are linear and continuous throughout the Bull Mountains area. MEIC Ex. 21 at 3.2.5; DEQ Ex. 11 at p.3. These sandstone formations are likely many miles wide and reflect a high sinuosity or continuous meandering of the paleostream. MEIC Ex. 21 at 3.2.5.

- 98. The DUA aquifer is a "confined" (i.e., pressurized) aquifer in the "massive" and "relatively deep sandstones" of the deep underburden approximately 355-405 feet below the surface of the Mine. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-24; DEQ Ex. 11 at 1-4.
- 99. The DUA extends over a broad area throughout the Bull Mountains area, approximate dimensions are about 14 miles wide and 22 miles long trending along the axis of the Bull Mountains syncline. DEQ Ex. 9 at 52, ¶ 3.6.2.2.
- 100. In 2009, Signal Peak installed the Office Supply Well ("OSW"), a public water supply well completed in the DUB. SPE Ex. 24 at 1.
- 101. The OSW, a public water supply well completed in the DUB with an average pumping rate of 6 gallons per minute, was permitted by the State of Montana in 2009. DEQ Ex. 9 at 51-52, ¶ 3.6.2.1; SPE Ex. 24 at 1, ¶ 1.0, at 1-5, ¶ 2.0.
- 102. On June 5, 2009, Signal Peak conducted a 24-hour OSW pump test ("OSW Pump Test") to assess the hydraulic conductivity, transmissivity, and storativity of the DUB. SPE Ex. 24 at 2-3; Tr. 852:17-853:17.
- 103. Signal Peak reported the results of the OSW Pump Test (including lithologic logs, pump and recovery test results, water quality results, and monitoring well logs) in the Office Well Completion and Pump Test Report. SPE Ex. 24 at 1.
  - 104. The OSW Pump Test Report projected a 3-foot drawdown in the

nearest private well (approximately 4,200 feet from the OSW) if the OSW was continuously pumped at a rate of six gallons per minute for twenty years. SPE Ex. 24 at 3.

- 105. Signal Peak installed DUB monitoring wells BMP-121, BMP-128, and BMP-129. SPE Ex. 24 at 1, ¶ 1.0; at 5-6, ¶ 3.0; Tr. 845:9-25, 846:1-20.
- 106. Since conducting the OSW Pump Test in July 2009, DUB monitoring well "BMP-121 has shown no water level effects from mining or pumping at the OSW." DEQ Ex. 5 at 9-25, Figure 9-40 at 13-69; DEQ Ex. 9 at 314-5-41; SPE Ex. 36 at 13; Tr. 237:3-240:14.
- 107. Since conducting the OSW Pump Test in July 2009, the OSW pump rate has averaged four gallons per minute. Tr. 913:2-6.
- 108. DUB monitoring wells BMP-128 and BMP-129 installed in 2014 exhibited "excellent capacity" and stability. SPE Ex. 36 at 10-15, ¶ 3.5.3; Tr. 909:13-19.
- 109. Neither SPE nor the Department conducted hypothetical simulations of drawdown from replacement wells using the 2015 Deep Underburden Groundwater Model prior to the 2016 approval of AM3. Tr. 565:18-21, 566:5-23, 868:24-869:3.
- 110. Signal Peak subsequently developed the 2016 PHC, which assessed the probable hydrologic consequences of AM3. DEQ Ex. 9 at 18, ¶ 1.1, Tr. 428:9-18.

- 111. The 2016 PHC considered available information, including the OSW Pump Test Report, DUB well discharge rates, DUB well logs, and DUB domestic wells, to assess the hydraulic conductivity of the deep underburden. *See generally* DEQ Ex. 9; Tr. 909:8-19.
- 112. The 2016 PHC evaluated spring discharge rates in the vicinity of the Mine. DEQ Ex. 9 at 9, ¶ 3.4.5, Figure 16-1, Figure 16-2.
- 113. The 2016 PHC concluded that spring flow rates in the vicinity of the Mine are "highly variable over time" and "[a] majority of the springs [...] exhibited no flow from 2003 to 2015 or occasional flow, i.e. not enough to develop a meaningful hydrograph." DEQ Ex. 9 at 39, ¶ 3.4.5.
- 114. The 2016 PHC concluded that "[t]here is presently no evidence of surface water quality impacts associated with mining." DEQ Ex. 9 at 59, ¶ 5.2.1; Tr. 814:9-25, 815:1-25, 816:1-21, 866:23-25, 867:1-3.
- 115. The 2016 PHC assessed the deep underburden and DUA. DEQ Ex. 9 at 38, ¶ 3.3.4, at 51, ¶ 3.6.2, at 52, ¶ 3.6.2.2, at 78, ¶ 6.5.4.
- 116. The 2016 PHC considered and relied upon, in part, the 2009 Office Supply Well ("OSW") Pump Test Report and the underlying 24-hour OSW pump test ("OSW Pump Test") to assess the deep underburden and DUA. DEQ Ex. 9 at 38, ¶ 3.3.4, at 51, ¶ 3.6.2.1, at 58, ¶ 5.1.5.
- 117. The 2016 PHC evaluated the DUB's existing and designated groundwater uses. DEQ Ex. 9 at 93, Table 4C.

- 118. The 2016 PHC concluded that the DUB is an existing source of groundwater for purposes of private wells, public water supply wells, and livestock and wildlife watering. DEQ Ex. 9 at 93, Table 4C.
- 119. The Department considered available information, including the 2015 Deeper Underburden Groundwater Model Report, OSW Pump Test Report, MBMG Reports, drilling/well logs in the permit, and MBMG and DNRC records of wells and water rights in the DUB to assess the water bearing properties of the deep underburden. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 436:16-23; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 477:2-10, 479:11-480:21, 482:4-485:8, 489:5-491:4, 519:17-520:10, 521:5-9, 543:2-13.
- 120. Petitioner presented testimony from Mr. Hutson (qualified expert in geology, hydrogeology, and fluvial sedimentology) on the issue of DUB water quantity. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 96:2-13.
- 121. Mr. Hutson testified that the Department's conclusion that the DUB is a possible source of replacement water is flawed because the Department did not quantify the amount of water in the DUB or (2) quantify the anticipated impact on existing users if replacement water is sourced from the DUB. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 103:1-104:16.
- 122. Mr. Hutson testified that a "sandy layer" or "sandy zone" exists in the DUB, but questioned the continuity of the sands. Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 277:14-279:7, 293:1-295:11, 306:2-307:6; Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 200:13-201:24, Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at

940:9-23.

- 123. Mr. Hutson did not quantify or otherwise calculate the anticipated replacement water need resulting from AM3. Tr. 139:22-140:2, 207:5-8, 270:22-24.
- 124. Mr. Hutson based his opinion of the nature of continuity of the deeper underburden sands on general knowledge of the fluvial systems and the Fort Union Formation, and on literature review. Hrg. Tr. Day 2, 276:2-25, 277:1-6, 279:11-20.
- 125. Mr. Hutson agreed that the DUB "might produce enough water for mitigation purposes," explaining "I think it could. It's a possibility." Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 278:23-279:10.
- 126. Water quality impacts to the DUB as a result of AM3 are not anticipated due to the hydraulic separation between the DUB and the upper underburden and Mammoth coal. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 9-25.
- 127. DUB baseline water quality is Class II and more consistent than other hydrostratigraphic units in the vicinity of the Mine. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7.2.5.
- 128. Historic and current surface and groundwater uses in the vicinity of the Mine include public water supply, private water supply, livestock, wildlife, irrigation, and industrial uses. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.0.
- 129. Groundwater wells are primarily completed in the underburden, while springs are primary sourced from the overburden. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.0, 8.5.
  - 130. The Department identified and evaluated the surface water rights

- within the AM3 surface water Cumulative Impact Area. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 8-1, Figure 8-2 at 13-24, Table 8-2 at 12-40; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 449:13-450:15.
- 131. Signal Peak owns nearly half of the surface water rights within the AM3 surface water Cumulative Impact Area. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.5, Figure 8-2.
- 132. The majority of surface water rights within the Cumulative Impact Area are for livestock use. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at Table 8-2 at 12-40; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 450:7-15.
- 133. DUB baseline arsenic concentrations (representative of natural conditions) range from non-detect to 0.0679 mg/L. DEQ Ex. 5 at 7-15, 7.2.5, 9-25, 9.2.6.5; 9.2.6.7.1, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 4 at 761:25, 762:1-17.
- 134. The maximum value of arsenic detected in the DUB (0.0679 mg/L) exceeds the CHIA's guidelines for livestock watering (0.01 mg/L). DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 7-15, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:11-18; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 764:10-21.
- 135. "Arsenic occurs naturally at concentrations which can exceed human health standards in groundwater in the Fort Union Formation." DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 9-29, 8-1; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:19-23.
- 136. Domestic wells completed in the DUA likely contain natural levels of arsenic over the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.2.
- 137. The OSW a permitted public water supply well sourced from the DUA has never exceeded the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at

9.2.6.5.

- 138. "The OSW, also completed in the deeper underburden, has shown no exceedances of the arsenic HHS and is permitted as a public water supply." DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 9-25.
- 139. Mr. Hutson did not dispute that the OSW has never exceeded the human health standard for arsenic. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 226:6-11.
- 140. DUB baseline sodium concentrations (representative of natural conditions) range from 297 mg/L to 469 mg/L. DEQ Ex. 5 at Table 7-11.
- 141. DUB baseline median sodium concentration (356 mg/L) exceeds the CHIA's recommended guidance for livestock watering (300 mg/L). DEQ Ex. 5 at Table 7-11; Tr. 548:13-25, 549:1-10.
- 142. The CHIA's recommended guidelines for livestock watering "are not enforceable standards but are used by DEQ for guidance in evaluating suitability of pre and postmine water quality for livestock use." DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 2-4, 2-7; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 548:23-549:3.
- 143. Mr. Hutson did not know whether commercially available treatment systems exist for sodium. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at 217:15-22 *compare to* Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 874:1-10 (Dr. Nicklin noting that treatment systems are available for sodium).
- 144. Mr. Hutson is not an expert in water treatment and did not present testimony on water treatment, including the viability or availability of water treatment methods such as reverse osmosis treatment systems. Hrg. Tr. Day 1, at

215:10-20.

145. The Department identified no legal barriers precluding the DUA as a source of replacement water. DEQ Ex. 6, Appendix III to Written Findings, Public Comment Response at 5-6, ¶ 8; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 542:14-17.

## c. Legal and Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer

- 146. AM3 identifies the DUB as a possible source of replacement water for springs adversely and permanently impacted by subsidence. DEQ Ex. 7, Spring Mitigation Plan at 313-2-3 through 313-2-5; MSJ Order at 9, ¶ 8.
- 147. Based on the well logs, the approximate thickness of the DUB ranges from 45 feet to 80 feet. DEQ Ex. 11, DUB Report at 2; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 844:5-9.
- 148. The DUB is "the first substantive water-bearing unit underlying the Mammoth coal" in the vicinity of the Bull Mountains. DEQ Ex. 11, DUB Report at 1, Figure 314-7-4; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 516:9-20.
- 149. The maximum flow rate of any particular DUB well (if required for permanent replacement water mitigation needs) is not anticipated to exceed 14.2 gallons per minute. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 12-16, Table 7-1; SPE Ex. 27, Spring Impact Detection and Mitigation at Table 314-3-1; MEIC Ex. 15 Table 314-3-1; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 856:8-22.
- 150. The Department concluded the likely amount of replacement water required for each potential mitigation site informs whether the DUB can legally serve as a source of replacement water. Tr. 543:14-20.

### **DISCUSSION**

### I. LEGAL FRAMEWORK and BURDEN of PROOF

The Board's role in the contested case proceeding is to receive evidence from the parties and enter findings of fact based on the preponderance of the evidence presented and conclusions of law based on those findings. Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612. The Department reviews an application for a mine permit revision as prescribed by MSUMRA and its implementing rules to determine whether the proposed operation is lawful. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-201, et seq. A mine permit applicant must affirmatively demonstrate compliance with MSMURA and its implementing rules. Mont. Code. Ann. § 82-4-227(1). A mine permit application must include "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities." Admin. R. Mont. 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii); Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(n). Additionally, the operator of a mine is required to replace water supplies immediately and then on a more permanent basis "in like quantity, quality, and duration." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-253(3)(d).

The relevant analysis and the agency action at issue is contained within the four corners of the Written Findings and CHIA. In re Signal Peak Energy (Bull Mountains Mine No. 1), BER 2013-07-SM, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (Jan. 14, 2016) at 56, ¶ 66; 80-81, ¶ 124. The Board may utilize the

agency's experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge in the evaluation of evidence. Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(7). As outlined in the Order Denying Request to Reclaim jurisdiction, the Board pursuant to its authority under MAPA, transferred jurisdiction to the hearing examiner. Therefore, the hearing examiner steps into the shoes of the Board and has jurisdiction to hear and make findings of fact and retain "broad discretion to assess and assign the relative weight and credibility of conflicting evidence presented." *Smith v. TYAD, Inc.*, 2007 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 348, \*46-47 (citing *Tefft v. State*, 271 Mont. 82, 94, 894 P.2d 317, 325-26 (1995)).

The law has established the burden of proof as follows:

"[A]s the party asserting the claim at issue, MEIC had the burden of presenting the evidence necessary to establish the facts essential to a determination that the Departments decision violated the law." MEIC, 2005 MT 96, ¶ 16. The "facts essential" must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. ¶ 22. In this contested case hearing, therefore, MEIC has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law. *Id*.

Board Ord. COL ¶ 5 (June 6, 2019). Based on the law and as established in the prior hearing examiner's Order on Summary Judgment, the burden of proof lies with MEIC to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the AM3 permit to Signal Peak violated the law.

## a. Standing

Under Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206(1) the Petitioner must have an interest that may be adversely affected by the Department's challenged decision to initiate

DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER
PAGE 39

and maintain a contested case. "An organization may assert standing either as an entity or by the associational standing of its members." *New Hope Lutheran Ministry v. faith Lutheran Church of Great Falls, Inc.* 2014 MT 69, ¶ 27, 374 Mont. 229, 23, 328 P.3d 586, 593. Petitioner asserts associational standing based on the purported standing of its member and Executive Director Mr. Jensen. Tr. 11:18-19. 33:22.

To establish standing, a plaintiff must show (1) an "injury in fact," which is concrete and particularized, as well as actual or imminent; (2) the injury is caused by the defendant's conduct, such that it can be fairly traced to the challenged action; and (3) a favorable decision will likely redress the injury. *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 112 S. Ct. 2130 (1992); *Clark Fork-Pend Oreille Coal v. DEQ*, 1997 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 804, at \*7 (Feb. 19, 1997); *Conservation Cong. V. United States Forest Serv.*, 2019 WL 4464037, at \*5 (E.D. Cal. Sept. 18, 2019). Associations have standing if (1) at least one of their members has standing; (2) the interests of the lawsuit are germane to the purpose of the organization; and (3) the members' individual participation is not required. *Park Ctny. Envtl. Council v. DEQ*, 2020 MT 303, 402 Mont. 168, 477 P.3d 288.

Montana Courts have generally allowed Plaintiffs standing where the injury is tied to an environmental impact. In *Heffernan v. Missoula City Council* the Montana Supreme Court held that neighbors' and the neighborhood associations' statements of specific personal and legal interest were sufficient to establish

standing with regard to their challenge to a new subdivision. 2011 MT 91, 360 Mont, 207, 255 P.3d 80. Among other things, the neighbors' specific interests included that the wildlife in the neighborhood was an important value and that the development of a subdivision would erode property values and create soil issues and light pollution. *Id.* Therefore, standing was shown based on the injury of these environmental factors amongst other factors.

In Clark Fork-Pend Oreille Coal v. DEQ, the Court gave standing to Plaintiffs based on their "regular use" and enjoyment of the Blackfoot River for "recreational purposes." 1997 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 804, at \*7 (Feb. 19, 1997). The Court stated that: "Plaintiffs allege they regularly use and enjoy the Blackfoot River for recreational purposes. The procedural requirements of the MMRA (Metal Mine Reclamation Act) provide protection of the uses supported by the waters of the Blackfoot River. These elements are sufficient to grant standing." *Id*.

Here, Mr. Jensen is a member of MEIC, an organization that has interests in the environmental protection of the Bull Mountains. Tr. 34:5-7 and 37:8-11. Mr. Jensen has a deep connection to the Bull Mountains. Tr. 34:13 to 35:9. He has been visiting the Bull Mountains since the 1980's and intends to continue to visit the Bull Mountains regularly. *Id.*; and Tr. 37:21 to 38:12. Mr. Jensen regularly visits portions of the Bull Mountains that are being undermined by Signal Peak. Tr. 35:24-35. Mr. Jensen testified that the mining has caused "considerable subsidence" in the Bull Mountains. Tr. at 39:20 to 40:4 and Tr. at 80:18. The

impacts of mining affect Mr. Jensen's use and enjoyment of the Bull Mountains. Mr. Jensen stated "he feels threatened" by the cracks caused by the mining. He worries about breaking an ankle and he "would never ride a horse up in that country." Tr. at 39:20 to 40:2. If the Board were to halt mining in the Bull Mountains, Mr. Jensen's concerns would be relieved at least in part. Tr. at 40:19 to 41:12.

MEIC has shown that Mr. Jensen has standing because, as he testified, his use and enjoyment of the Bull Mountains has been negatively impacted by the Mine. Mr. Jensen's "regular use" and enjoyment of the Bull Mountains for "recreational purposes" is sufficient to establish standing. Additionally, MEIC has standing because Mr. Jensen is a member of MEIC and protecting the Bull Mountains is germane to MEIC's goals of environmental protection.

## b. Physical Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer

The central issue in this matter is the availability of replacement water in terms of its quality, quantity, and legal availability. Montana Administrative Rules requires that an application for an underground coal mining permit take into account replacement water. Specifically, the application must include, "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be suitable for the approved postmining land uses" ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii).

Therefore, during the permitting process, Signal Peak was required to affirmatively demonstrate that there were alternative water supplies not to be disturbed by mining that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by AM3. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227(1). Another way to state this is that MEIC was required to show, by a preponderance of the evidence, that DEQ violated the rules by identifying a replacement water source that could <u>not</u> be used to replace springs and stream reaches that may be dewatered by AM3. Ord. on SJ 1-15, 29; ARM 11.24.304(1)(f)(iii).

## i. Quality of Water

MEIC argues that the arsenic and sodium levels in the deep underburden aquifer make the quality of the water a reason why it could preclude its use as replacement water. Ord. on SJ at 28. MEIC further claims that Signal Peak and the Department's failure to provide for the treatment of this water as part of a reclamation plan render the plan violative of MSUMRA requirements. *Id*.

Water quality impacts to the DUB as a result of AM3 are not anticipated due to the hydraulic separation between the DUB and the upper underburden and Mammoth coal. DEQ Ex. 5, at 7-15 and 9-25, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:11-18; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 764:10-21; Hrg. Tr. 548:13-25, 549:1-10. Historic and current surface and groundwater uses in the vicinity of the Mine include public water supply, private water supply, livestock, wildlife, irrigation,

and industrial uses. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.0. While the Department stated that water quality impacts were not anticipated, arsenic and sodium is present in the DUB. For livestock, both the maximum value of arsenic and the median baseline of sodium concentrate detected in the DUB exceed the CHIA's guidelines for livestock watering. DEQ Ex. 5, at 7-15 and 9-25, Table 7-11 at 12-33; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 549:11-18; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 764:10-21; Hrg. Tr. 548:13-25, 549:1-10. Regarding water for human consumption, domestic wells completed in the DUA likely contain natural levels of arsenic over the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at 8.2. However, the OSW – a permitted public water supply well sourced from the DUA – has never exceeded the DEQ-7 HHS standard for arsenic. DEQ Ex. 5 at 9.2.6.5. While it is shown that arsenic and sodium are present, it was not shown that this precludes the water in the underburden from being used as a replacement source. Signal Peak and DEQ dispute the fact that arsenic and sodium levels in the underburden will be above the requisite levels and state that even if they are elevated, a simple commercially-available filtration system would solve the problem. Ord. on SJ at 28-29.

Mr. Hutson stated that he is not an expert in water treatment and did not present testimony on water treatment, including the viability or availability of water treatment methods such as reverse osmosis treatment systems. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 215:10-20. Mr. Hutson did not know whether commercially available treatment systems exist for sodium. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 217:15-22. Mr. Hutson also

did not dispute that the OSW has never exceeded the human heath standard for arsenic. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 226:6-111. From the facts presented in testimony and in the record, MEIC did not show by a preponderance of the evidence that the amounts of arsenic and sodium impact the quality of the water to the degree that it prevents it from being used as replacement water.

## ii. Quantity of Water

There is also uncertainty regarding the quantity of replacement water in the DUB. First, will it be needed? If so, how much will be needed? Are there barriers that would make getting the water impossible? Ord. on SJ at 22. Since these factors are uncertain the Department has answered these questions in terms of cumulative hydrologic probabilities, as MSUMRA and the rules contemplate, stating that: (1) replacement water will likely not be needed; (2) if replacement water is needed, it likely will not be more than 35 gpm or 10 acre-feet/year; and (3) there are likely no barriers that would prevent the replacement water from being used. Ord. on SJ at 22. MEIC, in turn, argues that replacement water will almost certainly be needed, and it could be needed in excess of 100 gpm. *Id*.

Mr. Hutson testified that the Department's conclusion that the DUB is a possible source of replacement water is flawed because the Department did not (1) quantify the amount of water in the DUB or (2) quantify the anticipated impact on existing users if replacement water is sourced from the DUB. Hrg. Tr. Day 1 at 103:1-104:16. Mr. Hutson agreed that the DUB "might produce enough water for

mitigation purposes," explaining "I think it could. It's a possibility." Hrg. Tr. Day 2 at 278:23-279:10.

While it would certainly be helpful to know the quantity of the water with some certainty, the law determines the permitting requirements that the Department must follow. The applicable administrative rule requires an application for an underground coal mining permit to include "a description of alternative water supplies, not to disturbed by mining that <u>could</u> be developed to replace water supplies..." ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) (emphasis added).

The Department considered available information, including the 2015 Deeper Underburden Groundwater Model Report, OSW Pump Test Report, MBMG Reports, drilling/well logs in the permit, and MBMG and DNRC records of wells and water rights in the DUB to assess the water bearing properties of the deep underburden. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA; Hrg. Tr. Day 2, at 436:16-23; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 477:2-10, 479:11-480:21, 482:4-485:8, 489:5-491:4, 519:17-520:10, 521:5-9, 543:2-13. The Department found that the maximum flow rate of any particular DUB well (if required for permanent replacement water mitigation needs) is not anticipated to exceed 14.2 gallons per minute. DEQ Ex. 5, CHIA at 12-16, Table 7-1; SPE Ex. 27, Spring Impact Detection and Mitigation at Table 314-3-1; MEIC Ex. 15 Table 314-3-1; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 856:8-22. The Department concluded that "the deep underburden is extensive" and "it has the characteristics to serve existing and viable designated use, and to also provide mitigation water that may ultimately be needed in accordance with the mitigation measures defined in the permit." DEQ Ex. 9, PHC at 315-5-62; Hrg. Tr. Day 4, at 817:2-19.

While the quantity of water in the underburden is unknown, there was no evidence presented to show this violated the law. The Department is required by the administrative rules to describe "alternative water supplies" that "could be developed to replace water supplies" ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) (emphasis added). However, no evidence was shown to conclude that the "description of alternative water supplies" required an exact or specific quantity. Nor was it shown that the quantity was such that the water could not be used at all, making it unavailable.

## II. LEGAL AVAILABILITY OF THE DEEP UNDERBURDEN AQUIFER

MEIC argues that the Department failed to affirmatively demonstrate that there is sufficient water which is legally available in the deep underburden aquifer to replace impacted water resources above the mine. DEQ Prop. FOFCOL at 61. DEQ's analysis of legal availability of replacement water is based on guidance from the DNRC that Signal Peak could use exempt wells to replace any impacted springs. Tr. at 541:2 to 542:2. MEIC argues that the provision in the DNRC guidance document applies to housing developments and not coal mines permitted under Mont. Code Ann. Title 82. MEIC Prop. FOFCOL at ¶ 74-81. However, it was not shown by a preponderance of the evidence that there is a legal barrier that precludes the deep underburden aquifer from use.

springs that are adversely and permanently impacted by subsidence. Ord. on SJ at 9, ¶ 8; DEQ Ex. 7, Spring Mitigation Plan at 313-2-3 through 313-2-5. Pumping water from the DUB, if necessary, will be done on a case-by-case basis and if multiple springs are impacted, they would be mitigated using multiple wells spaced widely throughout the area. This could easily supply low flow rates that springs have. Hrg. Tr. Day 3 at 536:1-13. The Department concluded the likely amount of replacement water required for each potential mitigation site informs whether the DUB can legally serve as a source of replacement water. Tr. 543:14-20. The Department has the plans, tests, and reports to mitigate the impact on surface and underground water as shown in the Spring Mitigation Plan, The Stream Function Impact and Restoration Plan, the 2016 PHC, and the OSW Pump Test and Report.

Additionally, The Department identified no legal barriers precluding the DUA as a source of replacement water. DEQ Ex. 6, Appendix III to Written Findings, Public Comment Response at 5-6, ¶ 8; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 542:14-17. In fact, the ability of the DUB to "furnish alternative water supplies for shallow wells and springs adversely affected by mining" has been recognized for many decades. MEIC Ex. 19, Thompson Report at 43; Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 484:18-485:16. Further, Mr. Hutson did not testify to any legal barriers precluding the DUB as a source of replacement water. Hrg. Tr. Day 3, at 542:8-13. Specific and actualized legal barriers were not shown by a preponderance of the evidence. Therefore, MEIC did not meet its burden of proof to show that water sources in the DUB are legally

unavailable.

# III. THE PARTIES' EXCEPTIONS TO THE HEARING EXAMINER'S PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT AND CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

## a. MEIC's Exceptions

Although not specifically enumerated in its briefing, MEIC's Exceptions are addressed by the Board as follows:

## i. Deference to DEQ

MEIC argues that *Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. v. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality*, 2005 MT 96 holds that DEQ is not entitled to the deference afforded agencies upon judicial review. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 2. The Board agrees with MEIC. Compare Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-704(2) with § 2-4-612(7). Nonetheless, the Board "may utilize" DEQ's "experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge.... in the evaluation of evidence." Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(7). The Board, and the proposed FOFCOL, appropriately utilize DEQ's "experience, technical competence, and specialized knowledge.... in the evaluation of evidence" but do not afford DEQ judicial-type deference in contested cases under its consideration.

### ii. Failure to Address "Reclamation"

MEIC argues that ARM 17.24.405(6)(a) (the "Reclamation Regulation") controls, not ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii) (the "Mitigation Regulation"). MEIC Exceptions, at p. 4. According to MEIC, the Reclamation Regulation imposes a more likely than not standard of proof, while the Mitigation Regulation imposes a "mere

possibility" standard of proof. Id. The Board concludes that the Mitigation Regulation controls because the central issue in this matter is the availability of replacement water in terms of its quality, quantity, and legal availability. This is the express purview of the Mitigation Regulation, as opposed to the Reclamation Regulation, which specifically pertains to efforts directed at restoring the land affected by mining activities, i.e. "work conducted on lands." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-203(44). However, as discussed in the next paragraph, it does not matter which regulation controls in this case for purposes of MEIC's argument.

## iii. "Impossible" Standard of Proof

MEIC argues that the proposed FOFCOL imposes an "impossible" standard of proof. This argument is founded on the proposition that the word "could" in the Mitigation Regulation means that the alternative water sources identified in the permit application must have only a "mere possibility" of being developed as replacement water sources. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 4-15. Whether the Reclamation Regulation or the Mitigation Regulation controls, the Board concludes that the identified alternative water sources, combined, must more likely than not be capable of being developed as alternative water sources sufficient to provide the necessary replacement water. Given the purpose of MSUMRA, it would be illogical to conclude that the Mitigation Regulation implies a "mere possibility" standard of proof. Thus, MEIC's argument fails. It must be noted, however, that because multiple alternative water sources are identified, no one water source needs to meet

the "more likely than not" standard.

In this case, the permit application identified four sources of replacement water – the mine pool, overburden aquifers, rainfall and snowmelt, and the DUA. FOF 146; MSJ Order, at 9. In this case the parties focused on the DUA. The findings of fact show that the DUA is likely capable of alone providing the necessary replacement water needs. FOFs 74, 98 – 119, 126 – 145. In addition, the other sources may be available and at least one of the other identified sources has already been used to supply replacement water. FOFs 69, 80, 129. It is clear from a reading of the Proposed FOFCOL as a whole that the Hearings Examiner applied a preponderance of the evidence standard of proof. Proposed FOFCOL, *generally*, and at pp. 8, 39, 40, 44, 45, 48, 49, 51—54. MEIC's attempt to pull language out of context to show otherwise is not persuasive.

### iv. Burden of Proof

While the exceptions in this case were being briefed, the District Court of Rosebud County reversed the Board in a case involving MSUMRA and held that DEQ and the mining permittee had the burden of proof on appeal to the Board of a permit issuance. *Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. V. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality*, No. DV-19-34 (Mont. 16th Judicial Dist. Ct., Oct. 28, 2021). That case has been appealed to the Montana Supreme Court. *See* Mont. Sup. Ct. Order of March 30, 2022 in *Mont. Envt'l. Info. Ctr. & Sierra Club v. Western Energy Co.*, DA 22-0067. At this time, the Board is bound to follow the precedent of *Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. v. Mont. Dep't* 

of Envtl. Quality, 2005 MT 96, which held that the party appealing to the Board from a DEQ decision carries the burden of proof. Id., ¶ 16. The Board is also bound to follow the MSUMRA regulation that places the burden of proof on the appealing party. ARM 17.24.425(7)<sup>2</sup>. The Board is not bound to follow the Montana 16th Judicial District Court's October 28, 2021 decision in Mont. Envtl. Info. Ctr. V. Mont. Dep't of Envtl. Quality, No. DV-19-34. See Murray v. Motl, 2015 MT 216, ¶ 16.

However, because this case was not decided on a directed verdict after MEIC's case in chief but was tried to its conclusion, based upon Findings of Fact 65—150 and Conclusions of Law 22 and 23, if the burden of proof were reversed, the result would be the same. Conclusion of Law 26 has been added, and the Order section has been drafted to reflect this conclusion.

#### **Water Quantity Analysis** V.

MEIC argues that the water quantity analysis in the proposed FOFCOL is unsupported because DEQ failed to quantify the total replacement water needs or quantity of the water in the DUA available to meet those needs. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 17-20. However, several of the Hearing Examiner's Findings of Fact indicate otherwise. See FOFs 22, 24, 119, 123, and 149. This includes but is not limited to the 2016 PHC's conclusion that "the deep underburden is extensive" and "has the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Subsection (7) states that "[t]he burden of proof at such hearing is on the party seeking to reverse the decision of the board." (Emphasis added). Subsection (7) as written cannot be correct. A party cannot seek to reverse the Board's decision, in front of the Board, prior to the Board even making a decision. Because "[t]he law never requires impossibilities," § 1-3-222, MCA, it is apparent that this subsection's reference to the "board" can be attributed to a scrivener's error and should instead reference the "department," i.e. DEQ.

DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORD

characteristics to serve existing and viable designated use, and to also provide mitigation water that may ultimately be needed in accordance with the mitigation measures defined in the permit." Id. This is in stark contrast to the fact that MEIC's own expert made no water quantity determination or calculation of the anticipated need for replacement water, and he even admitted that the DUA "might produce enough water..." *See* FOFs 123 and 125. Considering these facts, MEIC's Exception in this regard is, itself, unsupported.

## vi. Water Quality Analysis

MEIC further argues that it was erroneous to conclude that the water contained in the DUA is of sufficient quality due to the levels of sodium and arsenic present.

MEIC's Exceptions, at pp. 17-20. The Hearing Examiner addressed this concern, ultimately determining (based on FOFs 134—144) that the water in the DUA was not shown to be of insufficient quality considering the availability of effective water treatment systems. MEIC points to no facts in the record to persuade the Board otherwise.

## vii. Lack of Bonding for Water Treatment

MEIC does argue that it is improper to consider water treatment options because such treatment was not included in the required bonding. MEIC's Exceptions, at pp. 19-20. However, the Hearing Examiner already disposed of this issue on summary judgment (*see* MSJ Order, at p. 29), and MEIC provides no compelling reason for the Board to revisit the same.

### viii. Legal Availability Analysis

MEIC also challenges the Hearing Examiner's determination that it failed to demonstrate a legal barrier that would preclude the use of the DUA as unsupported. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 20-23. To the contrary, the basis of this determination is set forth in FOFs 37, and 145—150. Indeed, even if replacement water is necessary, the preponderance of evidence indicates that the quantity required from any particular well likely would not exceed 14.2 gpm. FOF 149. Exempt permits for such wells are legally available. *Clark Fork Coalition v. Tubbs*, 2016 MT 229, ¶¶ 12-13; Mont. Code Ann. § 85-2-306(3)(a)(iii). MEIC again fails to persuade the Board that insufficient basis exists for the Hearing Examiner's conclusion.

## ix. General Failure to Address Proposed Findings

MEIC also argues that the Hearing Examiner's Proposed FOFCOL erroneously failed to individually address each of MEIC's proposed findings of fact. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 23-25. However, the Hearing Examiner was under no such obligation, and requiring the Hearing Examiner or the Board to do so would impose an undue burden. See State ex re. Montana Wilderness Ass'n v. Board of Natural Resources & Conservation, 200 Mont. 11, 39-40 (1982). The Board therefore rejects this Exception.

## x. Failure to Address Design Standards Violations

MEIC asserts that the Hearing Examiner erred in failing to resolve its claims concerning DEQ and SPE's alleged violations of spring monitoring and impact

detection requirements. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 25-26. MEIC notably failed to preserve this argument for the present appeal, the same is not relevant to the subject matter at issue herein, and the Hearing Examiner likewise rejected this argument.

The Board rejects this Exception accordingly.

## xi. Failure to Address 2013 100 GPM Replacement Water Needs Estimate

MEIC next argues that the Hearing Examiner failed to address the 100 gpm replacement water estimate in the 2013 groundwater model contained in SPE's prior permit application. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 26-28. As noted in subsection v. above (Water Quantity Analysis), the Proposed FOFCOL adequately addressed the issue of the available water quantity and relied on substantial evidence in support. *See* FOFs 22, 24, 119, 123, and 149. Moreover, the specific 100 gpm figure was in fact addressed in the Hearing Examiner's discussion of this issue. *See* Proposed FOFCOL, at p. 46. The Board rejects MEIC's Exception in this regard.

## xii. Failure to Address DEQ's Admission That Water Assessment Was Mistaken

MEIC also asserts that the Hearing Examiner erred in failing to address DEQ's purported admission that its analysis in the CHIA was mistaken. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 16-17, 28-29. In particular, MEIC points to the CHIA's assessment that the DUA had sufficient water quantity for "any mitigation wells which may become necessary in the future[,]" apparently concluding that DEQ's expert witness's subsequent testimony that this in fact referred to any *probable* mitigation wells as

opposed to any *possible* mitigation wells amounted to an admitted mistake on DEQ's part. *Id*. The Board is not persuaded by this essentially semantic argument, as the applicable authorities contemplate a determination of the "*probable* hydrologic consequences" of the proposed operation. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(m) and ARM 17.24.314(3) (emphasis added). The Board rejects this Exception accordingly.

## xiii. Finding of Fact 54 Unsupported

MEIC next asserts that FOF 54 is unsupported because it refers to the "Rosebud Mine" instead to the mine at issue herein – the "Bull Mountains Mine." MEIC Exceptions, at p. 29. In light of this apparent typographical error, the parties have since stipulated that FOF 54 may be revised to reflect the correct mine, the "Bull Mountains Mine," without requiring the Board to review the entire record before doing so. The Board accepts this Exception in this regard, and FOF 54 has been revised consistent therewith.

## xiv. Findings of Fact 77-82, 92, and 95 Unsupported

MEIC also asserts that FOFs 77-82, 92, and 95 are not supported by substantial evidence and/or are procedurally improper. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 29. For the reasons addressed in response to MEIC's Exceptions ix.—xii. above, the Board rejects this Exception.

## xv. Finding of Fact 97 Unsupported – "Likely Many Miles" vs. "May Be Several Miles"

MEIC claims that FOF 97 is not supported by substantial evidence because its determination that the referenced fluvial sandstone channels in the DUB "are likely DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER

many miles wide" conflicts with the language of the cited evidence stating that those channels "may be several miles wide." MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 30-31. After reviewing the applicable references, the Board finds that FOF 97 is supported by the evidence. This Exception is therefore rejected.

## xvi. Finding of Fact 97 Unsupported – Continuity of Formation

MEIC also argues that FOF 97 is not supported by substantial evidence because its determination that the referenced sandstone formation is not "continuous" as stated. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 31-32. Again, after reviewing the applicable references, the Board finds that FOF 97 is supported by the evidence. This Exception is likewise rejected.

## xvii. Finding of Fact 99 Unsupported

MEIC next asserts that FOF 99 is not supported by substantial evidence because its finding regarding the extent of the DUA conflicts with certain expert testimony presented at the hearing. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 32. However, upon review of the relevant evidence, the Board concludes that this Exception essentially raises another semantic argument and finds that substantial evidence supports FOF 99. This Exception is therefore rejected.

## xviii. Finding of Fact 114 Unsupported

MEIC argues that FOF 114 is improper and unsupported by substantial evidence because it does not acknowledge the alleged design standard violations raised in Exception x. and because the CHIA supposedly rejected the 2016 PHC's DRAFT FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND ORDER

analysis. MEIC Exceptions, at p. p. 32-33. After review of the language quoted in FOF 114, coupled with the reasons stated in subsection x. above, it is clear that FOF 114 is accurate and supported by the evidence. The Board rejects this Exception accordingly.

### xix. Finding of Fact 123 Unsupported

MEIC claims that FOF 123 is also unsupported on the basis that the evidence shows that Mr. Hutson relied on Dr. Nicklin's calculation of replacement water needs. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 33-34. MEIC all the while acknowledges that "Mr. Hutson did not *independently* quantify replacement water needs[.]" *Id.*, at p. 33 (emphasis in original). This, along with the reasons set forth in subsections x. and xi. above, demonstrates that this Exception is without merit. The Board therefore rejects the same.

## xx. Finding of Fact 130 Unsupported

MEIC argues next that FOF 130 is unsupported by substantial evidence because, while the evidence demonstrates that DEQ identified surface water rights, the evidence does not indicate that DEQ actually evaluated those rights. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 34. The Board finds that substantial evidence supports FOF 130 and rejects this Exception accordingly.

# xxi. Finding of Fact 143 Unsupported

MEIC also claims that FOF 143 is unsupported by substantial evidence because it in part relied on Dr. Nicklin's inexpert testimony regarding the availability

of water treatment systems for sodium. MEIC Exceptions, at pp. 34-35. However, the Hearing Examiner accepted and relied on this testimony, and the Board is not convinced of any error in this regard. The Board therefore rejects this Exception.

### xxii. Finding of Fact 145 Unsupported

Lastly, MEIC argues that FOF 145 is unsupported by substantial evidence based on its claim that DEQ's legal availability analysis for replacement water was flawed. MEIC Exceptions, at p. 35. This amounts to a repeat of MEIC's argument addressed in Exception viii. discussed above. For the same reasons set forth therein, the Board rejects this Exception.

### b. DEQ's Exceptions

### i. MEIC's Exempt Well Permits Argument

DEQ's first Exception asserts that MEIC's exempt well permits argument should not have been considered by the Hearing Examiner because it was untimely raised. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 2-4. However, this issue is moot in light of the Hearing Examiner's consideration and rejection of this argument, and the Board need not address the same. The Board accordingly rejects this Exception.

# ii. DEQ's Response to MEIC's Exempt Well Argument

DEQ next argues that the Hearing Examiner erred in finding that DEQ and SPE did not specifically discuss a provision in DNRC guidance cited by MEIC in support of its legal availability argument. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 4, 9-14. DEQ goes on to request that the Board remove the last two sentences of the first paragraph of

the "Legal Availability of the Deep Underburden Aquifer" section on page 48 of the Proposed FOFCOL and that the Board adopt DEQ's Proposed Conclusion of Law No. 13. DEQ Exceptions, at p. 14. Upon review of DEQ's Response to MEIC's Proposed FOFCOL and DEQ's Proposed FOFCOL, it is apparent that DEQ did indeed address the DNRC guidance provision at issue. The Board therefore accepts DEQ's Exception to the extent it correctly states that the parties did in fact address the subject DNRC guidance provision. However, the Board is not persuaded that DEQ's requested relief is necessary and will instead omit from its Order the language stating that the other parties did not address said provision.

### iii. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22

DEQ also asserts that Conclusions of Law 21 and 22, which pertain to the burden of proof herein, should be deleted and replaced with DEQ's Proposed Conclusions of Law Nos. 3 and 4. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 4-6, 14-16. The Board has already concluded that DEQ and SPE prevail on this issue regardless of which party has the burden of proof. Moreover, these Conclusions of Law, which were proposed by the Hearing Examiner after considering the evidence, likewise support this result. The Board therefore rejects DEQ's Exception on this basis.

## iv. Opposition to MEIC's Standing

DEQ's last Exception addresses language contained in the last paragraph of page 54 of the Proposed FOFCOL suggesting that DEQ had opposed MEIC's standing in this matter. DEQ Exceptions, at pp. 16-17. Upon review of the relevant

documents, it is apparent that DEQ did not in fact challenge MEIC's standing herein, and MEIC presented no argument to the contrary. The Board accordingly accepts this Exception and will omit the subject language from its Order.

## c. Signal Peak's Exceptions

## i. Hearing Examiner Appointment

SPE's first Exception raises a procedural concern with respect to the appointment of the current Hearing Examiner, Caitlin Buzzas. SPE Exceptions, at pp. 4, 5-8. SPE essentially argues that, because the Board did not specifically appoint Ms. Buzzas as Hearing Examiner, and she instead assumed this role by simply replacing a prior Hearing Examiner from Agency Legal Services ("ALS"), the particularity requirement set forth in Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-611(1) was not clearly satisfied. *Id.* In other words, SPE is concerned that ALS, not the Board, appointed Ms. Buzzas, and that ALS did so without demonstrating compliance with Section 2-4-611(1)'s provision stating that "[a] hearing examiner must be assigned with due regard to the expertise required for the particular matter." *Id.*, at pp. 5-6. SPE thus requests the Board to include certain proposed language as a matter of caution in the event of judicial review of this matter. Id., at pp. 7-8. The Board will include the requested language in the Conclusions of Law section below as a matter of caution only.

# ii. Uncertainty Regarding Volume of Replacement Water

SPE's next Exception requests the modification of the first sentence of the last

paragraph on page 47 of the Proposed FOFCOL to clarify that the exact amount of water in the DUB is not known and cannot be known. SPE Exceptions, at pp. 8-9. Upon review of the language at issue, the Board finds no ambiguity or lack of clarity when read in full context. When read in full context, the sentence merely means that the precise amount of water in the underburden is unknown. The Board therefore rejects this Exception.

#### iii. Conclusions of Law 21 and 22

SPE also argues that Conclusions of Law 21 and 22 should be modified to distinguish a party's burden of proof as a permitting applicant as opposed to a party's burden of proof, and it suggests the inclusion of specific language. SPE Exceptions, at pp. 10-11. Having already concluded that DEQ and SPE prevail on the issue of the existence of replacement water regardless of which party has the burden of proof, the Board rejects SPE's Exception to the extent that it relates to the burden of proof. However, the Board finds that SPE's Exception is well-taken to the extent that it requests the inclusion of an additional sentence concerning DEQ's confirmation that SPE satisfied its obligation to demonstrate the existence of replacement water, and that sentence will be added to Conclusion of Law 22 below.

#### iv. Conclusion of Law 23

Lastly, SPE asserts that Conclusion of Law 23 should be replaced with two separate conclusions to avoid conflating MEIC's claim regarding SPE's replacement obligation and its separate claim regarding SPE's reclamation obligation. The Board

finds that this Exception is well-taken and should be accepted. Conclusion of Law 23 will be replaced with the two separate conclusions of law proposed by SPE as Conclusions of Law 24 and 25.

### **CONCLUSIONS OF LAW**

From the foregoing findings of fact, the Board makes the following conclusions of law:

- 1. The Department reviews an application for a mine permit revision as prescribed by the Montana Strip and Underground Mine Reclamation Act ("MSUMRA") and its implementing rules to determine whether the proposed operation is lawful. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-201, et seq.; DEQ Ex. 5 at 1.0,2.0.
- 2. DEQ may not approve the AM3 Amendment unless the applicant affirmatively demonstrate compliance with MSUMRA and its implementing rules. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-227(1).
- 3. MSUMRA and its implementing rules require a permittee replace water uses permanently contaminated, diminished, or interrupted by the Mine "in like quality, quantity, and duration." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-253(3)(d); Ord. on SJ at 19.
- 4. Accordingly, a mine permit application must include, among other things, "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be

sustainable for the approved postmining land uses." Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-222(1)(n); Admin. R. Mont. 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii); Ord. on SJ at 18-19.

- 5. The contested case provisions of the Montana Administrative Procedure Act ("MAPA") and its implementing rules govern hearings before the Board. Mont. Code Ann. §§ 82-4-206(2); 2-4-101, et seq.
- 6. The relevant analysis and the agency action at issue is that contained within the four corners of the Written Findings and CHIA. *In re Signal Peak Energy* (*Bull Mountains Mine No. 1*), BER 2013-07-SM, Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Order (Jan. 14, 2016) at 56, ¶ 66; 80-81, ¶124.
- 7. On October 9, 2020, the Board confirmed its intent to appoint Agency Legal Services ("ALS") as the Hearing Examiner for this matter. When the individual who presided over the contested case hearing left ALS, this contested case was assigned to another attorney within ALS, and then, subsequently to Hearing Examiner Buzzas, who reviewed the record and prepared the Proposed FOFCOL. Although the assignment to Hearing Examiner Buzzas occurred without Board action, the Board finds that her assignment made subject to the Board's appointment of ALS as the Hearing Examiner for this contested case, satisfied the requirements of Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-611 because the Board finds that Ms. Buzzas had the requisite experience to complete the remaining tasks for this contested case at the time of her assignment.
  - 8. In their role as the finder of fact, the Presiding Hearing Examiner

retains "broad discretion to assess and assign the relative weight and credibility of conflicting evidence presented." Smith v. TYAD, Inc., 2007 Mont. Dist. LEXIS 348, \*46-47 (citing Tefft v. State, 271 Mont. 82, 94, 894 P.2d 317, 325-26 (1995)).

- 9. Except as otherwise provided by statute, the common law and statutory rules of evidence govern a contested case proceeding. Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-612(2).
- 10. In a contested case, "as the party asserting the claim at issue, MEIC had the burden of proof in presenting the evidence necessary to establish the facts essential to a determination that the Department's decision violated the law."

  MEIC, 2005 MT 96, ¶ 16.
- 11. The "facts essential" must be proved by a preponderance of the evidence. Id. ¶ 22. MEIC thus has the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law. Id.
- 12. MEIC's standing has been challenged in this case, and thus must prove it has standing.
- 13. A person with an interest that is or may be adversely affected may request a hearing before the Board on the approval of an application to revise a mine permit. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206.
- 14. Petitioner must have an interest that may be adversely affected by the Department's challenged decision to initiate and maintain a contested case. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-206(1).

- 15. "An organization may assert standing either as an entity or by the associational standing of its members." *New Hope Lutheran Ministry v. Faith Lutheran Church of Great Falls, Inc.*, 2014 MT 69, ¶ 27, 374 Mont. 229, 236, 328 P.3d 586, 593.
- 16. Petitioner asserts associational standing based on the purported standing of its member and Executive Director Mr. Jensen. Tr. 11:18-19. 33:22.
- 17. "An association has standing to bring suit on behalf of its members, even without a showing of injury to the association itself, when: (1) at least one member would have standing to sue in his or her own right; (2) the interests the association seeks to protect are germane to its purpose; and (3) neither the claim asserted nor the relief requested requires the individual participation of each allegedly injured party in the lawsuit." *Cmty. Ass'n for N. Shore Conservation, Inc. v. Flathead Cty.*, 2019 MT 147, ¶ 20, 396 Mont. 194, 207, 445 P.3d 1195, 1203, *reh'g denied* (Aug. 20, 2019) (citing *Heffernan v. Missoula City Council*, 2011 MT 91, ¶ 28, 360 Mont. 207, 255 P.3d 80).
- 18. MEIC has met its burden in regard to the standing of Mr. Jensen. FOF ¶ 53-64.
- 19. Next, MEIC must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's decision to issue the permit violated the law by concluding that the DUB was a possible source of replacement water. Board Ord. COL ¶ 5 (June 6, 2019).
  - 20. MSURMA and its implementing rules contemplate uncertainty;

accordingly, certainty that the proposed alterative water supplies could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted by mining activities is not required. Ord. on SJ at 21 ("The best that can be hoped for with respect to a future hydrologic impact is to know, from the science – the available data combined with the best predictions by the best predictors – what is reasonably likely or potentially probable.").

- 21. Montana Administrative Rules require that an application for an underground coal mining permit take into account replacement water.

  Specifically, the application must include, "a description of alternative water supplies, not to be disturbed by mining, that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by mining activities so as not to be suitable for the approved postmining land uses" ARM 17.24.304(1)(f)(iii).
- 22. Signal Peak was required to affirmatively demonstrate that there were alternative water supplies not to be disturbed by mining that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by AM3. Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227 (1). DEQ confirmed that Signal Peak satisfied this obligation by investigation into the geologic and hydrologic properties of the deep underburden aquifer as compared to the anticipated probable replacement. FOF ¶¶ 65-150.
  - 23. Signal Peak affirmatively demonstrated that there are water supplies

that could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted as contemplated by Mont. Code Ann. § 82-4-227 (1). FOF ¶¶ 65-150.

- 24. Because MEIC's sole expert witness questioned but proffered no evidence or opinion rebutting Signal Peak's and DEQ's conclusion that the deep underburden aquifer could be developed to replace water supplies diminished or otherwise adversely impacted in quality or quantity by AM3 and conceded that the deep underburden aquifer could be used for that purpose, MEIC has failed to meet its burden to prove its claim by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ violated the law in approving the AM3 permit amendment by failing to require provision for adequate replacement water. FOF ¶ 122-125, 139, 143-144.
- 25. Because MEIC failed to present credible evidence challenging the sufficiency of Signal Peak's reclamation plans, MEIC has failed to meet its burden to prove its claim by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ violated the law in approving the AM3 permit amendment by failing to require adequate reclamation plans. FOF ¶¶ 70, 72, 73, 83-96, 120.
- 26. Alternatively, if it were DEQ and Signal Peak's burden to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ did not violate the law in approving the AM3 permit amendment, they have met that burden. FOF ¶¶ 65-150.

### **ORDER**

- Based on the foregoing Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law
   MEIC failed to meet their burden of proof to show that DEQ's action in approving
   the AM3 permit amendment violated the law.
- 2. Alternatively, Signal Peak has affirmatively demonstrated by a preponderance of the evidence that DEQ's approval of the AM3 permit did not violate the law.

Therefore, IT IS ORDERED

- a. That Signal Peak and DEQ's Motion for Directed Verdict is GRANTED as to the legal and physical availability of the deep underburden aquifer;
- b. That, alternatively, if the burden of proof were deemed to be that of DEQ and/or Signal Peak, such burden has been satisfied by a preponderance of the evidence;
- c. That judgment is entered in favor of DEQ and Signal Peak, MEIC's appeal is DISMISSED, and DEQ's approval of the AM3 Permit is AFFIRMED.
- d. That the Board hereby provides notice to the Parties that they may be entitled to judicial review of this Order, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-702 and that pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 2-4-702, proceedings for review must be instituted by filing a petition in District Court within 30 days after service of this final agency decision of the Board.

DATED this day of, 2022.	
	/s/ Steven Ruffatto
	STEVEN RUFFATTO
	Board Chair
	Board of Environmental Review



**Board of Environmental Review** 

Memo

TO: Michael Russell, Board Attorney

**Board of Environmental Review** 

FROM: Sandy Moisey Scherer, Board Secretary

P.O. Box 200901

Helena, MT 59620-0901

DATE: May 27, 2022

SUBJECT: Board of Environmental Review Case No. BER 2022-03 HR

BEFORE THE BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW

OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

IN THE MATTER OF LUKE PLOYHAR, FOR REVIEW OF DETERMINATION MADE BY THE DEPARTMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL QUALITY ON THE APPLICATION FOR EXPLORATION LICENSE #00860

Case No. BER 2022-03 HR

On May 27, 2022 the BER received the attached request for hearing.

Please serve copies of pleadings and correspondence on me and on the following DEQ representatives in this case.

Sarah Clerget Legal Counsel Department of Environmental Quality P.O. Box 200901 Helena, MT 59620-0901 Angela Colamaria
Chief Legal Counsel
Department of Environmental Quality
P.O. Box 200901
Helena, MT 59620-0901

Attachment

# JACKSON, MURDO & GRANT, P.C.

NATHAN BILYEU
ROB CAMERON
KADEN KETO
ERIN LYNDES
SEAN SLANGER
SCOTT M. SVEE

ATTORNEYS AT LAW 203 North Ewing Street Helena, MT 59601

OF COUNSEL
TERRY B. COSGROVE
DAVE DALTHORP
GREGORY G. GOULD
JOHN H. GRANT
DAVID L. JACKSON
JACQUELINE T. LENMARK
ROBERT M. MURDO

Direct Dial: 406-430-2977 Fax: (406) 443-7033 Email: kketo@jingattorneys.com

May 27, 2022

BUR'T W. WARD MURRY WARHANK

Montana Board of Environmental Review c/o Ms. Lindsay Ford
DEQ Director's Office Support Coordinator/Board Secretary 1520 East 6<sup>th</sup> Avenue
Helena, MT 59601
Sent via email only to:
Lindsay,Ford@mt.gov

Re: Exploration License #00860 - Ross Pit Highwall Trench Exploration Project

Dear Ms. Ford:

My name is Kaden Keto, and my office has the pleasure of representing Luke Ployhar ("Ployhar") with respect to his Exploration License #00860. The attached application and documentation shall serve as Ployhar's request for review of the DEQ's determination in its Final Environmental Assessment related to the Exploration License, issued February 2, 2022.

Please contact me with any question or if you have issues with the documents.

Yours very truly,

JACKSON, MURDO & GRANT, P.C.

Kaden Keto

cc: Client

Kaden Keto Rob Cameron JACKSON, MURDO & GRANT, P.C. 203 N. Ewing Street Helena, MT 59601

Telephone: (406) 442-1300

Fax: (406) 443-7033

E-mail: kketo@imgattorneys.com

Attorneys for Luke Ployhar

#### MONTANA BOARD OF ENVIRONMENTAL REVIEW

In the Matter of Luke Ployhar, for review of determination made by the Department of Environmental Quality on the application for Exploration License #00860

APPLICATION FOR REVIEW OF DETERMINATION OF REQUIREMENT OF ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT **STATEMENT** 

Luke Ployhar ("Ployhar"), by and through his attorneys Kaden Keto and Rob Cameron, pursuant to Mont. Code Ann §75-1-201(9), respectfully petitions and requests the Board of Environmental Review ("BER"), as follows:

#### **FACTS**

- Ployhar is the applicant for Exploration License #00860 ("Exploration License"), 1. the license at issue herein, and his address is 350 Little Valley Road, Bozeman, MT 59718.
- 2. Ployhar submitted his application for the Exploration License, deemed complete by the Department of Environmental Quality ("DEQ") on October 4, 2021.
- 3. Pursuant to Ployhar's application, DEQ prepared a draft Environmental Assessment, and issued the attached Final Environmental Assessment on February 2, 2022 ("EA").
- On February 3, 2022 DEQ, via Mining Bureau Chief Dan Walsh, issued 4. correspondence to Ployhar discussing the EA.
  - 5. The EA, and in condensed form, Walsh's correspondence, stated the following:

"The possible impacts to the 'human environment,' historical, archeological, social, cultural resources, and cumulative impacts require further analysis. As described above (in Section 7 and the 'cumulative impacts' section), comments on the Draft EA presented DEQ with conflicting evidence from credible and potentially expert sources. This evidence raises substantial questions regarding whether significant impacts would occur to historical, archeological, social, and cultural resources as a result of this proposed action. DEQ must therefore comply with the requirements of MEPA (specifically § 75-1-201 and ARMs 17.4.603, 607-610) and determine that, after "consider[ing] the substantive comments received in response to an EA," the "EA indicates that an EIS is necessary." ARM 17.4.610(6)(a)."

"For the reasons stated above in Section 7 and Table 3 of the EA [the DEQ's Tribal Outreach Summary], and pursuant to ARM 17.4.608(1)(d), (1)(e), and (2), an Environmental Impact Statement is required."

EA, p.31.

6. Section 7 of the EA discussed Site 224PH3197, a Traditional Cultural Property ("TCP") District, and the site's eligibility for the National Register of Historic Places ("NRHP"). Specifically, the EA stated:

"In 1994 the BLM, Bureau of Indian Affairs (BIA), the Fort Belknap Community Council, and SHPO [Montana State Historic Preservation Office] executed a memorandum of understanding (MOU) to evaluate the LRM as a TCP District (BLM 1997). The MOU signatories determined the District eligible to the NRHP under Criterion A, under a consensus Determination in 1997." EA, p.16.

As shown on the attached MOU, SHPO was not a signatory.

- 7. Site 22PH3197 consists of "the Little Rocky Mountains." MOU, p.1.
- 8. The References for Section 7 include the "Original summary site form for 24BL1341/24PH3197 and supporting documentation." DEQ failed to provide said document upon request, as shown on the attached correspondence between the undersigned and DEQ, and the boundaries of Site 22PH3197 are unknown to Ployhar.
- 9. Section 7 states "The proposed action has the potential to impact the integrity of Archaeological District Site 22PH3197, potentially adversely affecting its NRHP eligibility . . . Impacts, should they occur, could be long term and significant." EA, p.20.

- 10. Section 7 cited a 1992 article by Sherri Deaver and Kevin Kooistra titled Ethnographic Overview of the Little Rocky Mountains, Montana. The article was prepared for Pegasus Gold Corporation, the previous owner of the subject property, "to provide data needed for the completion of an Environmental Impact Statement concerning the proposed Zortman Mine Expansion Project." Deaver & Kooistra, p.1.1. The EA did not discuss the purpose of the article.
- 11. In March 1996, BLM and DEQ issued the attached Final Environmental Impact Statement for the Zortman and Landusky Mines ("1996 EIS"). The 1996 EIS was prepared in response to Zortman Mining, Inc.'s ("ZMI") application to expand the extensive operations at the Zortman Mine in the Little Rocky Mountains, which operation surrounds Ployhar's proposed action site. The 1996 EIS, citing the Deaver and Kooistra article cited in the EA, provided thorough analysis of the impacts the expansion would have on cultural resources. Said analysis is found throughout the EIS, but primarily in Section 3.12, 4.12, and 6.15.
- In 2001, a Supplemental EIS was issued ("SEIS"). Said issuance occurred *after* Site 24PH3197 was deemed eligible for NRHP per the MOU and later consensus determination. The SEIS further expanded on the 1996 EIS analysis of cultural impacts, with assistance and comment from the Fort Belknap Indian Community Council, as shown in Sections 3.10 and 4.10. In providing cultural analysis, the 1996 EIS collected public comment, including comment from Fort Belknap Indian Community members. Together, the 1996 EIS and SEIS provide a comprehensive evaluation of what impacts a mining operation at the Exploration Permit site may have on the human resources in the area.

### **ARGUMENT**

This Application is brought pursuant to Mont. Code Ann. § 75-1-201(9), which provides a project sponsor, Ployhar, may request review of the significance determination by BER, and BER

may submit an advisory recommendation to DEQ regarding the issue. Here, the EA's indication that an EIS is necessary, though without an affirmative determination of significance, constitutes a determination pursuant to ARM 17.4.608. Ployhar requests BER review the determination and recommend DEQ retract its requirement of an EIS.

I. DEQ failed to (1) determine the proposed action would cause a significant impact on the resources at issue, and (2) properly describe how the proposed action could cause significant impacts.

DEQ determined an EIS is required based on "reasons set forth in Section 7 and Table 3 of the EA." EA, p.31. Section 7 and Table 3 discuss potential significant impacts to two identifiable resources: 1) the NRHP eligibility of Site 24PH3197, a historical and archaeological resource, and 2) cultural resources discussed in comments from tribal members, cultural or religious experts, and three Tribal Historic Preservation Officers ("THPO"). EA, pp.31, 18-20. Upon review of the EA, the described potential significant impacts are insufficient to require an EIS, and DEQ failed to sufficiently describe how the proposed action would cause a significant impact on said resources.

In issuing an EA and determining the need for an EIS, ARM 17.4.607, ARM 17.4.608, and ARM 17.4.609 are implicated, which provide, in pertinent part:

ARM 17.4.607 General Requirements of the Environmental Review Process.

- (1) An EA may serve any of the following purposes:
  - (a) to determine the need to prepare an EIS through an initial evaluation and determination of the significance of impacts associated with a proposed action;

ARM 17.4.608 Determining the significance of impacts.

- (1) In order to implement 75-1-201, MCA, the agency shall determine the significance of impacts associated with a proposed action. This determination is the basis of the agency's decision concerning the need to prepare an EIS and also refers to the agency's evaluation of individual and cumulative impacts in either EAs or EISs. The agency shall consider the following criteria in determining the significance of each impact on the quality of the human environment:
  - (d) the quantity and quality of each environmental resource or value that would be affected, including the uniqueness and fragility of those resources or values;

- (e) the importance to the state and to society of each environmental resource or value that would be affected:
- (2) An impact may be adverse, beneficial, or both. If none of the adverse effects of the impact are significant, an EIS is not required. An EIS is required if an impact has a significant adverse effect, even if the agency believes that the effect on balance will be beneficial.

#### ARM 17.4.609 Preparation and Contents of Environmental Assessments.

- (2) ... whenever an action is one that might normally require an EIS, but effects that otherwise might be deemed significant are mitigated in project design or by controls imposed by the agency, the analysis, format, and content must all be more substantial. The agency shall prepare the evaluations and present the information described in (3) of this rule as applicable and in a level of detail appropriate to the following considerations:
  - (c) the degree of uncertainty that the proposed action will have a significant impact on the quality of the human environment;
- (3) To the degree required in (2) of this rule, an EA must include:
  - (d) an evaluation of the impacts, including cumulative and secondary impacts, on the physical environment. This evaluation may take the form of an environmental checklist and/or, as appropriate, a narrative containing more detailed analysis of topics and impacts that are potentially significant...

(emphasis added).

Together, ARM 17.4.607(1)(a) and ARM 17.4.608(1) provide the applicable agency (DEQ, here) shall determine the significance of impacts associated with the proposed action to determine whether an EIS is necessary. After DEQ analysis, if a significant adverse effect is determined, DEQ shall require an EIS. ARM 17.4.608(2).

The regulations do not require the preparation of an EIS if there is merely *potential* for significant impacts. However, the regulations do provide that should DEQ determine potential significant impacts exist, it shall provide a narrative containing detailed analysis of topics and impacts. ARM 17.4.609(3)(d). Doing so, the agency must consider the probability that said significant impacts will occur. ARM 17.4.609(2)(c).

a. DEQ did not determine the proposed action would have a significant adverse impact, and therefore an EIS was not automatically required.

Here, DEQ did not determine the proposed action would cause a significant impact. Instead, each statement on significance of the impacts was speculatively qualified ("The *possible* impacts to the "human environment," historical, archaeological, social, cultural resources, and cumulative impacts require further analysis." EA, p.31; "This evidence *raises substantial questions regarding whether significant impacts would occur* to historical, archaeological, social and cultural resources as a result of this proposed action." EA, p.31; Table 4: "Impacts to cultural resources, *Significance: Potentially*, more analysis needed in an EIS." EA, p.29). Accordingly, the requirement of an EIS was not triggered, and DEQ was required to provide further analysis. ARM 17.4.609.

b. The DEQ failed to provide the required detailed analysis and narrative with respect to the potential significant adverse impacts on Site 22PH3197 and cultural resources set forth in the EA as required by ARM 17.4.609.

DEQ failed to provide the required narrative explaining how said action might cause significant impacts on the NRHP eligibility of Site 24PH3197, cultural resources cited in the EA, and failed to consider the likelihood of said impacts. The EA states an EIS was required "for the reasons stated above in Section 7 and Table 3 of the EA [Tribal Outreach Summary]." EA, p.31. Accordingly, in either of those sections DEQ was required to provide narrative and analysis on exactly how the proposed action would cause the feared significant impacts on the implicated resources, and some consideration on the likelihood of it occurring.

i. DEQ's contention the proposed action had potential to impact Site 24PH3197 is unsupported, therefore DEQ failed to provide the requisite narrative and analysis.

In Section 7, DEQ contends the proposed action has potential to impact the integrity of Site 22PH3197 which would adversely affect its NRHP eligibility. EA, p.20. This contention is without basis. First, DEQ falsely claimed SHPO was a signatory to the MOU, a supporting document directly related to their NRHP claims. Compounding this false claim, as shown in DEQ's attached

letter to the undersigned, DEQ refused to provide documentation related to the site, which ostensibly supports DEQ's positions (and would give the applicant the ability to avoid obtaining an EIS for every exploration application). Second, none of the THPO letters cited above mention the NRHP eligibility, let alone claim the proposed action would have any effect. Further, the EA fails to provide any documentation or comment from SHPO regarding loss of eligibility. In fact, the only discussion of the *loss* of NRHP eligibility is limited to one paragraph on page 20, which contains only conclusory statements without support from statutes, regulations, or other sources.

Outside of its lack of source material or basis for discussion regarding the Site, the EA also lacks any discussion on *how* an NRHP site can lose eligibility, let alone how the proposed action could cause it to happen. In essence, DEQ took unsupported, speculative statements and turned them into the determination that the proposed action could cause Site 22PH3197 to lose NRHP eligibility, without support or detailed analysis as required by ARM 17.4.609(3)(d). In sum, DEQ's required "analysis and discussion" on Site 22PH3197's loss of eligibility had no supporting facts or documentation, and any conclusions and decisions reached therefrom are deficient.

In addition, even if said discussion and analysis was appropriate, no matter how unsupported and tenuous, DEQ was required to consider the likelihood the action will cause the potential significant impacts cited. ARM 17.4.609(2)(c). DEQ failed to do so, shown by the absence of discussion on the degree of certainty or uncertainty of whether the action would cause the loss of eligibility. Therefore, DEQ's significance determination regarding the proposed action's effect on NRHP eligibility is factually and statutorily deficient.

ii. DEQ's contention the proposed action had potential to impact cultural resources is unsupported and therefore DEQ failed to provide the requisite narrative and analysis.

In Section 7 and the conclusion of the EA, DEQ contends the proposed action may have a significant cultural impact. EA, p.20. This contention is based on cultural expert submissions,

THPOs, and comments submitted to DEQ in response to the Draft EA. Specifically, the EA stated three THPOs submitted letters in opposition of the proposed action, and further stated "All the comments discussing cultural resources stated or indicated that this specific project would have a significant impact on the cultural resources..." However, DEQ fails to reference specific passages supporting this statement. In contrast to DEQ's bald claim, a review of the (1) THPO letters regarding the proposed action, and (2) comments received by DEQ regarding impacts to cultural resources shows said support either fail to identify the proposed action at hand, fail to connect the proposed action to an impact on cultural resources, and fail to identify the cultural resource at risk.

This is illustrated in the THPO letters to DEQ. First, the attached January 11, 2022 letter from Kathryn McDonald, THPO for the Confederated Salish & Kootenai Tribes, fails to state the proposed action would have any effect on cultural resources at all. In contrast, the attached January 11, 2022 letter from Dyan Youpee, THPO for the Fort Peck Assiniboine & Sioux Tribes, states the proposed action would "adversely affect the cultural landscapes" due to "noise, dust, and pollution" caused by the "massive soil movement and dump trucks." In addition, the letter states the project would result in a "huge pit." These concerns are fabricated, and not connected to the proposed action. As stated clearly on page 6 of the EA, the proposed action contemplates no dump truck use, would be done by two personnel performing 10 days of work, and would result in one ten by twenty-five foot hole, to be filled in and reclaimed immediately after removal. Accordingly, Ms. Youpee's exaggerated concerns bear no relation to the proposed action at hand, and thus her comments regarding the impacts to cultural resources have no basis.

Like the letter from Ms. McDonald, the attached January 11, 2022 letter from Michael Black Wolf, THPO for the Fort Belknap Indian Community, fails to state the proposed action would have a significant impact on tribal cultural resources. Admittedly, Mr. Black Wolf states

"mountain tops/peaks are extremely important to the tribes both culturally and spiritually," but fails to state the exploration project, which is not on a peak, would significantly impact the cultural resource he is concerned about. In sum, the THPO letters fail to identify the proposed action at hand, connect the actual proposed action to any impact on cultural resources, or identify the cultural resource at risk. Accordingly, they should not be used to support DEQ's contention the proposed action would cause a significant impact to cultural resources.

The trends in the letters were mirrored in the comments regarding cultural impacts attached to the EA: mischaracterizing the proposed activity as more severe and damaging, failing to identify a cultural resource that would be affected, and failing to articulate what damage would be done to a cultural resource. Instead, the comments DEQ relies on voiced an understandable distaste for mining in general, and happened to include the word "culture" somewhere. However justified or understandable the commenters' concerns regarding mining may be, the comments did not provide any connection between the proposed action and damage to a cultural resource. As such, they should not provide a basis for the DEQ's contention the action may cause significant impacts. This, with the above, shows the DEQ's required discussion and analysis regarding cultural impacts is deficient, and cannot be used to support an EIS requirement.

II. Should BER determine DEQ made the appropriate significance determination and an EIS is required, BER should require DEQ adopt the EIS and SEIS related to the site which discussed the impacts to the human environment, specifically the cultural resources present at the project location.

If BER and DEQ determine an EIS is required to analyze the impacts of the proposed action on the human environment, namely cultural and other impacts to Site 24PH3197, ARM 17.4.615 and 17.4.625 are implicated.

Here, as shown in the EA and in ARM 17.4.615 and 17.4.625, there are two issues related to the proposed action DEQ claims may involve significant impacts that must be analyzed by the

EIS: 1) impacts to the NRHP eligibility of Site 24PH3197, a historical and archaeological resource, and 2) impacts to cultural resources. Accordingly, the scope of EIS review should be limited to those items. ARM 17.4.615. DEQ then must determine if those issues have been addressed by prior environmental review. *Id.* If a prior EIS covers an action related to the current action, exploration activities on the Zortman Mine, DEQ determines the prior EIS is accurate, and the information in said EIS is applicable to the exploration activities as they relate to impacts to historical, archaeological, and cultural resources, DEQ *shall* adopt the applicable conclusions in that EIS to the current draft EIS. 17.4.625.

As noted in ##11-12 above, two existing EISs cover the Exploration Permit Site. The 1996 EIS cites Deaver and Kooistra in their analysis of cultural impacts, which DEQ heavily cites in the EA. Accordingly, DEQ should deem the information and attendant cultural analysis accurate. Finally, the 1996 EIS and SEIS both contemplate, analyze, and discuss mining's implications on the site's historical, archaeological, social, and cultural resources. Accordingly, the information in the 1996 EIS and SEIS is applicable to the current action and DEQ's concerns related to its potential significant impacts. Therefore, should BER and DEQ determine an EIS is necessary, over the issues raised in Section I above, DEQ must adopt the 1996 EIS and SEIS into the current EIS, and Ployhar respectfully requests BER issue a recommendation reflecting that requirement.

#### **CONCLUSION**

DEQ failed to provide the required narrative explaining how said action might cause significant impacts on the NRHP eligibility of Site 24PH3197, cultural resources cited in the EA, and failed to consider the likelihood of said impacts. ARM 17.4.609. Further, any narrative and analysis in the EA was deficient and should not be used to support any significance determination, no matter how speculative and tenuous. Accordingly, Ployhar requests the BER recommend the

DEQ review its significance determination, and based on the evidence, withdraw its EIS requirement. In the alternative, should the BER determine the EIS requirement is appropriate, Ployhar requests the BER require DEQ to adopt the existing 1996 EIS and SEIS into the current EIS.

Dated this 27th day of May, 2022.

JACKSON, MURDO & GRANT, P.C.

Kaden Keto